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PART I
ITEM 1.

Business

General

Franklin Covey Co. (the Company, we, us, our or FranklinCovey) has enabled greatness in people and organizations and is a worldwide leader in helping
organizations, families, and individuals achieve their own great purposes through teaching the principles and practices of effectiveness and by providing
reinforcement tools like the FranklinCovey Planning SystemTM. Over 600 FranklinCovey associates world-wide delivered timeless and universal curriculum
and effectiveness tools to millions of customers in fiscal 2008. We strive to excel in our efforts to enable greatness because we believe that:

■

People are inherently capable, aspire to greatness, and
have the power to choose.

■

Principles are timeless and universal and are the
foundation to lasting effectiveness.

■

Leadership is a choice, built inside-out on a
foundation of character. Great leaders unleash the
collective talent and passion of people toward the right
goal.

■

Habits of effectiveness come only from the committed
use of integrated processes and tools.

■

Sustained superior performance requires a balance
of performance and performance capability (P/PC
BalanceÒ) - a focus on achieving results and building
capability.

Our business has historically been comprised of the Consumer Solutions Business Unit (CSBU) and the Organizational Solutions Business Unit
(OSBU). The CSBU was primarily focused on sales to individual customers and small business organizations and included the results of our domestic retail
stores, consumer direct operations (primarily Internet sales and call center), wholesale operations, international product channels in certain countries, and
other related distribution channels, including government product sales and domestic printing and publishing sales. Although CSBU sales primarily consisted
of products such as planners, binders, software, totes, and related accessories, virtually any component of our leadership, productivity, and strategy execution
solutions may have been purchased through the CSBU channels.
The OSBU is primarily responsible for the development, marketing, sale, and delivery of strategic execution, productivity, leadership, sales force
performance, and communication training and consulting solutions directly to organizational clients, including other companies, the government, and
educational institutions. The OSBU includes the financial results of our domestic sales force, public programs, and certain international operations. The
domestic sales force is responsible for the sale and delivery of our training and consulting services in the United States. Our international sales group
includes the financial results of our directly owned foreign offices and royalty revenues from licensees.
Over the past several years, the strategic focus of our CSBU, which was focused primarily on the sales of our products, and our OSBU, which was focused on
the development and delivery of training, consulting, and related services, has changed significantly. As a consequence of these changes in strategic direction,
we determined that the extent of overlap between our training and consulting offerings and our products has diminished. After significant analysis and
deliberation, we decided that these business units would be able to operate more effectively as separate companies, each with clear and distinct objectives,
market definitions, and competitive products and services. This conclusion persuaded us to sell substantially all of the operations of CSBU in fiscal 2008.
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we completed the sale of substantially all of the assets of our CSBU to a newly formed entity, Franklin Covey
Products, LLC (Refer to Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for further details). Franklin Covey Products, which is controlled by
Peterson Partners, purchased the CSBU assets for $32.0 million in cash, subject to adjustments for working capital on the closing date of the sale, which was
effective July 6, 2008. On the date of the sale closing, the Company invested approximately $1.8 million to purchase a 19.5 percent voting interest in
Franklin Covey Products, made a $1.0 million priority capital contribution with a 10 percent return, and will have the opportunity to earn contingent license
fees if Franklin Covey Products achieves specified performance objectives. We recognized a gain of $9.1 million on the sale of the CSBU assets and we
deferred a portion of the gain equal to our investment in Franklin Covey Products.
Following the sale of CSBU, our business primarily consists of training, consulting, assessment services, and related products to help organizations achieve
superior results by focusing on and executing on top priorities, building the capability of knowledge works, and aligning business processes.
Late in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we also initiated a restructuring plan that included the closing of two domestic sales offices, our Canadian office, and
our Sales Performance Group office. Our Canadian sales associates and Sales Performance Group personnel will be absorbed into our remaining five
Domestic sales offices. In connection with these office closures, we have also decentralized certain sales support functions. During the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2008 we expensed $2.1 million for anticipated severance costs necessary to complete the restructuring plan, which is expected to be substantially
completed in fiscal 2009.
Our fiscal year ends on August 31 of each year. Unless otherwise noted, references to fiscal years apply to the 12 months ended August 31 of the specified
year.
Our principal executive offices are located at 2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331 and our telephone number is (801) 817-1776.
Industry Information
We are engaged in the performance skills segment of the training industry. One of our competitive advantages in this highly fragmented industry stems from
our fully integrated training curricula, measurement methodologies and implementation tools to help organizations and individuals measurably improve their
effectiveness. This advantage allows us to deliver not only training to both corporations and individuals, but also to implement the training through the use of
powerful behavior changing tools with the capability to then measure the impact of the delivered training and tools.
In fiscal 2008, we provided products and services to 97 of the Fortune 100 companies and more than 75 percent of the Fortune 500 companies. We also
provide products and services to a number of U.S. and foreign governmental agencies, including the U.S. Department of Defense, as well as numerous
educational institutions. We also provide training curricula, measurement services and implementation tools internationally, either through directly operated
offices, or through independent licensed providers. At August 31, 2008, we had directly owned offices in Australia, Canada, Japan, and the United
Kingdom. We also had licensed operations in 99 countries and licensed rights in more than 140 countries.
Training and Consulting Services
We offer a range of training programs designed to measurably improve the effectiveness of organizations, families, and individuals. Our offerings are
oriented to address organizational, managerial, interpersonal, and personal needs. In addition, we believe that our learning process provides an engaging and
behavior-changing experience, which frequently generates additional business. During fiscal 2008, over one million individuals were trained through our
direct offices using the Company’s curricula in our single and multiple–day workshops and seminars.
Our training and consulting services are designed to inspire organizations, communities, and individuals to become measurably more efficient and effective
through our various leadership and
2
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productivity courses including: The 7 Habits of Highly Effective PeopleÒ; Leadership: Great Leaders—Great Teams—Great Resultsä; The 4 Disciplines of
ExecutionTM; FOCUS: Achieving Your Highest Priorities; The 8 Habits of a Successful Marriage; Building Business Acumen; Championing Diversity;
Leading at the Speed of Trust; Writing Advantage, and Presentation Advantage. The Company is also in the process of developing curriculum based on the
book The Leader in Me by Stephen R Covey, which is aimed at helping principals and teachers implement The 7 Habits of Effective People in their
schools. Curriculum and tools are also being developed to assist companies to increase customer loyalty.
Our most popular courses are based on the material presented in The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People® and includes our three-day 7 Habits of Highly
Effective People Signature Program. We offer several other variations of this course including The 7 Habits for Managers: Managing Yourself, Leading
Others, Unleashing Potential, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People, Introductory Course for Associates, and other courses targeted for families, teens, and
college students. In addition to the principles taught in the best-selling book, these courses contain various teaching aids including several award-winning
videos which demonstrate the principles being taught. During fiscal 2008 we released a web-based interactive version of this course, making the principles
and content taught in our course accessible to individuals and organizations world-wide without the expense of a facilitator, training room, and the
opportunity cost of taking individuals out of the workforce for multiple days.
Our training and consulting offerings include the following.
The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People is one of our best-known offerings and is designed to help organizations and individuals achieve sustained
superior results by focusing on making individuals and leaders more effective. Participants gain hands-on experience applying timeless principles
that yield greater productivity, improved communication, strengthened relationships, increased influence, and focus on critical priorities. This
offering is the basis for some of our other courses and includes over 30 award winning video segments.
Leadership: Great Leaders—Great Teams—Great Resultsä is built on the foundation that people are capable of greatness, that they can make
dramatic contributions and that they offer their best when they live by the four imperatives of great leaders, which are 1) that they inspire trust, 2)
that they clarify purpose, 3) that they insure systems are aligned, and 4) that they unleash talent.
The 4 Disciplines of Executionä course teaches that execution succeeds or fails on the basis of four critical disciplines, which include 1) focus on the
most important goals, 2) acting on the key measures that influence outcome, 3) track the progress on a compelling scoreboard which makes progress
visible, and 4) holding individuals accountable. Our Execution products help organizations adopt and implement an operating system for achieving
their most pressing objectives measurably and predictably.
Our productivity course FOCUS: Achieving Your Highest Priorities focuses on helping individuals understand their personal values so they can
accomplish their most important tasks, both personally and professionally. Our training is based on a productivity pyramid that helps individuals
identify their values, set achievable goals, and then build a system of weekly and daily planning, which helps individuals achieve their highest
priorities.
We offer a series of pre- and post-assessment surveys and assessments to measure and track key principles and actions taught in our course that
directly relate to individual and organizational effectiveness. These products include xQä, (Execution QuotientÔ), LQÔ (Leadership Quotient), tQÔ
(Trust Quotient), and the 7 Habits Profile. These surveys, which are administered through a Web-based system, search for details to uncover
underlying focus and teamwork barriers or issues.
We also provide The 7 Habits of Highly Effective Teensä as a workshop or as a year-long curriculum to schools and school districts and other
organizations working with youth. Based on The 7 Habits of Highly Effective Teens book, it helps to teach students and teachers studying skills,
learning habits, and interpersonal development. We are currently developing a new curriculum entitled The Leader in Meä, which will help
elementary
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schools incorporate The 7 Habits principles into their lessons to help students develop the life skills they need to be successful.
In addition to providing consultants and presenters, we train and certify client facilitators to teach our workshops within their organizations. We believe
client–facilitated training is important to our fundamental strategy of creating pervasive on-going client relationships, which results in perpetual revenue
streams. After having been certified by attending one of our certification workshops and completing certain requirements, client facilitators can purchase
manuals, profiles, planners and other products to conduct training workshops within their organization without incurring the costs of one of our presenters,
which makes it more cost-effective to distribute our curriculum within all departments of their organization. Since 1988, we have trained approximately
25,000 client facilitators.
Software
During fiscal 2008, we launched a new web-based interactive version of The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People® course which was developed through a
partnership with Personnel Decisions International (formerly 9th House), a leading firm which uses technology to create engaging learning
experiences. During the three-hour online instruction, participants engage in interactive exercises that illustrate how to use The 7 Habits® in real work
situations. Participants then get to test their new skills in a state-of-the-art virtual simulation that shows the real-world triumphs and challenges associated
with the choices they have made. Participants can also join a live one-day application workshop to dive deeper in the content and practice what they have
learned.
The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People® course is also available on a CD-ROM version. This edition delivers the content from the 3-day classroom
workshop in a flexible self-paced version via the Internet or CD-ROM and is available when and where employees need it. The online edition is presented in
a multi-media format with video segments, voiceovers, a learning journal, interactive exercises, and other techniques. Included with the course is a 360Degree profile and e-Coaching to help participants gain a broader perspective of their strengths and weaknesses and to help them implement the training to
improve their skills.
Books and Audio
The principles we teach in our curriculum have also been published in book, audiotape and CD formats, and can be downloaded from various Internet
sites. Books to which the Company holds copyrights include The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People®, Principle–Centered Leadership, First Things First,
The 7 Habits of Highly Effective Families, Nature of Leadership, Living the 7 Habits, The 8th Habit: From Effectiveness to Greatness, Everyday Greatness,
The Leader in Me, all by Stephen R. Covey; The 10 Natural Laws of Time and Life Management, What Matters Most and The Modern Gladiator by Hyrum
W. Smith; The Power Principle by Blaine Lee; The 7 Habits of Highly Effective Teens, The 6 Most Important Decisions You’ll Ever Make, and The 7 Habits
of Happy Kids by Sean Covey; and Business Think by Dave Marcum and Steve Smith. These books, as well as audiotape and CD audio versions of many of
these products, and the products mentioned above are sold through general retail channels, audio book websites, as well as through our own Internet site at
www.franklincovey.com.
Segment Information
Prior to the sale of CSBU in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, our business was organized in two segments: (1) the CSBU, which was designed to sell
products to individual consumers and small businesses; and (2) the OSBU, which is designed to serve organizational clients. The following table sets forth,
for the fiscal periods indicated, the Company’s sales from external customers for each of these operating segments (in thousands):
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YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Organizational Solutions
Business Unit:
Domestic
International

2008

$

Consumer Solutions Business
Unit:
Retail stores
Consumer direct
Wholesale
CSBU International
Other CSBU
Total net sales

$

Percent
change
from prior
year

2007

Percent
change
from
prior year

2006

91,287
59,100
150,387

(2) $
2
-

93,308
57,674
150,982

10 $
18
13

84,904
48,984
133,888

42,167
38,662
16,970
7,295
4,611
109,705
260,092

(22)
(19)
(6)
(1)
(16)
(18)
(8) $

54,316
48,018
17,991
7,342
5,476
133,143
284,125

(13)
(8)
1
(5)
12
(8)
2 $

62,156
52,171
17,782
7,716
4,910
144,735
278,623

Additional financial information related to our operating segments, as well as geographical information can be found in the notes to our consolidated financial
statements (Note 19).
Organizational Solutions Business Unit
The following is a more detailed description of our OSBU and its primary operations, which consist of domestic and international operations.
Domestic Operations
In general, we sell effectiveness and productivity solutions to our customers through our own direct sales force. We then deliver training services to
organizations, schools and individuals in one of five ways:
1.

Our consultants provide on-site coaching, consulting or training classes. In these situations, our
consultants tailor the curriculum to our client’s specific business and objectives.

2.

Our programs are also designed to be facilitated by licensed professional trainers and managers in
client organizations, reducing dependence on our professional presenters, and creating knowledgeable
advocates of our curriculum in organizations.

3.

Our consultants provide training to individuals or small groups of individuals through executive
coaching sessions. In these sessions, our consultants are able to deliver course content in greater detail
and can help adapt our course principles to the specific needs of the organization.

4.

We conduct public seminars in more than 100 cities throughout the United States, where organizations
can send their employees in smaller numbers. These public seminars are also marketed directly to
individuals through our Internet web-site and by direct mail.

5.

We also offer The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People® training course in online and CD-ROM
formats. These products provide the flexibility required by many organizations.

Our domestic training operations are organized in geographic regional sales teams in order to assure that both the consultant and the client sales professional
participate in the development of new business and the assessment of client needs. Consultants are entrusted with the actual delivery of content, seminars,
processes and other solutions and are required to follow up with client service teams to develop lasting client impact and ongoing business opportunities.
We employ over 150 sales professionals and business developers. Our sales professionals have selling experience prior to employment by the Company and
are trained and evaluated in their respective sales territories. Sales professionals typically call upon persons responsible for corporate employee training, such
as corporate training directors or human resource officers. Increasingly, sales professionals are calling upon our clients’ executive leadership or line leaders
as they educate our clients on the value of our solutions. Our sales professionals work closely with training consultants in their territories to schedule and
tailor seminars and workshops to meet the specific objectives of our institutional clients. We currently employ over 150 training consultants
5
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worldwide. Our training consultants are selected from a large number of experienced applicants. These consultants generally have several years of training
and/or consulting experience and are known for their excellent presentation skills. Once selected, the training consultant goes through a rigorous training
program including multiple live presentations. The training program ultimately results in the Company's certification of the consultant.
International Operations
We deliver training services and products internationally through Company-owned and licensed operations. We have wholly-owned operations and offices in
Australia, Canada, Japan, and the United Kingdom. We also have licensed operations in Argentina, Angola, Austria, Bahrain, Bangladesh, Belgium,
Bermuda, Bolivia, Botswana, Brazil, Bulgaria, Chile, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Croatia, Czech Republic, Cyprus, Denmark, Dominican Republic,
Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Hong Kong, Hungary, India, Iceland, Indonesia, Israel, Italy, Jordon,
Kenya, Kuwait, Latvia, Lebanon, Lesotho, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Mozambique, Namibia, Nepal, Netherlands,
Nicaragua, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Puerto Rico, Romania, Russia, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Serbia,
Singapore, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Sri Lanka, Swaziland, Sweden, Switzerland, Tanzania, Taiwan, Thailand,
Trinidad/Tobago, Turkey, UAE, Ukraine, Uruguay, Venezuela, Vietnam, and Zambia. There are also licensee retail operations in Hong Kong and South
Korea. Our nine most popular books, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People, Principle–Centered Leadership, The 10 Natural Laws of Time and Life
Management, First Things First, The Power Principle, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective Families, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective Teen, The 8th Habit: From
Effectiveness to Greatness, and The Six Most Important Decisions You’ll Ever Makes are currently published in multiple languages. Financial information
about our foreign operations is contained in Note 19 to our consolidated financial statements.
Clients
We have a relatively broad base of organizational and individual clients. We have more than 6,000 organizational clients consisting of corporations,
governmental agencies, educational institutions, and other organizations. We believe that our products, workshops, and seminars encourage strong client
loyalty. Employees in each of our domestic and international distribution channels focus on providing timely and courteous responses to client requests and
inquiries. Due to the nature of our business, the Company does not have, nor has it had, a significant backlog of firm orders.
Competition
Competition in the performance skills organizational training and education industry is highly fragmented with few large competitors. We estimate that the
industry represents more than $7 billion in annual revenues and that the largest traditional organizational training firms have sales in the $100 million to $400
million range. Based upon our fiscal 2008 OSBU sales of $150.4 million, we believe we are a leading competitor in the organizational training and education
market. Other significant competitors in the training market are Development Dimensions International, Institute for International Research (IIR),
Organizational Dynamics Inc., American Management Association, Wilson Learning, Forum Corporation, EPS Solutions and the Center for Creative
Leadership.
Given the relative ease of entry in our training market, the number of competitors could increase, many of whom may imitate existing methods of distribution,
or could offer similar products and seminars at lower prices. Some of these companies may have greater financial and other resources than us. We believe
that our products compete primarily on the basis of quality, proven results, content, client loyalty, price, and client service. We also believe our curriculum
based upon best-selling books, which encompasses relevant high-quality video segments, has become a competitive advantage. This advantage is
strengthened and enhanced by our ability to easily train individuals within organizations to become client facilitators who in turn can effectively relay our
curriculum throughout their organization. Moreover, we believe that we are a market leader in the United
6
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States in productivity, leadership and execution products and services. Increased competition from existing and future competitors could, however, have a
material adverse effect on our sales and profitability.
Manufacturing and Distribution
Following the sale of CSBU in fiscal 2008, we no longer manufacture a significant portion of our products. We purchase our training materials and related
products from various vendors and suppliers located both domestically and internationally and we are not dependent upon any one vendor for the production
of our training and related materials as the raw materials for these products are readily available. We currently believe that we have good relationships with
our suppliers and contractors.
During fiscal 2001, we entered into a long-term contract with Electronic Data Systems (EDS) to provide warehousing and distribution services for our
training products and related accessories. EDS maintains a facility at the Company’s headquarters as well as at other locations throughout North America.
Research and Development
FranklinCovey believes that the development of new curricula and related products are important to maintaining its competitive position. Our products and
services are conceived, designed, and developed through the collaboration of our internal innovations group and external partner organizations. We expense
in the same year incurred part of the costs to develop new curricula and products. Curriculum costs are only capitalized when a course is developed that will
result in significant future benefits or when there is a major revision to a course or course materials. Our research and development expenditures totaled $4.6
million, $3.3 million, and $2.3 million in fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006 respectively. Capitalized curriculum development costs are reported as a
component of other long-term assets in our consolidated balance sheets and totaled $6.8 million and $8.6 million at August 31, 2008 and 2007. Amortization
of capitalized curriculum development costs is reported as a component of cost of sales.
Trademarks, Copyrights, and Intellectual Property
We seek to protect our intellectual property through a combination of trademarks, copyrights, and confidentiality agreements. We claim rights for 80
trademarks in the United States and have obtained registration in the United States and many foreign countries for many of our trademarks, including
FranklinCovey, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People, Principle–Centered Leadership, The 4 Disciplines of Execution, FranklinCovey Planner, PlanPlus,
The 7 Habits, and The 8th Habit. We consider our trademarks and other proprietary rights to be important and material to our business. Each of the marks set
forth in italics above is a registered mark or a mark for which protection is claimed.
We own sole or joint copyrights on our planning systems, books, manuals, text and other printed information provided in our training seminars, and other
electronic media products, including audio tapes and video tapes. We license, rather than sell, facilitator workbooks and other seminar and training materials
in order to protect our intellectual property rights therein. FranklinCovey places trademark and copyright notices on its instructional, marketing and
advertising materials. In order to maintain the proprietary nature of our product information, we enter into written confidentiality agreements with certain
executives, product developers, sales professionals, training consultants, other employees and licensees. Although we believe the protective measures with
respect to our proprietary rights are important, there can be no assurance that such measures will provide significant protection from competitors.
Employees
At August 31, 2008, FranklinCovey had over 600 full- and part-time associates located in the United States of America, Japan, the United Kingdom, Canada,
and Australia. During fiscal 2001, we outsourced a significant part of our information technology services, customer service, distribution and warehousing
operations to EDS. A number of the Company’s former employees involved in these operations are now employed by EDS to provide those services to
FranklinCovey. None of our associates are represented by a union or other collective bargaining group.
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Management believes that its relations with its associates are good and we do not currently foresee a shortage in qualified personnel needed to operate our
business.
Available Information
The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331 and our telephone number is (801)
817-1776.
We regularly file reports with the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC). These reports include, but are not limited to, Annual Reports on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and security transaction reports on Forms 3, 4, or 5. The public may read and copy any
materials that the Company files with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. The public may
obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains electronic versions of the
Company’s reports, proxy and information statements, and other information that the Company files with the SEC on its website at www.sec.gov.
The Company makes our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and other reports filed or furnished
with the SEC available to the public, free of charge, through our website at www.franklincovey.com. These reports are provided through our website as soon
as reasonable practicable after we file or furnish these reports with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

Our business environment, current domestic and international economic conditions, and other specific risks may affect our future business decisions and
financial performance. The matters discussed below may cause our future results to differ from past results or those described in forward-looking statements
and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, and stock price, and should be considered in
evaluating our company.
The following list of potential risks does not contain the only risks currently facing us. Additional business risks and uncertainties that are not presently
known to us or that are not currently believed to be material may also harm our business operations and financial results in future periods.
Our results of operations could be adversely affected by economic and political conditions and the effects of these conditions on our clients’ businesses
and their levels of business activity.
Global economic and political conditions affect our clients’ businesses and the markets in which they operate. A serious and/or prolonged economic
downturn combined with a negative or uncertain political climate could adversely affect our clients’ financial condition and the business activity of our
clients. These conditions may reduce the demand for our services and solutions or depress the pricing of those services and have a material adverse impact on
our results of operations. Changes in global economic conditions may also shift demand to services for which we do not have competitive advantages, and
this could negatively affect the amount of business that we are able to obtain. Such economic, political, and client spending conditions are influenced by a
wide range of factors that are beyond our control and that we have no comparative advantage in forecasting. If we are unable to successfully anticipate these
changing conditions, we may be unable to effectively plan for and respond to those changes, and our business could be adversely affected.
Our business success also depends in part upon continued growth in the use of training and consulting services in business by our current and prospective
clients. In challenging economic environments, our clients may reduce or defer their spending on new services and consulting solutions in order to focus on
other priorities. At the same time, many companies have already invested substantial resources in their current means of conducting their business and they
may be reluctant or slow to adopt new approaches that could disrupt existing personnel and/or processes. If the growth in the general use of training and
consulting services in business or our clients’ spending on these items declines, or if we cannot convince our clients or potential clients to embrace new
services and solutions, our results of operations could be adversely affected.
In addition, our business tends to lag behind economic cycles and, consequently, the benefits of an economic recovery following a period of economic
downturn may take longer for us to realize than other segments of the economy.
We operate in an intensely competitive industry and our competitors may develop courses that adversely affect our ability to sell our offerings.
The training and consulting services industry is intensely competitive with relatively easy entry. Competitors continually introduce new programs and
services that may compete directly with our offerings or that may make our offerings uncompetitive or obsolete. Larger and better capitalized competitors
may have superior abilities to compete for clients and skilled professionals, reducing our ability to deliver quality work to our clients. In
9

Table of Contents

addition, one or more of our competitors may develop and implement training courses or methodologies that may adversely affect our ability to sell our
curricula and products to new clients. Any one of these circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our ability to obtain new business and
successfully deliver our services and solutions.
Our results of operations may be negatively affected if we cannot expand and develop our services and solutions in response to client demand.
Our success depends upon our ability to develop and deliver services and consulting solutions that respond to rapid and continuing changes in client
needs. We may not be successful in anticipating or responding to these developments on a timely basis and our offerings may not be successful in the
marketplace. The implementation and introduction of new programs and solutions may entail more risk than supplying existing offerings to our clients. In
addition, the introduction of new or competing services or solutions by current or future competitors may render our service or solution offerings
obsolete. Any one of these circumstances may have an adverse impact upon our business and results of operations.
Our business could be adversely affected if our clients are not satisfied with our services.
The success of our business model significantly depends on our ability to attract new work from our base of existing clients, as well as new work from
prospective clients. Our business model also depends on the relationships our senior executives and sales personnel develop with our clients so that we can
understand our clients’ needs and deliver services and solutions that are specifically tailored to those needs. If a client is not satisfied with the quality of work
performed by us, or with the type of services or solutions delivered, then we may incur additional costs to remediate the situation, the profitability of that
work might be decreased, and the client’s dissatisfaction with our services could damage our ability to obtain additional work from that client. In particular,
clients that are not satisfied might seek to terminate existing contracts prior to their scheduled expiration date and could direct future business to our
competitors. In addition, negative publicity related to our client relationships, regardless of its accuracy, may further damage our business by affecting our
ability to compete for new contracts with current and prospective clients.
Our profitability could decrease if we are unable to control our costs.
Our future success and profitability depend in part on our ability to achieve the appropriate cost structure and improve our efficiency in the highly competitive
services industry in which we compete. We regularly monitor our operating costs and develop initiatives and business models that impact our operations and
are designed to improve our profitability. Our recent initiatives have included redemptions of preferred stock, exiting non-core businesses, asset sales,
headcount reductions, and other internal initiatives designed to reduce our operating costs. If we do not achieve targeted business model cost levels and
manage our costs and processes to achieve additional efficiencies, our competitiveness and profitability could decrease.
Our work with governmental clients exposes us to additional risks that are inherent in the government contracting process.
Our clients include national, provincial, state, and local governmental entities and our work with these governmental entities has various risks inherent in the
government contracting process. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:
10
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· Governmental entities typically fund projects through appropriated monies. While these projects are often planned and executed as multi-year
projects, the government entities usually reserve the right to change the scope of or terminate these projects for lack of approved funding and at their
convenience. Changes in government or political developments could result in changes in scope or in termination of our projects.
· Government entities often reserve the right to audit our contract costs, including allocated indirect costs, and conduct inquiries and investigations of
our business practices with respect to our government contracts. If the governmental entity finds that the costs are not reimbursable, then we will not
be allowed to bill for those costs or the cost must be refunded to the client if it has already been paid to us. Findings from an audit also may result in
our being required to prospectively adjust previously agreed rates for our work and may affect our future margins.
· If a government client discovers improper activities in the course of audits or investigations, we may become subject to various civil and criminal
penalties and administrative sanctions, which may include termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and
suspensions or debarment from doing business with other agencies of that government. The inherent limitations of internal controls may not prevent
or detect all improper or illegal activities, regardless of their adequacy.
· Political and economic factors such as pending elections, revisions to governmental tax policies and reduced tax revenues can affect the number and
terms of new government contracts signed.
The occurrences or conditions described above could affect not only our business with the particular governmental agency involved, but also our business
with other agencies of the same or other governmental entities. Additionally, because of their visibility and political nature, government projects may present
a heightened risk to our reputation. Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business or our results of operations.
Our profitability will suffer if we are not able to maintain our pricing and utilization rates and control our costs.
Our profit margin on our services and solutions is largely a function of the rates we are able to recover for our services and the utilization, or chargeability, of
our trainers, client partners, and consultants. Accordingly, if we are unable to maintain sufficient pricing for our services or an appropriate utilization rate for
our training professionals without corresponding cost reductions, our profit margin and overall profitability will suffer. The rates that we are able to recover
for our services are affected by a number of factors, including:
·
·
·
·
·

Our clients’ perceptions of our ability to add value through our programs and products
Competition
General economic conditions
Introduction of new programs or services by us or our competitors
Our ability to accurately estimate, attain, and sustain engagement sales, margins, and cash flows over longer contract periods

Our utilization rates are also affected by a number of factors, including:
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· Seasonal trends, primarily as a result of scheduled training
· Our ability to forecast demand for our products and services and thereby maintain an appropriate headcount in our employee base
· Our ability to manage attrition
During recent periods we have maintained favorable utilization rates. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain favorable
utilization rates in future periods. Additionally, we may not achieve a utilization rate that is optimal for us. If our utilization rate is too high, it could have an
adverse effect on employee engagement and attrition. If our utilization rate is too low, our profit margin and profitability could suffer.
If our pricing structures do not accurately anticipate the cost and complexity of performing our services, then our contracts may become unprofitable.
We negotiate pricing terms with our clients utilizing a range of pricing structures and conditions. Depending on the particular contract and service to be
provided, these include time-and-materials pricing, fixed-price pricing, and contracts with features of both of these pricing models. Our pricing is highly
dependent on our internal forecasts and predictions about our projects and the marketplace, which might be based on limited data and could turn out to be
inaccurate. If we do not accurately estimate the costs and time necessary to deliver our work, our contracts could prove unprofitable for us or yield lower
profit margins than anticipated. There is a risk that we may under price our contracts, fail to accurately estimate the costs of performing the work, or fail to
accurately assess the risks associated with potential contracts. In particular, any increased or unexpected costs, delays or failures to achieve anticipated cost
savings, or unexpected risks we encounter in connection with the performance of our work, including those caused by factors outside our control, could make
these contracts less profitable or unprofitable, which could have an adverse effect on our profit margin.
Our global operations pose complex management, foreign currency, legal, tax, and economic risks, which we may not adequately address.
We have Company-owned offices in Australia, Canada, Japan, and the United Kingdom. We also have licensed operations in numerous other foreign
countries. As a result of these foreign operations and their growing impact upon our results of operations, we are subject to a number of risks, including:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Restrictions on the movement of cash
Burdens of complying with a wide variety of national and local laws
The absence in some jurisdictions of effective laws to protect our intellectual property rights
Political instability
Currency exchange rate fluctuations
Longer payment cycles
Price controls or restrictions on exchange of foreign currencies

While we are not currently aware of any of the foregoing conditions materially adversely affecting our operations, these conditions, which are outside of our
control, could change at any time.
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We may experience foreign currency gains and losses.
Our sales outside of the United States totaled $62.9 million, or 24 percent of total sales, for the year ended August 31, 2008. As our international operations
continue to grow and become a larger component of our overall financial results, our revenues and operating results may be adversely affected when the
dollar strengthens relative to other currencies and may be positively affected when the dollar weakens. In order to manage a portion of our foreign currency
risk, we make limited use of foreign currency derivative contracts to hedge certain transactions and translation exposure. There can be no guarantee that our
foreign currency risk management strategy will be effective in reducing the risks associated with foreign currency transactions and translation.
Our global operations expose us to numerous and sometimes conflicting legal and regulatory requirements, and violation of these regulations could harm
our business.
Because we provide services to clients in many countries, we are subject to numerous, and sometimes conflicting, legal regimes on matters as diverse as
import/export controls, content requirements, trade restrictions, tariffs, taxation, sanctions, government affairs, internal and disclosure control obligations,
data privacy and labor relations. Violations of these regulations in the conduct of our business could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us or our
officers, prohibitions on doing business, and damage to our reputation. Violations of these regulations in connection with the performance of our obligations
to our clients also could result in liability for monetary damages, fines and/or criminal prosecution, unfavorable publicity, restrictions on our ability to process
information and allegations by our clients that we have not performed our contractual obligations. Due to the varying degrees of development of the legal
systems of the countries in which we operate, local laws might be insufficient to protect our rights.
In many parts of the world, including countries in which we operate, practices in the local business community might not conform to international business
standards and could violate anticorruption regulations, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which prohibits giving anything of value intended to
influence the awarding of government contracts. Although we have policies and procedures to ensure legal and regulatory compliance, our employees,
licensee operators, and agents could take actions that violate these requirements. Violations of these regulations could subject us to criminal or civil
enforcement actions, including fines and suspension or disqualification from U.S. federal procurement contracting, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business.
Failure to comply with the terms and conditions of our credit facility may have an adverse effect upon our business and operations.
Our line of credit facility requires us to be in compliance with customary non-financial terms and conditions as well as specified financial ratios. Failure to
comply with these terms and conditions or maintain adequate financial performance to comply with specific financial ratios entitles the lender to certain
remedies, including the right to immediately call due any amounts outstanding on the line of credit. Such events would have an adverse effect upon our
business and operations as there can be no assurance that we may be able to obtain other forms of financing or raise additional capital on terms that would be
acceptable to us.
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Our strategy to focus on training and consulting services may not be successful and may not lead to the desired financial results.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we sold substantially all of the assets of our Consumer Solutions Business Unit (CSBU) to a newly formed entity,
Franklin Covey Products. Although we believe the sale of the CSBU assets will allow us to focus our resources and abilities on our services and solutions
offerings, many of the aspects of this plan, including future economic conditions and the business strength of our clients, are not within our control and we
may not achieve our expected financial results within our anticipated timeframe.
If we are unable to attract, retain, and motivate high-quality employees, including training consultants and other key training representatives, we will not
be able to compete effectively and will not be able to grow our business.
Our success and ability to grow are dependent, in part, on our ability to hire, retain and motivate sufficient numbers of talented people with the increasingly
diverse skills needed to serve our clients and grow our business. Competition for skilled personnel is intense at all levels of experience and seniority. To
address this competition, we may need to further adjust our compensation practices, which could put upward pressure on our costs and adversely affect our
profit margins. At the same time, the profitability of our business model is partially dependent on our ability to effectively utilize personnel with the right mix
of skills and experience to effectively deliver our programs and content. There is a risk that at certain points in time and in certain geographical regions, we
will find it difficult to hire and retain a sufficient number of employees with the skills or backgrounds we require, or that it will prove difficult to retain them
in a competitive labor market. If we are unable to hire and retain talented employees with the skills, and in the locations, we require, we might not be able to
deliver our content and solutions services. If we need to re-assign personnel from other areas, it could increase our costs and adversely affect our profit
margins.
In order to retain key personnel, we continue to offer a variable component of compensation, the payment of which is dependent upon our sales performance
and profitability. We adjust our compensation levels and have adopted different methods of compensation in order to attract and retain appropriate numbers
of employees with the necessary skills to serve our clients and grow our business. We may also use equity-based performance incentives as a component of
our executives’ compensation, which may affect amounts of cash compensation. Variations in any of these areas of compensation may adversely impact our
operating performance.
If we are unable to collect our accounts receivable on a timely basis, our results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.
Our business depends on our ability to successfully obtain payment from our clients of the amounts they owe us for services performed. We evaluate the
financial condition of our clients and usually bill and collect on relatively short cycles. We maintain allowances against our receivables and unbilled services
that we believe are adequate to reserve for potentially uncollectible amounts. However, actual losses on client balances could differ from those that we
currently anticipate and as a result we might need to adjust our allowances and there is no guarantee that we will accurately assess the creditworthiness of our
clients. Macroeconomic conditions could also result in financial difficulties for our clients, and as a result could cause clients to delay payments to us, request
modifications to their payment arrangements that could increase our receivables balance, or not pay their obligations to us. Timely collection of client
balances also depends on our ability to complete our contractual commitments and bill and collect our invoiced revenues. If we
14

Table of Contents

are unable to meet our contractual requirements, we might experience delays in collection of and/or be unable to collect our client balances, and if this occurs,
our results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected. In addition, if we experience an increase in the time to bill and collect for our services,
our cash flows could be adversely affected.
We have only a limited ability to protect our intellectual property rights, which are important to our success.
Our financial success depends, in part, upon our ability to protect our proprietary methodologies and other intellectual property. The existing laws of some
countries in which we provide services might offer only limited protection of our intellectual property rights. To protect our intellectual property, we rely
upon a combination of trade secrets, confidentiality policies, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements, and patent, copyright and trademark laws to
protect our intellectual property rights. The steps we take in this regard might not be adequate to prevent or deter infringement or other misappropriation of
our intellectual property, and we might not be able to detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate and timely steps to enforce, our intellectual property
rights, especially in foreign jurisdictions.
The loss of proprietary methodologies or the unauthorized use of our intellectual property may create greater competition, loss of revenue, adverse publicity,
and may limit our ability to reuse that intellectual property for other clients. Any limitation on our ability to provide a service or solution could cause us to
lose revenue-generating opportunities and require us to incur additional expenses to develop new or modified solutions for future engagements.
Our strategy of outsourcing certain functions and operations may fail to reduce our costs for these services.
We have an outsourcing contract with Electronic Data Systems (EDS) to provide warehousing, distribution, and information system operations. Under the
terms of the outsourcing contract and its addendums, EDS provides warehousing and distribution services and supports our various information systems. Due
to the nature of our outsourced operations, we are unable to exercise the same level of control over outsourced functions and the actions of EDS employees in
outsourced roles as our own employees. As a result, the inherent risks associated with these outsourced areas of operation may be increased.
Our outsourcing contracts with EDS also contain early termination provisions that we may exercise under certain conditions. However, in order to exercise
the early termination provisions, we would have to pay specified penalties to EDS depending upon the circumstances of the contract termination.
We have significant intangible asset balances that may be impaired if cash flows from related activities decline.
At August 31, 2008 we had $72.3 million of intangible assets, which were primarily generated from the fiscal 1997 merger with the Covey Leadership
Center. These intangible assets are evaluated for impairment based upon cash flows (definite-lived intangible assets) and estimated royalties from revenue
streams (indefinite-lived intangible assets). Although our current sales and cash flows are sufficient to support the carrying basis of these intangibles, if our
sales and corresponding cash flows decline, we may be faced with significant asset impairment charges that would have an adverse impact upon our operating
margin and overall results of operations.
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Our business could be negatively affected if we incur legal liability in connection with providing our solutions and services.
If we fail to meet our contractual obligations, fail to disclose our financial or other arrangements with our business partners or otherwise breach obligations to
clients, we could be subject to legal liability. We may enter into non-standard agreements because we perceive an important economic opportunity or because
our personnel did not adequately adhere to our guidelines. We may also find ourselves committed to providing services that we are unable to deliver or
whose delivery will cause us financial loss. If we cannot, or do not perform our obligations, we could face legal liability and our contracts might not always
protect us adequately through limitations on the scope of our potential liability. If we cannot meet our contractual obligations to provide services and
solutions, and if our exposure is not adequately limited through the terms of our agreements, then we might face significant legal liability and our business
could be adversely affected.
We depend on key personnel, the loss of whom could harm our business.
Our future success will depend, in part, on the continued service of key executive officers and personnel. The loss of the services of any key individuals
could harm our business. Our future success also depends on our ability to identify, attract, and retain additional qualified senior personnel. Competition for
such individuals in our industry is intense and we may not be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel.
Our future quarterly operating results are subject to factors that can cause fluctuations in our stock price.
Historically, our stock price has experienced significant volatility. We expect that our stock price may continue to experience volatility in the future due to a
variety of potential factors that may include the following:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations and cash flows
Increased overall market volatility
Variations between our actual financial results and market expectations
Changes in our key balances, such as cash and cash equivalents
Currency exchange rate fluctuations
Unexpected asset impairment charges
Lack of analyst coverage

In addition, the stock market has recently experienced substantial price and volume fluctuations that have impacted our stock and other equity issues in the
market. These factors, as well as general investor concerns regarding the credibility of corporate financial statements, may have a material adverse effect
upon our stock price in the future.
We may need additional capital in the future, and this capital may not be available to us on favorable terms.
We may need to raise additional funds through public or private debt offerings or equity financings in order to:
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· Develop new services, programs, or offerings
· Take advantage of opportunities, including expansion of the business
· Respond to competitive pressures
Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity could dilute current shareholders’ ownership percentage in us. Furthermore, we may be unable to
obtain the necessary capital on terms or conditions that are favorable to us, or at all.
We are the creditor for a management common stock loan program that may not be fully collectible.
We are the creditor for a loan program that provided the capital to allow certain management personnel the opportunity to purchase shares of our common
stock. For further information regarding our management common stock loan program, refer to the notes to our consolidated financial statements as found in
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our inability to collect all, or a portion, of these receivables could have an adverse impact upon our financial
position and future cash flows compared to full collection of the loans.
We may have exposure to additional tax liabilities.
As a multinational company, we are subject to income taxes as well as non-income based taxes, in both the United States and various foreign tax
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. In the normal course of a
global business, there are many intercompany transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. As a result, we are regularly
under audit by tax authorities. Although we believe that our tax estimates are reasonable, we cannot assure you that the final determination of tax audits will
not be different from what is reflected in our historical income tax provisions and accruals.
We are also subject to non-income taxes, such as payroll, sales, use, value-added, and property taxes in both the United States and various foreign
jurisdictions. We are regularly under audit by tax authorities with respect to these non-income taxes and may have exposure to additional non-income tax
liabilities.
We could have liability or our reputation could be damaged if we do not protect client data or if our information systems are breached.
We are dependent on information technology networks and systems to process, transmit and store electronic information and to communicate among our
locations around the world and with our clients. Security breaches of this infrastructure could lead to shutdowns or disruptions of our systems and potential
unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. We are also required at times to manage, utilize and store sensitive or confidential client or employee
data. As a result, we are subject to numerous U.S. and foreign jurisdiction laws and regulations designed to protect this information, such as the various U.S.
federal and state laws governing the protection of health or other individually identifiable information. If any person, including any of our associates,
negligently disregards or intentionally breaches our established controls with respect to such data or otherwise mismanages or misappropriates that data, we
could be subject to monetary damages, fines and/or criminal prosecution. Unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential client or employee data,
whether through systems failure, employee negligence, fraud or misappropriation, could damage our reputation and cause us to lose clients.
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International hostilities, terrorist activities, and natural disasters may prevent us from effectively serving our clients and thus adversely affect our
operating results.
Acts of terrorist violence, armed regional and international hostilities, and international responses to these hostilities, natural disasters, global health risks or
pandemics or the threat of or perceived potential for these events, could have a negative impact on our directly owned or licensee operations. These events
could adversely affect our clients’ levels of business activity and precipitate sudden significant changes in regional and global economic conditions and
cycles. These events also pose significant risks to our people and to physical facilities and operations around the world, whether the facilities are ours or
those of our alliance partners or clients. By disrupting communications and travel and increasing the difficulty of obtaining and retaining highly skilled and
qualified personnel, these events could make it difficult or impossible for us or our licensee partners to deliver services to clients. Extended disruptions of
electricity, other public utilities or network services at our facilities, as well as system failures at, or security breaches in, our facilities or systems, could also
adversely affect our ability to serve our clients. While we plan and prepare to defend against each of these occurrences, we might be unable to protect our
people, facilities and systems against all such occurrences. We generally do not have insurance for losses and interruptions caused by terrorist attacks,
conflicts and wars. If these disruptions prevent us from effectively serving our clients, our operating results could be adversely affected.
A natural or man-made disaster in Salt Lake City, Utah could have an adverse effect on our business.
We manufacture and ship training materials at numerous sites located around the world. However, a significant portion of our training materials are
manufactured and shipped from facilities located in Salt Lake City, Utah. In the event that these facilities were severely damaged or destroyed as a result of a
natural or man-made disaster, we could suffer significant disruptions to our ability to manufacture and ship training materials to our clients. Such events may
have a material adverse effect on our business prospects, results of operations, and financial condition.

ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2.

Properties

Franklin Covey’s principal business operations and executive offices are located in Salt Lake City, Utah. The following is a summary of our owned and
leased properties. Our corporate headquarters lease is accounted for as a financing arrangement and all other facility lease agreements are accounted for as
operating leases. Our lease agreements expire at various dates through the year 2025.
Corporate Facilities
Corporate Headquarters and Administrative Offices:
Salt Lake City, Utah (7 buildings) – all leased
Organizational Solutions Business Unit
Regional Sales Offices:
United States (5 locations) – all leased
International Administrative/Sales Offices:
Canada (1 location) – owned
Asia Pacific (4 locations) – all leased
England (1 location) – leased
International Distribution Facilities:
Canada (1 location) – owned
Asia Pacific (3 locations) – all leased
England (1 location) – leased
We consider our existing facilities to be in good condition and suitable for our current and anticipated level of operations in the upcoming fiscal year.
A significant portion of our corporate headquarters campus located in Salt Lake City, Utah is subleased to several unrelated entities.
The following significant developments occurred during fiscal 2008 that affected our properties:
· During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we completed the sale of our Consumer Solutions Business Unit, which operated retail stores both
domestically and in certain international locations.
· In connection with a restructuring plan initiated in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we closed one domestic regional sales office and intend to close
our Canadian facility in fiscal 2009.

ITEM 3.

Legal Proceedings

In August 2005, EpicRealm Licensing (EpicRealm) filed an action in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas against the Company
for patent infringement. The action alleged that the Company infringed upon two of EpicRealm’s patents directed to managing dynamic web page requests
from clients to a web server that in turn uses a page server to generate a dynamic web page from content retrieved from a data source. The Company denied
liability in the patent infringement and filed counter-claims related to the case subsequent to the filing of the action in District Court. However, during the
fiscal year
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ended August 31, 2008, the Company paid EpicRealm a one-time license fee of $1.0 million for a non-exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual, and royalty-free
license to use any product, system, or invention covered by the disputed patents. In connection with the purchase of the license, EpicRealm and the Company
agreed to dismiss their claims with prejudice and the Company is released from further action regarding these patents.
The Company is also the subject of certain other legal actions, which we consider routine to our business activities. At August 31, 2008, we believe that, after
consultation with legal counsel, any potential liability to the Company under such actions will not materially affect our financial position, liquidity, or results
of operations.

ITEM 4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended August 31, 2008.

PART II
ITEM 5.

Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

FranklinCovey’s common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol “FC.” The following table sets forth the
high and low sale prices per share for our common stock, as reported on the NYSE, for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008 and 2007.
High

Low

Fiscal Year Ended August
31, 2008:
Fourth Quarter
$
Third Quarter
Second Quarter
First Quarter

9.32 $
8.76
8.00
7.75

7.35
6.72
6.86
5.91

Fiscal Year Ended August
31, 2007:
Fourth Quarter
$
Third Quarter
Second Quarter
First Quarter

8.99 $
9.01
8.15
6.18

6.97
7.10
5.66
4.96

On November 3, 2008, our common stock closed at $5.25 per share. Subsequent to our fiscal year end on August 31, 2008 the stock market in the United
States experienced increased volatility and suffered significant losses primarily as a result of the credit and liquidity crises. Due to the serious and
unpredictable nature of these factors affecting the stock market, we are unable to determine what, if any, impact these external factors may have upon our
stock price in future periods.
We did not pay or declare dividends on our common stock during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008 or 2007. We currently anticipate that we will retain
all available funds to
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repay our line of credit obligation, finance future growth and business opportunities, and to purchase shares of our common stock. We do not intend to pay
cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
As of November 3, 2008, the Company had 16,879,498 shares of common stock outstanding, which were held by 392 shareholders of record.
Purchases of Common Stock
The following table summarizes Company purchases of common stock during the fiscal quarter ended August 31, 2008:
Maximum
Dollar Value
Total
of Shares
Number of
That May
Shares
Yet Be
Purchased as Purchased
Part of
Under the
Total
Publicly
Plans or
Number of
Announced
Programs
Shares
Average Price
Plans or
(in
Period
Purchased
Paid Per Share
Programs
thousands)
June 1, 2008
to
July 5, 2008
- $
none
$
2,413
July 6, 2008
to
August 2,
2008

-

August 3,
2008 to
August 31,
2008

3,027,027(1)

Total
Common
Shares

3,027,027

-

$

none

9.32

3,027,027

9.32

3,027,027

2,413

2,413(2)

(1)

During August 2008, we completed a modified “Dutch Auction” tender offer in which we were able to purchase 3,027,027 shares of our
common stock for $9.25 per share plus costs necessary to conduct the tender offer.

(2)

In January 2006, our Board of Directors approved the purchase of up to $10.0 million of our outstanding common stock. All previous
authorized common stock purchase plans were canceled. Following the approval of this common stock purchase plan, we have purchased a
total of 1,009,300 shares of our common stock for $7.6 million through August 31, 2008 under the terms of this plan.

Performance Graph
The following graph shows a comparison of cumulative total shareholder return indexed to August 31, 2003, calculated on a dividend reinvested basis, for the
five fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, for Franklin Covey Co. common stock, the S&P SmallCap 600 Index, and the S&P Diversified Commercial Services
Index. The Company was previously included in the S&P 600 SmallCap Index and was assigned to the S&P Diversified Commercial and Professional
Services Index within the S&P 600 SmallCap Index. The Company believes that if it were included in an index it would be included in the indices where it
was previously listed. The Diversified Commercial Services Index consists of 7 companies similar in size and nature to Franklin Covey. The Company is no
longer a part of the S&P 600 SmallCap Index but believes that the S&P 600 SmallCap Index and the Diversified
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Commercial Services Index continues to provide appropriate benchmarks with which to compare our stock performance.
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ITEM 6.

Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial data presented below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of Franklin Covey and the
related footnotes as found in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K. During fiscal 2008, we sold substantially all of the assets of our Consumer Solutions
Business Unit (CSBU), which was primarily responsible for the sale of our products to consumers. Based upon applicable accounting guidance, the
operations of CSBU did not qualify for discontinued operations presentation and therefore no prior periods were adjusted to reflect the sale of the CSBU
assets.
August 31,
In thousands, except per share
data
Income Statement Data:
Net sales
Income (loss) from operations
Net income (loss) before
income taxes
Income tax benefit (provision)

2008

$

(1)

Net income (loss)(1)
Net income (loss) available to
common shareholders(1)
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted
Balance Sheet Data:
Total current assets
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Long-term obligations
Total liabilities
Preferred stock(2)
Shareholders’ equity

2007

260,092
16,760

$

2006

284,125
18,084

$

2005

278,623
14,046

$

2004

283,542
8,443

$

275,434
(9,064)

13,834

15,665

13,631

9,101

(8,801)

(7,986)
5,848

(8,036)
7,629

14,942
28,573

1,085
10,186

(1,349)
(10,150)

5,848

5,414

24,188

(5,837)

(18,885)

$
$

.30
.29

$
$

.28
.27

$
$

1.20
1.18

$
$

$

67,911
11,768
178,927

$

70,103
14,542
196,631

$

87,120
12,249
216,559

$

(.34) $
(.34) $
105,182
9,051
233,233

$

(.96)
(.96)
92,229
7,305
227,625

38,762
100,173

35,178
95,712

35,347
83,210

46,171
100,407

13,067
69,146

78,754

100,919

37,345
133,349

57,345
132,826

87,203
158,479

(1)

Net income in fiscal 2006 includes the impact of deferred tax asset valuation allowance reversals totaling $20.3 million.

(2)

During fiscal 2007, we redeemed all remaining outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock at its liquidation preference of $25 per share plus
accrued dividends.
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ITEM 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements are based upon management’s current expectations and are subject to various uncertainties and changes in circumstances. Important
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements are set forth below under the heading “Safe
Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.”
The Company suggests that the following discussion and analysis be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes as
presented in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.
INTRODUCTION
The following management’s discussion and analysis is intended to provide a summary of the principal factors affecting the results of operations, liquidity
and capital resources, contractual obligations, and the critical accounting policies of Franklin Covey Co. (also referred to as the Company, we, us, our, and
FranklinCovey, unless otherwise indicated) and subsidiaries. This discussion and analysis should be read together with our consolidated financial statements
and related notes, which contain additional information regarding the accounting policies and estimates underlying the Company’s financial statements. Our
consolidated financial statements and related notes are presented in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.
FranklinCovey believes that great organizations consist of great people who form great teams that produce great results. To achieve great results, we seek to
improve the effectiveness of organizations and individuals and we are a worldwide leader in providing integrated learning and performance solutions to
organizations and individuals that are designed to enhance leadership, strategic execution, productivity, sales force effectiveness, communications, and other
skills. Historically, our solutions included products and services that encompassed training and consulting, assessment, and various application tools that
were generally available in electronic or paper-based formats. Our products and services were available through professional consulting services, public
workshops, retail stores, catalogs, and the Internet at www.franklincovey.com and our best-known offerings in the marketplace included the FranklinCovey
Planner™, and a suite of individual-effectiveness and leadership-development training products based on the best-selling book The 7 Habits of Highly
Effective People.
Over the past several years, the strategic focus of both our Consumer Solutions Business Unit (CSBU), which was focused primarily on sales of our products,
and our Organizational Solutions Business Unit (OSBU), which was focused on the development and delivery of training, consulting, and related services,
has changed significantly. As a consequence of these changes in strategic direction, we determined that the extent of overlap between our training and
consulting offerings and our products has diminished. After significant analysis and deliberation, it became apparent that these business units would be able
to operate more effectively as separate companies, each with clear and distinct strategic objectives, market definitions, and competitive products and
services. This conclusion persuaded us to sell substantially all of the operations of the CSBU. During the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended August 31,
2008, we completed the sale of the CSBU to a newly formed entity, Franklin Covey Products, LLC and reported a gain of $9.1 million from the
transaction. Franklin Covey Products, LLC was formed with the objective of expanding the worldwide sales of Franklin Covey products through proprietary
channels and through third-party retailers as governed by a comprehensive license agreement with the Company.
Following the sale of the CSBU, we will be able to focus our full resources on the continued expansion of our training, consulting, content-rich media, and
thought leadership businesses, which currently operate in 147 countries. Our business will primarily consist of training, consulting, and assessment services
and products to help organizations and individuals achieve superior results by focusing on and executing on top priorities, building the capability of
knowledge workers, and aligning business processes. Our training, consulting, and assessment offerings include services based upon the popular workshop
The 7 Habits of Highly Effective PeopleÒ; Leadership: Great Leaders—Great Teams—Great
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Resultsä; The 4 Disciplines of ExecutionTM; FOCUS: Achieving Your Highest Priorities; The 8 Habits of a Successful Marriage; Building Business Acumen;
Championing Diversity; Leading at the Speed of Trust; Writing Advantage, and Presentation Advantage. During fiscal 2008, we introduced a new suite of
services designed to help our clients improve their sales through increased customer loyalty. We also consistently seek to create, develop, and introduce new
services and products that will help our clients achieve greatness.
The key factors that influence our operating results include the number of organizations that are active customers; the number of people trained within those
organizations; the availability of budgeted training spending at our clients and prospective clients, which is significantly influenced by general economic
conditions; and our ability to manage operating costs necessary to develop and provide meaningful training and related products to our clients.
The sale of the CSBU assets was completed with approximately two months left in our fiscal year ended August 31, 2008, and based upon continuing
involvement we will not present the financial results of the CSBU in a discontinued operations format. Refer to Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8 for a discussion of the components of the gain and the accounting treatment of the sale of the CSBU assets. Since the CSBU
accounted for approximately 47 percent of our consolidated sales in fiscal 2007, the sale of the CSBU had a significant impact on our fiscal 2008 financial
results and will have an even more pronounced comparative impact on our financial statements in future periods.
Our fiscal year ends on August 31, and unless otherwise indicated, fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006, refers to the twelve-month periods ended August
31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview of the Fiscal Year ended August 31, 2008
Our fiscal 2008 operating results were significantly affected by the fourth quarter sale of our CSBU operations, which is described above. The sale of our
CSBU operations primarily affected our financial statements through reduced product sales in the fourth quarter, a corresponding reduction in our gross profit,
reduced selling, general, and administrative expenses, and the recognition of a $9.1 million gain. We used substantially all of the net proceeds from the sale
of the CSBU to purchase approximately 3.0 million shares of our common stock for $28.2 million through a modified “Dutch Auction” tender offer that was
completed close to August 31, 2008. Since the tender offer was completed so near the end of our fiscal year, it did not have a significant impact on our
weighted average shares outstanding or our calculation of earnings per common share for the year.
For the year ended August 31, 2008, our consolidated sales decreased to $260.1 million compared to $284.1 million in fiscal 2007. The decrease in sales was
primarily due to the sale of CSBU combined with declining product sales during the fiscal year, which were partially offset by improved training and
consulting service sales. For the year ended August 31, 2008, we reported income from operations of $16.8 million, including the gain from the sale of
CSBU, compared to $18.1 million in fiscal 2007, and our income before taxes decreased to $13.8 million compared to $15.7 million in the prior
year. However, with the favorable impact of reduced preferred dividends resulting from the fiscal 2007 redemption of the remaining preferred stock, our net
income available to common shareholders increased to $5.8 million compared to $5.4 million in fiscal 2007.
The following information is intended to provide an overview of the primary factors that influenced our financial results for the fiscal year ended August 31,
2008:
· Sales Performance – Our consolidated sales decreased $24.0 million compared to the prior year primarily due to the sale of CSBU and declining
product sales that occurred during fiscal 2008. Our training and consulting services sales increased by $0.4 million compared to fiscal 2007, which
was primarily attributable to improvements in sales through our international delivery channels.
25

Table of Contents

· Gross Profit – Consolidated gross profit decreased to $161.8 million compared to $175.1 million in fiscal 2007. However, our gross margin, which
is gross profit stated as a percentage of sales, increased to 62.2 percent compared to 61.6 percent in the prior year. The increase in gross margin was
due to increased training and consulting services as a percent of total sales during fiscal 2008 since the majority of our training and consulting
services have higher gross margins than our product sales.
· Operating Costs – Our operating costs, excluding the gain on the sale of CSBU and the fiscal 2007 gain on the manufacturing facility, decreased by
$4.1 million compared to fiscal 2007. The decrease in operating costs was attributable to a $7.9 million decrease in selling, general, and
administrative expense, which was primarily due to the sale of CSBU, that was partially offset by a $2.1 million restructuring charge, a $1.5 million
impaired asset charge, and a $0.3 million increase in depreciation expense.
Further details regarding these items can be found in the comparative analysis of fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 as discussed in this management’s
discussion and analysis.
The following table sets forth, for the fiscal years indicated, the percentage of total sales represented by the line items through income before income taxes in
our consolidated income statements:
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Training and consulting services
sales
Product sales
Total sales

2008

2007

2006

53.1%
46.9
100.0

48.5%
51.5
100.0

43.9%
56.1
100.0

Training and consulting services
cost of sales
Product cost of sales
Total cost of sales
Gross profit

17.2
20.6
37.8
62.2

15.2
23.2
38.4
61.6

14.6
25.1
39.7
60.3

Selling, general, and administrative
Gain on sale of CSBU assets
Gain on sale of manufacturing
facility
Restructuring costs
Impairment of assets
Depreciation
Amortization
Total operating expenses
Income from operations

54.3
(3.5)

52.5
-

52.0
-

0.8
0.6
2.2
1.4
55.8
6.4

(0.4)
1.8
1.3
55.2
6.4

1.9
1.4
55.3
5.0

Interest income
Interest expense
Recovery from legal settlement
Income before income taxes

0.1
(1.2)
5.3%

0.3
(1.2)
5.5%

0.5
(0.9)
0.3
4.9%

Segment Review
During the majority of fiscal 2008 we had two operating segments: the Organizational Solutions Business Unit (OSBU) and the Consumer Solutions
Business Unit (CSBU). However, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we completed the sale of substantially all of the assets of the CSBU, which
reduced amounts reported by that segment in fiscal 2008 by approximately two monthly reporting periods. The following
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is a description of these segments, their primary operating components, and their significant business activities during the periods reported:
Organizational Solutions Business Unit – The OSBU is primarily responsible for the development, marketing, sale, and delivery of strategic
execution, productivity, leadership, sales force performance, and communication training and consulting solutions directly to organizational clients,
including other companies, the government, and educational institutions. The OSBU includes the financial results of our domestic sales force, public
programs, and certain international operations. The domestic sales force is responsible for the sale and delivery of our training and consulting
solutions services in the United States. Our international sales group includes the financial results of our directly owned foreign offices and royalty
revenues from licensees.
Consumer Solutions Business Unit – This business unit was primarily focused on sales to individual customers and small business organizations
and included the results of our domestic retail stores, consumer direct operations (primarily Internet sales and call center), wholesale operations,
international product channels in certain countries, and other related distribution channels, including government product sales and domestic printing
and publishing sales. The CSBU results of operations also included the financial results of our paper planner manufacturing operations. Although
CSBU sales primarily consisted of products such as planners, binders, software, totes, and related accessories, virtually any component of our
leadership, productivity, and strategy execution solutions may have been purchased through our CSBU channels.
The following table sets forth sales data by category and for our operating segments for the periods indicated. For further information regarding our reporting
segments and geographic information, refer to Note 19 to our consolidated financial statements as found in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K (in thousands).

YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Sales by Category:
Training and
consulting services $
Products
$
Organizational
Solutions Business
Unit:
Domestic
International

$

Consumer Solutions
Business Unit:
Retail stores
Consumer direct
Wholesale
CSBU International
Other CSBU
Total net sales

$

2008

Percent
change
from prior
year

2007

Percent
change
from
prior year

2006

138,112
121,980
260,092

- $
(17)
(8) $

137,708
146,417
284,125

12 $
(6)
2 $

122,418
156,205
278,623

91,287
59,100
150,387

(2) $
2
-

93,308
57,674
150,982

10 $
18
13

84,904
48,984
133,888

42,167
38,662
16,970
7,295
4,611
109,705
260,092

(22)
(19)
(6)
(1)
(16)
(18)
(8) $

54,316
48,018
17,991
7,342
5,476
133,143
284,125

(13)
(8)
1
(5)
12
(8)
2 $

62,156
52,171
17,782
7,716
4,910
144,735
278,623
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FISCAL 2008 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2007
Sales
Training and Consulting Services – We offer a variety of training courses, training related products, and consulting services focused on leadership,
productivity, strategy execution, sales force performance, and effective communications that are provided both domestically and internationally through the
OSBU. Our consolidated training and consulting service sales increased by $0.4 million compared to the prior year. Training and consulting service sales
performance in fiscal 2008 was primarily influenced by the following factors in our domestic and international OSBU operations:
· Domestic – Our domestic training sales decreased $2.0 million, or two percent, compared to fiscal 2007, primarily due to lower sales from
our sales performance group, public programs, and our book and audio divisions. Decreased sales from these groups were partially offset
by increased sales from our combined geographical and vertical market sales offices and by increased sales from specialized seminar
events. During fiscal 2008, sales through our direct sales offices improved over the prior year as acceptance of our core product offerings,
which includes The Seven Habits of Highly Effective People, Leadership: Great Leaders, Great Teams, Great Results, and The 4 Disciplines
of Execution, continued to strengthen.
Four of our seven domestic offices generated increased year-over-year sales and sales of our training materials to our client facilitators
improved four percent compared to the prior year. Revenue from the number of training and consulting days delivered increased two
percent over the prior year as our average revenue per day received increased. The number of training days delivered, however, declined
three percent compared to fiscal 2007.
· International – International sales increased $1.4 million compared to the prior year. Sales from our four remaining directly owned foreign
offices as well as from licensee royalty revenues increased $6.9 million, or 14 percent, compared to the prior year as each of these units
achieved double-digit growth. Partially offsetting these increases was the elimination of sales from our wholly owned subsidiary in Brazil
and our training operations located in Mexico. We sold these operations to external licensees during fiscal 2007 and we now only receive
royalty revenue from their operations based upon gross sales. The conversion of these operations to licensees had a $5.4 million
unfavorable impact on our international sales but improved our income from these operations compared to the prior year. The translation of
foreign sales to United States dollars had a $3.7 million favorable impact on our consolidated sales as foreign currencies strengthened
against the United States dollar during fiscal 2008.
Product Sales – Consolidated product sales, which primarily consist of planners, binders, totes, software and related accessories that are primarily sold
through our CSBU channels, declined $24.4 million compared to the prior year. The decline in overall product sales during fiscal 2008 was primarily due to
the sale of our CSBU operations in fiscal 2008 combined with the following performance in CSBU delivery channels prior to the effective date of the sale.
· Retail Stores – Prior to the sale of the CSBU operations, our retail sales decreased compared to the prior year primarily due to reduced traffic
in our retail locations, which was partially due to a significant increase in the number of wholesale outlets that sold our products and competed
directly against our retail stores, reduced demand for technology and related products, and fewer store locations, which had a $2.5 million
impact on retail sales. Our retail store traffic, or the number of consumers entering our retail locations, declined by approximately 18 percent
on a comparable basis (for stores which were open during the comparable periods) and resulted in decreased sales of “core” products (e.g.
planners, binders, totes, and accessories). Due to declining demand for electronic handheld planning products, during late fiscal 2007 we
decided to exit the low-margin handheld
28

Table of Contents

device and related electronics accessories business, which reduced retail sales by $0.9 million compared to the prior year. These factors
combined to produce a 7 percent decline in year-over-year comparable store sales versus the prior year.
· Consumer Direct – Sales through our consumer direct channels (primarily the Internet and call center) decreased primarily due to a decline in
the number of customers visiting our website and a decline in the number of orders that are being processed through the call center. Visits to
our website decreased from the prior year by approximately 12 percent. Declining consumer orders through the call center continues a longterm trend and decreased by approximately 14 percent compared to the prior year, which we believe was partially the result of a transition of
customers to our other product channels.
· Wholesale – Sales through our wholesale channel, which included sales to office superstores and other retail chains, decreased primarily due
to the transition of a portion of our wholesale business to a new distributor and the timing of sales as the new distributor built inventories.
· CSBU International – This channel includes the product sales of our directly owned international offices in Canada, the United Kingdom,
Mexico, and Australia. Product sales were flat through these channels compared to the prior year before the sale of CSBU.
· Other CSBU – Other CSBU sales consist primarily of domestic printing and publishing sales and building sublease revenues. The decline in
other CSBU sales was primarily due to decreased external printing sales, which was partially offset by a $0.3 million increase in sublease
revenue.
Following completion of the sale of our CSBU assets to Franklin Covey Products, we expect that our product sales will decline sharply as the majority of
sales reported through the above channels are transitioned to Franklin Covey Products.
Gross Profit
Gross profit consists of net sales less the cost of goods sold or the cost of services provided. Our cost of sales includes materials used in the production of
planners and related products, assembly and manufacturing labor costs, direct costs of conducting seminars, freight, and certain other overhead costs. Gross
profit may be affected by, among other things, prices of materials, labor rates, product sales mix, changes in product discount levels, production efficiency,
and freight costs.
We record the costs associated with operating our retail stores, call center, and Internet site as part of our consolidated selling, general, and administrative
expenses. Therefore, our consolidated gross profit may not be comparable with the gross profit of other companies that include similar costs in their cost of
sales.
For fiscal 2008, our consolidated gross profit decreased to $161.8 million compared to $175.1 million in fiscal 2007. The decrease was primarily attributable
to the sale of CSBU and declining product sales during fiscal 2008 prior to the sale of CSBU. Our consolidated gross margin, which is gross profit stated in
terms of a percentage of sales, improved to 62.2 percent of sales compared to 61.6 percent in fiscal 2007. The slight increase in gross margin percentage was
primarily attributable to the continuing shift toward increased training and consulting sales, as a percent of total sales, since training and consulting sales
generally have higher margins than our product sales. Training and consulting service sales increased to 53 percent of total sales during fiscal 2008 compared
to 49 percent in the prior year.
During fiscal 2008, our training and consulting services gross margin decreased to 67.6 percent compared to 68.7 percent in the prior year. The slight
decrease was primarily attributable to increased amortization of capitalized curriculum costs during the fiscal year, which was partially offset by increased
licensee royalty revenues, which have virtually no corresponding cost of sales.
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For the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008, our gross margin on product sales was 56.1 percent of sales compared to 55.0 percent in the prior year.
Operating Expenses
Selling, General and Administrative – Consolidated SG&A expenses decreased $7.9 million, or 5 percent, compared to the prior year (excluding the gain on
the sale of CSBU assets in fiscal 2008 and a gain on the sale of a manufacturing facility in fiscal 2007). The decrease in SG&A expenses was primarily due
to 1) the fiscal 2008 sale of the CSBU, which reduced CSBU SG&A expenses by $9.7 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 compared to the prior year;
2) a $1.7 million decrease in share-based compensation primarily due to the determination that no shares will be awarded under our fiscal 2006 or fiscal 2007
long-term incentive plans and the corresponding reversal of share-based compensation expense from those plans; 3) a $1.1 million decrease in bonuses and
commissions based on sales performance in the OSBU during the year; and 4) smaller decreases in SG&A spending in various other areas of our
operations. These decreases were partially offset by 1) a $2.7 million increase in associate compensation primarily resulting from the payment of awards and
bonuses subsequent to the sale of CSBU; 2) a $1.4 million increase in promotional costs in our OSBU, which were primarily comprised of increased spending
for “Greatness Summit” programs for our clients and increased spending on public programs promotional materials; 3) a $0.9 million increase in legal fees
primarily related to the EpicRealm litigation; and 4) a $0.6 million increase in retail store closure costs that were primarily incurred in connection with the
buyout of two leases.
Following the sale of the CSBU, we expect SG&A spending to decrease in fiscal 2009 compared to the corresponding periods of fiscal 2008.
Gain on Sale of CSBU Assets – During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we sold substantially all of the assets of our CSBU to Franklin Covey Products for
$32.0 million in cash, subject to adjustments for working capital on the closing date of the sale, which was effective July 6, 2008. On the date of the sale
closing, the Company invested approximately $1.8 million to purchase a 19.5 percent voting interest in Franklin Covey Products, made a $1.0 million priority
capital contribution with a 10 percent return, and will have the opportunity to earn contingent license fees if Franklin Covey Products achieves specified
performance objectives. We recognized a gain of $9.1 million on the sale of the CSBU assets and according to specific accounting guidance, we deferred a
portion of the gain equal to our investment in Franklin Covey Products. We will recognize the deferred gain over the life of the long-term assets acquired by
Franklin Covey Products or when cash is received for payment of the priority contribution. The gain on the sale of CSBU assets also includes a $3.5 million
note receivable for reimbursable transaction costs and excess working capital that is due in January 2009. The note receivable bears interest at Franklin
Covey Products’ effective borrowing rate, which was approximately 6.0 percent at August 31, 2008.
Restructuring Costs – Following the sale of our CSBU, we initiated a restructuring plan that reduces the number of our domestic regional sales offices,
decentralizes certain sales support functions, and significantly changes the operations of our Canadian subsidiary. The restructuring plan is intended to
strengthen the remaining domestic sales offices and reduce our overall operating costs. During fiscal 2008 we expensed $2.1 million for anticipated
severance costs necessary to complete the restructuring plan and we expect that the restructuring plan will be substantially completed during fiscal 2009.
Impairment of Assets – In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 we analyzed the expected future revenues and corresponding cash flows expected to be generated
from our The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People interactive program and concluded that the expected future revenues, less direct costs, were insufficient to
cover the carrying value of the capitalized development costs. Accordingly, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 we recorded a $1.5 million impairment charge
to write this program down to its net realizable value.
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Depreciation and Amortization – Consolidated depreciation expense increased to $5.7 million compared to $5.4 million in fiscal 2007. The increase in our
depreciation expense in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to the acceleration of $0.3 million of depreciation on a payroll software module that had a revision to
its estimated useful life as we decided to outsource our payroll services and an impairment charge totaling $0.3 million for software that did not function as
anticipated and was written off. Depreciation expense in the prior year also included an impairment charge totaling $0.3 million that we recorded to reduce
the carrying value of one of our printing presses to be sold to its anticipated sale price. Based upon the sale of CSBU assets and anticipated capital spending
in the remainder of fiscal 2008, we expect that total depreciation expense in future periods will decrease compared to fiscal 2008 depreciation expense
levels. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 we determined that it was appropriate to reclassify depreciation expense on our subleased corporate campus
from cost of sales to depreciation expense. The depreciation expense reclassified from product cost of sales totaled $0.7 million, $0.7 million, and $0.6
million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.
Amortization expense from definite-lived intangible assets totaled $3.6 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008 and 2007. Absent any unforeseen
intangible asset impairments, we expect that intangible asset amortization expense will total $3.6 million in fiscal 2009.
Following completion of the sale of CSBU assets, we anticipate that our consolidated operating expenses in future periods will decline compared to fiscal
2008 expense levels.
Interest Income and Expense
Interest Income – Our interest income decreased compared to the prior year primarily due to reduced cash balances compared to the prior year and a
reduction of interest rates on our depository accounts.
Interest Expense – Interest expense remained consistent with the prior year and was reflective of borrowings on our line of credit facility and payments made
on our building lease (financing obligation) during fiscal 2008.
Income Taxes
Our income tax provision for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008 and 2007 totaled $8.0 million. Our effective tax rate for fiscal 2008 of approximately 58
percent was higher than statutory combined rates primarily due to the accrual of taxable interest income on the management stock loan program and
withholding taxes on royalty income from foreign licensees. Since the Company is currently utilizing net operating loss carryforwards, we are unable to
reduce our domestic tax liability through the use of foreign tax credits, which normally result from the payment of foreign withholding taxes. However, the
utilization of domestic loss carryforwards has, and will continue to, minimize cash outflows related to domestic income taxes until they are exhausted.
On September 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an Interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109 (Fin 48), which had an immaterial impact on our financial statements. Refer to Note 17 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for further details regarding our income taxes.
Preferred Stock Dividends
Our preferred stock dividends declined $2.2 million compared to fiscal 2007. The decrease in preferred stock dividends was due to the redemption of all
remaining outstanding shares of preferred stock during the third quarter of fiscal 2007.
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FISCAL 2007 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2006
Sales
Training and Consulting Services – Our consolidated training and consulting service sales increased $15.3 million compared to the prior year and maintained
the favorable momentum in training and consulting sales that began in fiscal 2005. Training and consulting service sales performance during fiscal 2007 was
primarily influenced by the following results in our OSBU divisions:
· Domestic – Our domestic training, consulting, and related sales reported through the OSBU continued to show improvement over the prior year and
increased by $8.4 million, or 10 percent. The improvement was primarily due to the December 2006 launch of our new course, Leadership: Great
Leaders, Great Teams, Great Results and increased sales in our individual effectiveness product lines, which contain our signature course based upon
principles found in The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People. Our execution product lines, which are primarily based on our 4 Disciplines of
Execution curriculum and our Helping Clients Succeed sales training program also showed year-over-year improvements and contributed to
improved training and consulting service sales.
Generally, our training programs and consulting services continued to gain widespread acceptance in the marketplace during fiscal 2007 and all five
of our geographic regions generated increased year-over-year sales. Furthermore, the number of training and coaching days delivered increased 23
percent and the average revenue per day received increased six percent. Sales of training materials to our client facilitators also improved over the
prior year.
· International – International sales increased $8.7 million compared to fiscal 2006. Sales from our wholly-owned foreign offices and royalty
revenues from third-party licensees all grew compared to fiscal 2006. The translation of foreign sales to the United States dollar also helped to
improve reported sales and had a $0.6 million favorable impact on our consolidated sales as certain foreign currencies strengthened against the
United States dollar during the year ended August 31, 2007. Our wholly-owned subsidiary in Japan generated the largest year-over-year
improvement, and grew its revenues 12 percent, including the effects of foreign exchange, compared to the prior year.
Product Sales – Consolidated product sales declined by $9.8 million, or six percent, compared to fiscal 2006. The decline in overall product sales was
primarily due to continuing decreases in retail store sales and declining sales through our consumer direct channels when compared to prior periods. The
following is a description of sales performance in our various CSBU channels for the year ended August 31, 2007:
· Retail Sales – The $7.8 million decline in retail sales was primarily due to the impact of closed stores, reduced sales of technology and specialty
products, and decreased store traffic. Based upon various analyses, we closed certain retail store locations in late fiscal 2006 and during fiscal 2007,
which had a $4.6 million unfavorable impact on our overall retail sales in fiscal 2007. Due to declining demand for electronic handheld planning
products, we decided to exit the low margin handheld device and accessories business, which reduced retail sales by $2.1 million compared to the
prior year. For the remaining retail stores, the decline in sales was primarily due to reduced traffic, or consumers entering our retail locations. Our
retail store traffic declined by approximately 12 percent from fiscal 2006 and resulted in decreased sales of “core” products (e.g. planners, binders,
totes, and accessories) compared to the prior year. These factors combined to produce a six percent decline in year-over-year comparable store sales
in fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006. At August 31, 2007, we were operating 87 domestic retail locations compared to 89 locations at August
31, 2006.
· Consumer Direct – Sales through our consumer direct channels decreased $4.2 million, primarily due to a decline in the conversion rate of
customers visiting our website, decreased consumer traffic through the call center channel, and decreased public seminar sales. Although visits to
our
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website increased from the prior year, the conversion of those visits to sales decreased to 6.0 percent in fiscal 2007 compared from 6.8 percent in
fiscal 2006. We believe that the increase in customer visits and decrease in conversion rate is primarily a function of the increase in promotionally
oriented shoppers, or those who visit the website frequently, but only purchase when desired products are on sale. Declining consumer traffic
through the call center channel continues a long-term trend and decreased by approximately four percent, which we believe was primarily a result of
the transition of customers to our website.
· Wholesale Sales – Sales through our wholesale channel, which includes sales to office superstores and other retail chains, were up approximately
one percent over the prior year. The increase was primarily due to an increase in the number of retail outlets serviced through our wholesale channel
and increased demand for our products in those locations.
· CSBU International – This channel includes the product sales of our directly owned international offices in Canada, the United Kingdom, Mexico,
and Australia. Sales performance through these channels decreased slightly compared with the prior year. We separated the product sales operations
from the OSBU in these international locations during fiscal 2007 to utilize existing product sales and marketing expertise in an effort to improve
overall product sales performance at these offices.
· Other CSBU Sales – Other CSBU sales primarily consist of domestic printing and publishing sales and building sublease revenues. The increase in
other CSBU sales was primarily due to improved external domestic printing sales, which increased $0.4 million compared to the prior year. The
increase was due to additional printing contracts obtained during fiscal 2007. In fiscal 2007, we reported $2.1 million of sublease revenues as a
component of product sales in our consolidated financial statements compared to $1.9 million in the prior year.
Gross Profit
Our consolidated gross profit totaled $175.1 million for fiscal 2007 compared to $168.0 million in the prior year. The increase in our gross profit was
primarily attributable to increased training and consulting service sales through our OSBU. Our consolidated gross margin, which is gross profit stated in
terms of a percentage of sales, was 61.6 percent of sales compared to 60.3 percent in fiscal 2006. The improvement in gross margin was primarily attributable
to the continuing shift toward increased training and consulting sales, which generally have higher margins than the majority of our product sales. Training
and consulting service sales increased to 49 percent of total sales in fiscal 2007 compared to 44 percent in the prior year.
During fiscal 2007, our training and consulting services gross margin was 68.7 percent compared to 66.7 percent in the prior year. The improvement in
training and consulting services gross margin was primarily due to changes in the mix of training programs sold as certain programs and training courses have
higher gross margins than other programs.
Our gross margin on product sales declined slightly to 55.0 percent compared to 55.2 percent in fiscal 2006.
Operating Expenses
Selling, General, and Administrative – Our consolidated SG&A expenses increased $4.5 million, or 3 percent, compared to the prior year. The increase in
SG&A expenses consisted primarily of 1) increased associate expenses; 2) increased development costs; 3) increased legal fees; and 4) increased accounting
fees. Our associate expenses increased $3.2 million primarily due to increased commissions and bonuses on improved OSBU sales and additional OSBU
sales personnel, which totaled $2.6 million, and increased share-based compensation costs totaling $0.6 million, which was primarily attributable to
performance awards granted in fiscal 2007. We spent an additional $0.8 million for non-capitalized curriculum development to make adjustments and minor
improvements to certain programs and courses during fiscal
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2007. Our legal fees increased primarily due to the effects of a non-recurring benefit recorded in fiscal 2006 from the WMA legal settlement and increased
legal costs for ongoing litigation that had a net impact on our operating expenses totaling $0.7 million. During fiscal 2006, we were required to begin
complying with Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX 404), which resulted in $0.4 million of additional auditing and related consulting fees
in fiscal 2007 compared with the prior year. These increases in SG&A expense were partially offset by reduced costs in various other areas of the Company.
Gain on Sale of Manufacturing Facility – In August 2006, we initiated a project to reconfigure our printing operations to improve our printing services’
efficiency, reduce operating costs, and improve our printing services’ flexibility to potentially increase external printing service sales. Our reconfiguration
plan included moving our printing operations a short distance from its existing location to our corporate headquarters campus and the sale of the
manufacturing facility and certain printing presses. During fiscal 2007, we completed the sale of the manufacturing facility. The sale price was $2.5 million
and, after deducting customary closing costs, the net proceeds to the Company from the sale totaled $2.3 million in cash. The carrying value of the
manufacturing facility at the date of sale was approximately $1.1 million and we recognized a $1.2 million gain on the sale of the manufacturing facility
during the year ended August 31, 2007.
Depreciation and Amortization – Depreciation expense was essentially flat compared to the prior year. During recent fiscal years our depreciation expense
has declined due to the full depreciation or disposal of certain property and equipment (including retail stores) and the effects of significantly reduced capital
expenditures. However, these declines stabilized during fiscal 2007 primarily due to increased capital expenditures for property and equipment and an
impairment charge totaling $0.3 million that we recorded during fiscal 2007 to reduce the carrying value of one of our printing presses that was sold to its
anticipated sale price.
Amortization expense from definite-lived intangible assets totaled $3.6 million compared to $3.8 million in fiscal 2006. The decrease was due to certain
intangible assets becoming fully depreciated during the first two quarters of fiscal 2006.
Interest Income and Expense
Interest Income – Our interest income decreased by $0.6 million primarily due to reduced cash and cash equivalents held during the third and fourth quarters
of fiscal 2007. During the third quarter of fiscal 2007, we used substantially all of our available cash on hand combined with proceeds from a newly acquired
line of credit to redeem the remaining outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock.
Interest Expense – Interest expense increased $0.5 million compared to the prior year primarily due to line of credit borrowings that were used in conjunction
with available cash to redeem the remaining shares of preferred stock in the third quarter of fiscal 2007.
Income Taxes
Our income tax provision for fiscal 2007 totaled $8.0 million compared to a tax benefit of $14.9 million in fiscal 2006. The comparability of our fiscal 2007
income tax expense was primarily affected by the determination during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 to reverse substantially all of the valuation
allowances on our deferred income tax assets. Prior to the reversal of these valuation allowances, our income tax provisions were affected by reductions in
our deferred income tax valuation allowance as we utilized net operating loss carryforwards. The fiscal 2006 income tax provision was further reduced by the
reversal of tax contingency reserves during the third quarter of that year. No material corresponding reversals of valuation allowance or tax contingency
reserves occurred during fiscal 2007. Our effective tax rate for the year ended August 31, 2007 of approximately 51 percent was higher than statutory
combined rates primarily due to the accrual of taxable interest income on the management stock loan program and withholding taxes on royalty income from
foreign licensees. Since the Company is
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currently utilizing net operating loss carryforwards, we are unable to reduce our domestic tax liability through the use of foreign tax credits, which normally
result from the payment of foreign withholding taxes.
Preferred Stock Dividends
Our preferred stock dividends totaled $2.2 million for fiscal 2007 compared to $4.4 million during the prior year. The decrease in preferred stock dividends
was due to fiscal 2006 preferred stock redemptions totaling $20.0 million and the redemption of all remaining outstanding shares of preferred stock during the
third quarter of fiscal 2007.

QUARTERLY RESULTS
The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly consolidated financial data for the years ended August 31, 2008 and 2007. The quarterly
consolidated financial data reflects, in the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary to fairly present the results of operations for such periods. The
information presented in the following table includes the reclassification of depreciation expense on our subleased property from cost of sales to depreciation
expense as previously discussed. Results of any one or more quarters are not necessarily indicative of continuing trends.
Quarterly Financial Information:
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
2008
December 1
In thousands, except per share
amounts
Net sales
$
Gross profit
Selling, general, and
administrative expense
Gain on sale of consumer
solutions business unit
Restructuring costs
Impairment of assets
Depreciation
Amortization
Income (loss) from operations
Income (loss) before income
taxes
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share
available to common
shareholders:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

March 1

May 31

August 31

73,574 $
46,127

75,127 $
46,870

59,061 $
35,939

52,330
32,853

38,771

37,652

34,210

30,685

1,380
899
5,077

1,532
901
6,785

1,679
902
(852)

(9,131)
2,064
1,483
1,101
901
5,750

4,176
2,059

6,039
3,082

(1,522)
(1,511)

5,141
2,218

.11 $
.10 $

.16 $
.16 $

(.09) $
(.09) $

.11
.11

YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
2007
December 2
In thousands, except per share
amounts
Net sales
$
Gross profit
Selling, general, and
administrative expense
Gain on sale of manufacturing
facility
Depreciation
Amortization
Income from operations
Income before income taxes
Net income
Preferred stock dividends
Income available to common
shareholders
Earnings per share available to
common shareholders:
Basic
$
Diluted
$

March 3

June 2

August 31

75,530 $
46,573

76,876 $
47,364

64,509 $
39,811

67,210
41,330

40,849

36,666

35,287

36,418

1,212
902
3,610
3,150
1,416
(934)

(1,227)
1,541
900
9,484
9,166
4,714
(934)

1,235
906
2,383
1,640
887
(348)

482

3,780

539

612

.03 $
.03 $

.03
.03

.02 $
.02 $

.19 $
.19 $
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Our quarterly results of operations reflect seasonal trends that are primarily the result of customers who renew their FranklinCovey Planners on a calendar
year basis. Domestic training sales are moderately seasonal because of the timing of corporate training, which is not typically scheduled as heavily during
holiday and vacation periods.
The fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 reflects the sale of CSBU assets, which reduced sales and corresponding costs associated with the operations of the
CSBU. We recognized a $9.1 million gain on the sale of the CSBU assets, which had a favorable impact on that period’s operating results. In future periods
we expect that our quarterly sales will be less seasonal since they will not include product sales that are sold primarily during November, December, and
January.
Quarterly fluctuations may also be affected by other factors including the introduction of new offerings, the addition of new organizational customers, and the
elimination of underperforming offerings.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Summary
At August 31, 2008 we had $15.9 million of cash and cash equivalents compared to $6.1 million at August 31, 2007 and our net working capital (current
assets less current liabilities) decreased to $5.8 million at August 31, 2008 compared to $8.9 million at August 31, 2007. Our net working capital at August
31, 2008 was affected by proceeds received from the sale of CSBU assets during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, which impacted available cash and other
remaining assets and liabilities, and the completion of a modified “Dutch auction” tender offer near the end of the fiscal year that required us to record a $28.2
million current liability at August 31, 2008 for shares of our common stock acquired through the tender offer. The obligation for the shares acquired through
the tender offer was paid subsequent to August 31, 2008.
Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from the sale of services in the normal course of business and proceeds from our $25.0 million revolving line
of credit. In connection with the sale of the CSBU assets during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, our line of credit agreements with our previous lenders were
modified (the Modified Credit Agreement). The Modified Credit Agreement removed one lender from the credit facility, but continues to provide a total of
$25.0 million of borrowing capacity until June 30, 2009, when the borrowing capacity will be reduced to $15.0 million. In addition, the interest rate on the
credit facility increased from LIBOR plus 1.10 percent to LIBOR plus 1.50 percent (4.0 percent at August 31, 2008), which was effective on the date of the
modification agreement. The fiscal 2007 line of credit obligation was classified as a component of current liabilities primarily due to our intention to repay
amounts outstanding before the agreement expires. The Modified Credit Agreement expires on March 14, 2010 (no change) and we may draw on the credit
facilities, repay, and draw again, on a revolving basis, up to the maximum loan amount available so long as no event of default has occurred and is
continuing. We may use the line of credit facility for general corporate purposes as well as for other transactions, unless prohibited by the terms of the
Modified Credit Agreement. The working capital line of credit also contains customary representations and guarantees as well as provisions for repayment
and liens.
In addition to customary non-financial terms and conditions, our line of credit requires us to be in compliance with specified financial covenants, including:
(i) a funded debt to earnings ratio; (ii) a fixed charge coverage ratio; (iii) a limitation on annual capital expenditures; and (iv) a defined amount of minimum
net worth. In the event of noncompliance with these financial covenants and other defined events of default, the lenders are entitled to certain remedies,
including acceleration of the repayment of
36

Table of Contents

amounts outstanding on the line of credit. During fiscal 2008, we believe that we were in compliance with the terms and financial covenants of our credit
facilities. At August 31, 2008, we did not have any borrowings outstanding on the line of credit.
During fiscal 2008, many banks in the United States and in foreign countries experienced financial and solvency difficulties that lead to significant reductions
in the amount of available credit in the general market. We believe that the lender on our line of credit facility is financially sound and we expect to be able to
borrow available amounts on the line of credit. However, the availability of cash from our line of credit lender is not within our control and additional
borrowings may not be available in future periods.
In addition to our $25.0 million line of credit, we have a long-term variable rate mortgage on our Canadian building and a long-term lease on our corporate
campus that is accounted for as a long-term financing obligation.
The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the past three years (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Total cash provided
by (used for):
Operating activities $
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of exchange
rates on cash
Increase (decrease) in
cash and cash
equivalents
$

2008

2007

7,828 $
18,520
(16,159)

13,358 $
(11,480)
(26,376)

(411)

9,778 $

37

(24,461) $

2006

17,009
(8,267)
(29,903)
58

(21,103)

The following discussion is a description of the primary factors affecting our cash flows and their effects upon our liquidity and capital resources during the
fiscal year ended August 31, 2008.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Our primary source of cash from operating activities was the sale of goods and services to our customers in the normal course of business. The primary uses
of cash for operating activities were payments to suppliers for materials used in products sold, payments for direct costs necessary to conduct training
programs, and payments for selling, general, and administrative expenses. Our cash flows from operating activities were unfavorably affected by cash spent
to complete the CSBU asset sale and on behalf of Franklin Covey Products, which generated a $7.7 million receivable that is expected to be substantially
collected by January 2009, a $7.2 million increase in our accounts receivable resulting primarily from seasonally heavy training product sales in August of
each year, and a $1.5 million decrease in our accounts payable and accrued liabilities. However, these uses of cash were partially offset by cash generated
through a $7.1 million decrease in other assets and a $2.9 million decrease in our inventories. Following the sale of the CSBU in fiscal 2008, we expect that
our seasonal fluctuations in cash used for and provided by operating activities will stabilize since we will not be required to purchase and accumulate
inventory for seasonally busy product sales months of November, December, and January.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities and Capital Expenditures
Our cash flows provided by investing activities were primarily affected by cash received from the sale of CSBU assets in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008,
which totaled $28.2 million net of transaction costs and cash transferred to Franklin Covey Products. Our primary uses of cash for investing activities were
purchases of property and equipment totaling $4.2 million and expenditures for curriculum development totaling $4.0 million. Purchases of property and
equipment consisted primarily of payments for new computer hardware, new computer software, and leasehold improvements in relocated retail stores (prior
to the sale of CSBU assets) and for subleases on our corporate campus facility. We also invested $2.8 million in Franklin Covey Products to purchase
ownership rights and for a $1.0 million priority contribution.
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During fiscal 2009, we expect to spend $2.3 million on purchases of property and equipment and $1.4 million on curriculum development
activities. Purchases of property and equipment are expected to consist primarily of new computer software, computer hardware, and in other areas as
deemed necessary. However, actual capital spending is based upon a variety of factors and may differ from these estimates.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Our primary use and source of cash flows for financing activities were payments made and proceeds obtained from our $25.0 million line of credit
facility. Primarily as a result of the sale of CSBU assets in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we were able to repay amounts outstanding on our line of credit,
which totaled $16.0 million during fiscal 2008. In addition to payments on our line of credit, we made principal payments totaling $0.6 million on our longterm debt and financing obligation and received payments totaling $0.5 million from sales of our common stock, which primarily consisted of proceeds
received from participants in our employee stock purchase plan.
As previously mentioned, we completed a tender offer for shares of our common stock near the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and recorded a $28.2
million current liability for the shares acquired. We paid for the shares acquired through the tender offer subsequent to August 31, 2008.
Sources of Liquidity
Going forward, we will continue to incur costs necessary for the operation and potential growth of the business. We anticipate using cash on hand, cash
provided by the sale of goods and services to our clients on the condition that we can continue to generate positive cash flows from operating activities,
proceeds from our line of credit, and other financing alternatives, if necessary, for these expenditures. We anticipate that our existing capital resources should
be adequate to enable us to maintain our operations for at least the upcoming twelve months. However, our ability to maintain adequate capital for our
operations in the future is dependent upon a number of factors, including sales trends, our ability to contain costs, purchases of our common stock, levels of
capital expenditures, collection of accounts receivable, and other factors. Some of the factors that influence our operations are not within our control, such as
economic conditions and the introduction of new technology and products by our competitors. We will continue to monitor our liquidity position and may
pursue additional financing alternatives, if required, to maintain sufficient resources for future growth and capital requirements. However, there can be no
assurance such financing alternatives will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.
Contractual Obligations
The Company has not structured any special purpose or variable interest entities, or participated in any commodity trading activities, which would expose us
to potential undisclosed liabilities or create adverse consequences to our liquidity. Required contractual payments primarily consist of lease payments
resulting from the sale of our corporate campus (financing obligation); payments to EDS for outsourcing services related to information systems,
warehousing, and distribution services; minimum rent payments for office and warehouse space; mortgage payments on certain buildings and property; and
short-term purchase obligations for inventory items and other products and services used in the ordinary course of business. Our expected payments on these
obligations over the next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):
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Contractual Obligations
Required lease payments on
corporate campus
$
Minimum required payments to
EDS for outsourcing
services(1)
Minimum operating lease
payments(2)
Tender offer obligation(3)
Long-term mortgage
payments(4)
Purchase obligations
Total expected contractual
obligation payments
$

Fiscal
2009
3,045

Fiscal
2010
$

3,055

Fiscal
2011
$

Fiscal
2012

3,116

$

3,178

Fiscal
2013
$

3,242

Thereafter
$

43,537

Total
$

59,173

4,138

4,138

4,138

4,138

4,138

11,246

31,936

1,671
28,222

1,620
-

1,608
-

1,517
-

1,178
-

3,427
-

11,021
28,222

136
4,564

131
-

126
-

121
-

116
-

154
-

784
4,564

41,776

$

8,944

$

8,988

$

8,954

$

8,674

$

58,364

$

135,700

(1)

Our obligation for outsourcing services contains an annual escalation based upon changes in the Employment Cost Index, the impact of which
was not estimated in the above table. We are also contractually allowed to collect amounts from Franklin Covey Products that reduce the
amounts shown in the table above.

(2)

The operating agreement with Franklin Covey Products provides for reimbursement of a portion of the warehouse leasing costs, the impact of
which is not included in the lease obligations in the table above.

(3)

We completed a tender offer for shares of our common stock near the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and recorded a $28.2 million
current liability for the shares acquired. We paid for the shares acquired through the tender offer subsequent to August 31, 2008.

(4)

Our long-term variable-rate mortgage obligation includes interest payments at 4.8 percent, which was the applicable interest rate at August 31,
2008.

Our contractual obligations presented above exclude unrecognized tax benefits under FIN 48 of $4.2 million for which we cannot make a reasonably reliable
estimate of the amount and period of payment. For further information regarding the adoption of FIN 48, refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements as presented in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.
Other Items
The Company is the creditor for a loan program that provided the capital to allow certain management personnel the opportunity to purchase shares of our
common stock. For further information regarding our management common stock loan program, refer to the notes to our consolidated financial statements as
found in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K. The inability of the Company to collect all, or a portion, of these receivables could have an adverse impact upon
our financial position and future cash flows compared to full collection of the loans.

USE OF ESTIMATES AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The
significant accounting polices that we used to prepare our consolidated financial statements are outlined in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which are presented in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of those accounting policies require us to make assumptions and use
judgments that may affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements. Management regularly evaluates its estimates and assumptions and
bases those estimates and assumptions on historical experience, factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, and requirements under
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions, including changes in economic and political conditions and other circumstances that are not in our control, but which may have an impact on these
estimates and our actual financial results.
The following items require the most significant judgment and often involve complex estimates:
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Revenue Recognition
We derive revenues primarily from the following sources:
· Training and Consulting Services – We provide training and consulting services to both organizations and individuals in leadership, productivity,
strategic execution, goal alignment, sales force performance, and communication effectiveness skills. These training programs and services are
primarily sold through our OSBU channels.
· Products – We sold planners, binders, planner accessories, handheld electronic devices, and other related products that were primarily sold through
our CSBU channels prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.
We recognize revenue in accordance with SAB No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, as amended by SAB No. 104, Revenue
Recognition. Accordingly, we recognize revenue when: 1) persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, 2) delivery of product has occurred or services have
been rendered, 3) the price to the customer is fixed or determinable, and 4) collectibility is reasonably assured. For product sales, these conditions are
generally met upon shipment of the product to the customer or by completion of the sales transaction in a retail store. For training and service sales, these
conditions are generally met upon presentation of the training seminar or delivery of the consulting services.
Some of our training and consulting contracts contain multiple deliverable elements that include training along with other products and services. For
transactions that contain more than one element, we recognize revenue in accordance with EITF Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables. When fair value exists for all contracted elements, the overall contract consideration is allocated among the separate units of
accounting based upon their relative fair values. Revenue for these units is recognized in accordance with our general revenue policies once it has been
determined that the delivered items have standalone value to the customer. If fair value does not exist for all contracted elements, revenue for the delivered
items is recognized using the residual method, which generally means that revenue recognition is postponed until the point is reached when the delivered
items have standalone value and fair value exists for the undelivered items. Under the residual method, the amount of revenue considered for recognition
under our general revenue policies is the total contract amount, less the aggregate fair value of the undelivered items. Fair value of the undelivered items is
based upon the normal pricing practices for our existing training programs, consulting services, and other products, which are generally the prices of the items
when sold separately.
Our international strategy includes the use of licensees in countries where we do not have a wholly-owned operation. Licensee companies are unrelated
entities that have been granted a license to translate our content and curriculum, adapt the content and curriculum to the local culture, and sell our training
seminars and products in a specific country or region. Licensees are required to pay us royalties based upon a percentage of the licensee’s sales. We
recognize royalty income each period based upon the sales information reported to the Company from the licensee. Royalty revenue is reported as a
component of training and consulting service sales in our consolidated income statements.
Revenue is recognized on software sales in accordance with SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition as amended by SOP 98-09. Statement 97-2, as
amended, generally requires revenue earned on software arrangements involving multiple elements such as software products and support to be allocated to
each element based on the relative fair value of the elements based on vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE). The majority of the Company’s software
sales have multiple elements, including a license and post contract customer support (PCS). Currently we do not have VSOE for either the license or support
elements of our software sales. Accordingly, revenue is deferred until the only undelivered element is PCS and the total arrangement fee is recognized over
the support period.
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Revenue is recognized as the net amount to be received after deducting estimated amounts for discounts and product returns.
Share-Based Compensation
During fiscal 2006, we granted performance-based compensation awards to certain employees in a Board of Director approved long-term incentive plan (the
LTIP). These performance-based share awards allow each participant the right to receive a certain number of shares of common stock based upon the
achievement of specified financial goals at the end of a predetermined performance period. The LTIP awards vest on August 31 of the third fiscal year from
the grant date, which corresponds to the completion of a three-year performance cycle. For example, the LTIP awards granted in fiscal 2006 vest on August
31, 2008. The number of shares that are finally awarded to LTIP participants is variable and is based entirely upon the achievement of a combination of
performance objectives related to sales growth and cumulative operating income during the performance period. Due to the variable number of shares that
may be issued under the LTIP, we reevaluated the LTIP grants on a quarterly basis and adjust the number of shares expected to be awarded for each grant
based upon financial results of the Company as compared to the performance goals set for the award. Adjustments to the number of shares awarded, and to
the corresponding compensation expense, are based upon estimated future performance and are made on a cumulative basis at the date of adjustment based
upon the probable number of shares to be awarded.
The Compensation Committee initially granted awards for 378,665 shares (the Target Award) of common stock under the LTIP during fiscal 2006. However,
based upon actual financial performance through December 1, 2007 and estimated performance through the remaining service period of the fiscal 2006 LTIP
grant, the Company determined that no shares of common stock would be awarded under the terms of the fiscal 2006 LTIP grant. We determined that our
anticipated sales growth in training and consulting sales would be insufficient to offset forecast product sales declines, which were revised using actual
product sales levels late in our first fiscal quarter and early second fiscal quarter, and the impact of eliminated sales resulting from the disposal and conversion
of our subsidiary in Brazil and our training operations in Mexico to licensees. Although we expected sufficient levels of cumulative operating income to be
recognized for the fiscal 2006 award, anticipated sales growth was below the minimum 7.5 percent threshold for shares to be awarded under the plan. As a
result of this determination, we recorded a cumulative adjustment in the quarter ended December 1, 2007 that reduced our selling, general, and administrative
expenses by $0.7 million and no compensation expense was recognized from the fiscal 2006 LTIP award during the quarters ended March 1, 2008, May 31,
2008, or August 31, 2008. The fiscal 2006 LTIP award expired on August 31, 2008 with no shares granted under this award.
During fiscal 2007, the Compensation Committee granted performance awards for 429,312 shares of common stock under the terms of the LTIP. The
Company must achieve minimum levels of sales growth and cumulative operating income in order for participants to receive any shares under the fiscal 2007
LTIP grant. The minimum sales growth for the fiscal 2007 LTIP was 10.0 percent (fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2007) and the minimum cumulative
operating income total during the service period was $41.3 million. We recorded compensation expense on the fiscal 2007 LTIP using a 5 percent estimated
forfeiture rate during the vesting period. However, the total amount of compensation expense recorded for the fiscal 2007 LTIP would have equaled the
number of shares awarded multiplied by $5.78 per share.
Based upon our assessment of the fiscal 2007 LTIP at May 31, 2008, we determined that no shares of common stock would be awarded to participants under
the terms of the fiscal 2007 LTIP grant. Consistent with the analysis of the fiscal 2006 LTIP grant, we expected sufficient levels of operating income to be
recognized for the fiscal 2007 award, but expected sales growth was determined to be insufficient for any shares to be awarded under this plan. The revised
sales projections included actual performance through May 31, 2008 and estimated sales performance through fiscal 2009 based upon revised assumptions,
which were adversely affected by slowing economic conditions in the United States and other countries in which the Company has operations. As a result of
this determination, we recorded cumulative adjustments totaling $0.6 million to reduce selling, general, and administrative expenses
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during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008. We do not expect any shares to vest under the terms of the fiscal 2007 LTIP award.
The analysis of our LTIP plans contained uncertainties because we were required to make assumptions and judgments about the eventual number of shares
that would vest in each LTIP grant. The assumptions and judgments that are essential to the analysis include forecasted sales and operating income levels
during the LTIP service periods. The evaluation of LTIP performance awards and corresponding use of estimated amounts produced additional volatility in
our consolidated financial statements as we recorded cumulative adjustments to the estimated number of common shares to be awarded under the LTIP grants
as described above.
We estimate the value of our stock option awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. However, the Company did not grant
any stock options during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, or 2006, and we did not have any remaining unrecognized compensation expense
associated with unvested stock options at August 31, 2008.
Accounts Receivable Valuation
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents our best estimate of
the amount of probable credit losses in the existing accounts receivable balance. We determine the allowance for doubtful accounts based upon historical
write-off experience and current economic conditions and we review the adequacy of our allowance for doubtful accounts on a regular basis. Receivable
balances over 90 days past due, which exceed a specified dollar amount, are reviewed individually for collectibility. Account balances are charged off against
the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the probability for recovery is considered remote. We do not have any off-balance sheet
credit exposure related to our customers.
Our allowance for doubtful accounts calculations contain uncertainties because the calculations require us to make assumptions and judgments regarding the
collectibility of customer accounts, which may be influenced by a number of factors that are not within our control, such as the financial health of each
customer. We regularly review the collectibility assumptions of our allowance for doubtful accounts calculation and compare them against historical
collections. Adjustments to the assumptions may either increase or decrease our total allowance for doubtful accounts. For example, a 10 percent increase to
our allowance for doubtful accounts at August 31, 2008 would reduce our reported income from operations by approximately $0.1 million.
Inventory Valuation
At August 31, 2008, following the sale of our CSBU, our inventories were comprised primarily of training materials and related accessories. Inventories are
stated at the lower of cost or market with cost determined using the first-in, first-out method. Inventories are reduced to their fair market value through the
use of inventory loss reserves, which are recorded during the normal course of business.
Our inventory loss reserve calculations contain uncertainties because the calculations require us to make assumptions and judgments regarding a number of
factors, including future inventory demand requirements and pricing strategies. During the evaluation process we consider historical sales patterns and
current sales trends, but these may not be indicative of future inventory losses. While we have not made material changes to our inventory reserves
methodology during the past three years, our inventory requirements may change based on projected customer demand, technological and product life cycle
changes, longer or shorter than expected usage periods, and other factors that could affect the valuation of our inventories. If our estimates regarding
consumer demand and other factors are inaccurate, we may be exposed to losses that may have a materially adverse impact upon our financial position and
results of operations. For instance, a 10 percent increase in our inventory loss reserves at August 31, 2008 would reduce our income from operations by
approximately $0.1 million.
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Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
Intangible assets that are deemed to have an indefinite life are not amortized, but rather are tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more often if events
or circumstances indicate that a potential impairment exists. The Covey trade name intangible asset has been deemed to have an indefinite life. This
intangible asset is assigned to the OSBU and is tested for impairment using the present value of estimated royalties on trade name related revenues, which
consist primarily of training seminars, international licensee royalties, and related products. If the carrying value of the Covey trade name exceeds the fair
value of its discounted estimated royalties on trade name related revenues, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference. The adjusted basis becomes
the carrying value until a future impairment assessment determines that additional impairment charges are necessary.
Our impairment evaluation calculation for the Covey trade name contains uncertainties because it requires us to make assumptions and apply judgment in
order to estimate future cash flows, to estimate an appropriate royalty rate, and to select a discount rate that reflects the inherent risk of future cash flows. Our
valuation methodology for the Covey trade name was developed by an independent valuation firm and has remained materially unchanged during the past
three years. However, if forecasts and assumptions used to support the carrying value of our indefinite-lived intangible asset change in future periods,
significant impairment charges could result that would have an adverse effect upon our results of operations and financial condition. Based upon the fiscal
2008 evaluation of the Covey trade name, our trade-name related revenues and licensee royalties would have to suffer significant reductions before we would
be required to impair the Covey trade name.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived tangible assets and definite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. We use an estimate of undiscounted future net cash flows of the assets over their remaining
useful lives in determining whether the carrying value of the assets is recoverable. If the carrying values of the assets exceed the anticipated future cash flows
of the assets, we calculate an impairment loss. The impairment loss calculation compares the carrying value of the asset to the asset’s estimated fair value,
which may be based upon discounted cash flows over the estimated remaining useful life of the asset. If we recognize an impairment loss, the adjusted
carrying amount of the asset becomes its new cost basis, which is then depreciated or amortized over the remaining useful life of the asset. Impairment of
long-lived assets is assessed at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows that are independent from other groups of assets.
Our impairment evaluation calculations contain uncertainties because they require us to make assumptions and apply judgment in order to estimate future
cash flows, forecast the useful lives of the assets, and select a discount rate that reflects the risk inherent in future cash flows. Although we have not made
any material changes to our long-lived assets impairment assessment methodology during the past three years, if forecasts and assumptions used to support
the carrying value of our long-lived tangible and definite-lived intangible assets change in the future, significant impairment charges could result that would
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Income Taxes
We regularly evaluate our United States federal and various state and foreign jurisdiction income tax exposures. On September 1, 2007, we adopted the
provisions of FIN 48, which addresses the determination of whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the
financial statements. Under the provisions of FIN 48, we may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that
the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the
financial statements from such a position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon final
settlement. The provisions of FIN 48 also provide guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest, and penalties on income taxes,
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accounting for income taxes in interim periods, and requires increased disclosure of various income tax items. Taxes and penalties are components of our
overall income tax provision. Prior to the adoption of FIN 48, interest on income tax items was recorded as a component of consolidated interest
expense. Beginning on September 1, 2007, in conjunction with the adoption of FIN 48, interest on income taxes is included as a component of overall
income tax expense.
The Company records previously unrecognized tax benefits in the financial statements when it becomes more likely than not (greater than a 50 percent
likelihood) that the tax position will be sustained. To assess the probability of sustaining a tax position, the Company considers all available evidence. In
many instances, sufficient positive evidence may not be available until the expiration of the statute of limitations for audits by taxing jurisdictions, at which
time the entire benefit will be recognized as a discrete item in the applicable period.
Our unrecognized tax benefits result from uncertain tax positions about which we are required to make assumptions and apply judgment to estimate the
exposures associated with our various tax filing positions. The calculation of our income tax provision or benefit, as applicable, requires estimates of future
taxable income or losses. During the course of the fiscal year, these estimates are compared to actual financial results and adjustments may be made to our
tax provision or benefit to reflect these revised estimates. Our effective income tax rate is also affected by changes in tax law and the results of tax audits by
various jurisdictions. Although we believe that our judgments and estimates discussed herein are reasonable, actual results could differ, and we could be
exposed to losses or gains that could be material.
We regularly assess the need for valuation allowances against our deferred income tax assets, considering recent profitability, known trends and events, and
expected future transactions. For several years prior to the year ended August 31, 2006, our history of significant operating losses precluded us from
demonstrating that it was more likely than not that the related benefits from deferred income tax deductions and foreign tax carryforwards would be
realized. Accordingly, we recorded valuation allowances on the majority of our deferred income tax assets.
In fiscal 2006 we reversed the majority of these valuation allowances. Due to improved operating performance, business models, and expectations regarding
future taxable income, the Company has concluded that it is more likely than not that the benefits of domestic operating loss carryforwards, together with the
benefits of other deferred income tax assets will be realized. Thus, we reversed the valuation allowances on certain of our domestic deferred income tax
assets, except for $2.2 million related to foreign tax credits. However, events and circumstances may change in future periods, requiring us to record
valuation allowances on our deferred income tax assets. These deferred tax valuation allowances could have a material impact upon our reported financial
position and results of operations.

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ISSUED NOT YET ADOPTED
Fair Value Measures – In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measures. This statement establishes a single authoritative definition
of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and requires additional disclosures about fair-value measurements. Statement No. 157 only
applies to fair-value measurements that are already required or permitted by other accounting standards except for measurements of share-based payments and
measurements that are similar to, but not intended to be, fair value. This statement is effective for the specified fair value measures for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and will thus be effective for the Company in fiscal 2009. We have not yet completed our analysis
of the impact of SFAS No. 157 on our financial statements.
Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. Statement No.159 permits entities to choose to measure many
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financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The provisions of SFAS No. 159 will become effective for the Company in fiscal 2009 and we
have not yet completed our analysis of the impact of SFAS No. 159 on our financial statements.
Business Combinations – In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations (SFAS No. 141R) and SFAS No. 160,
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements. These standards aim to improve, simplify, and converge internationally the accounting for
business combinations and the reporting of noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. The provisions of SFAS No. 141R and SFAS No.
160 are effective for our fiscal year beginning September 1, 2009. We do not currently anticipate that these statements will have a material impact upon our
financial condition or results of operations.
Derivatives Disclosures – In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Statement No.
161 is intended to improve financial reporting about derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors to
better understand their effects on an entity's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. The provisions of SFAS No. 161 are effective for our
third quarter of fiscal 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the provisions of SFAS No. 161, but due to our limited use of derivative
instruments we do not currently anticipate that the provisions of SFAS No. 161 will have a material impact on our financial statements.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE
The Company is registered in states in which we do business that have a sales tax and collects and remits sales or use tax on retail sales made through its
stores and catalog sales. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations has not had a material effect on our operations.

INFLATION AND CHANGING PRICES
Inflation has not had a material effect on our operations. However, future inflation may have an impact on the price of materials used in the production of
training products and related accessories, including paper and related raw materials. We may not be able to pass on such increased costs to our customers.

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995
Certain written and oral statements made by the Company in this report are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended (the Exchange Act). Forward-looking statements
include, without limitation, any statement that may predict, forecast, indicate, or imply future results, performance, or achievements, and may contain words
such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “project,” or words or phrases of similar meaning. In our reports and filings we may make forward
looking statements regarding future training and consulting sales activity, anticipated expenses, projected cost reduction and strategic initiatives, our
expectations about the effect of the sale of the CSBU on our business, our expectations about our restructuring plan, expected levels of depreciation expense,
expectations regarding tangible and intangible asset valuation expenses, the seasonality of future sales, the seasonal fluctuations in cash used for and provided
by operating activities, expected improvements in cash flows from operating activities, the adequacy of our existing capital resources, future compliance with
the terms and conditions of our line of credit, the ability to borrow on our line of credit, expected repayment of our line of credit in future periods, estimated
capital expenditures, the adequacy of our existing capital resources, and cash flow estimates used to determine the fair value of long-lived assets. These, and
other forward-looking statements, are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking
statements.
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These risks and uncertainties are disclosed from time to time in reports filed by us with the SEC, including reports on Forms 8-K, 10-Q, and 10-K. Such risks
and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the matters discussed in Item 1A of this report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008,
entitled “Risk Factors.” In addition, such risks and uncertainties may include unanticipated developments in any one or more of the following
areas: unanticipated costs or capital expenditures; difficulties encountered by EDS in operating and maintaining our information systems and controls,
including without limitation, the systems related to demand and supply planning, inventory control, and order fulfillment; delays or unanticipated outcomes
relating to our strategic plans; dependence on existing products or services; the rate and consumer acceptance of new product introductions; competition; the
number and nature of customers and their product orders, including changes in the timing or mix of product or training orders; pricing of our products and
services and those of competitors; adverse publicity; and other factors which may adversely affect our business.
The risks included here are not exhaustive. Other sections of this report may include additional factors that could adversely affect our business and financial
performance. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risk factors may emerge and it is not possible for our
management to predict all such risk factors, nor can we assess the impact of all such risk factors on our business or the extent to which any single factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties,
investors should not rely on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.
The market price of our common stock has been and may remain volatile. In addition, the stock markets in general have experienced increased
volatility. Factors such as quarter-to-quarter variations in revenues and earnings or losses and our failure to meet expectations could have a significant impact
on the market price of our common stock. In addition, the price of our common stock can change for reasons unrelated to our performance. Due to our low
market capitalization, the price of our common stock may also be affected by conditions such as a lack of analyst coverage and fewer potential investors.
Forward-looking statements are based on management’s expectations as of the date made, and the Company does not undertake any responsibility to update
any of these statements in the future except as required by law. Actual future performance and results will differ and may differ materially from that
contained in or suggested by forward-looking statements as a result of the factors set forth in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations and elsewhere in our filings with the SEC.

ITEM 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk of Financial Instruments
We are exposed to financial instrument market risk primarily through fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. To manage risks
associated with foreign currency exchange and interest rates, we make limited use of derivative financial instruments. Derivatives are financial instruments
that derive their value from one or more underlying financial instruments. As a matter of policy, our derivative instruments are entered into for periods
consistent with the related underlying exposures and do not constitute positions that are independent of those exposures. In addition, we do not enter into
derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes, nor are we party to any leveraged derivative instrument. The notional amounts of derivatives do not
represent actual amounts exchanged by the parties to the instrument, and, thus, are not a measure of exposure to us through our use of
derivatives. Additionally, we enter into derivative agreements only with highly rated counterparties and we do not expect to incur any losses resulting from
non-performance by other parties.
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Foreign Exchange Sensitivity
Due to the global nature of our operations, we are subject to risks associated with transactions that are denominated in currencies other than the United States
dollar, as well as the effects of translating amounts denominated in foreign currencies to United States dollars as a normal part of the reporting process. The
objective of our foreign currency risk management activities is to reduce foreign currency risk in the consolidated financial statements. In order to manage
foreign currency risks, we make limited use of foreign currency forward contracts and other foreign currency related derivative instruments. Although we
cannot eliminate all aspects of our foreign currency risk, we believe that our strategy, which includes the use of derivative instruments, can reduce the impacts
of foreign currency related issues on our consolidated financial statements. The following is a description of our use of foreign currency derivative
instruments.
Foreign Currency Forward Contracts – During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, we utilized foreign currency forward contracts to
manage the volatility of certain intercompany financing transactions and other transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies. Because these
contracts do not meet specific hedge accounting requirements, gains and losses on these contracts, which expire on a quarterly basis, are recognized currently
and are used to offset a portion of the gains or losses of the related accounts. The gains and losses on these contracts were recorded as a component of SG&A
expense in our consolidated income statements and had the following net impact on the periods indicated (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Losses on foreign
exchange
contracts
Gains on foreign
exchange
contracts
Net gain (loss) on
foreign
exchange contracts

$

2008

2007

2006

(487) $

(249) $

(346)

36

$

119

(451) $

415

(130) $

69

At August 31, 2008, the fair value of these contracts, which was determined using the estimated amount at which contracts could be settled based upon
forward market exchange rates, approximated the notional amounts of the contracts due to the proximity of the end of the contract to our fiscal year end on
August 31, 2008. The notional amounts of our foreign currency sell contracts that did not qualify for hedge accounting were as follows at August 31, 2008
(in thousands):

Contract Description
British Pounds
Japanese Yen
Australian Dollars

Notional
Amount in
Foreign
Currency

Notional
Amount in U.S.
Dollars

450 $
27,000
125

809
254
117

Interest Rate Sensitivity
The Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates primarily due to our line of credit borrowings and long-term mortgage obligation in Canada. At
August 31, 2008, our debt obligations consisted primarily of a long-term lease agreement (financing obligation) associated with the sale of our corporate
headquarters facility, a variable-rate line of credit arrangement, and a variable rate long-term mortgage on certain of our buildings and property in
Canada. The addition of the variable-rate line of credit in fiscal 2007 increased our interest rate sensitivity and in the future our overall interest rate sensitivity
will be influenced by the amounts borrowed on the line of credit and the prevailing interest rates, which may create additional expense if interest rates
increase in future periods. The financing obligation has a payment structure equivalent to a long-term leasing arrangement with a fixed interest rate of 7.7
percent.
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The line of credit had a weighted average interest rate of 6.6 percent at August 31, 2007 and our variable-rate mortgage has interest charged at the Canadian
Prime Rate (4.8 percent at August 31, 2008) and requires payments through January 2015. At borrowing levels following the payment of the $28.2 million
tender offer obligation, a one percent increase to the interest rates on our variable rate line of credit and mortgage obligation would increase our interest
expense over the next year by approximately $0.2 million.
During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, we were not party to any interest rate swap agreements or similar derivative instruments.
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ITEM 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Franklin Covey Co.:
We have audited Franklin Covey Co.’s internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Franklin Covey Co.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Franklin Covey Co. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008, based on
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets
of Franklin Covey Co. and subsidiaries as of August 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended August 31, 2008, and our report dated November 14, 2008 expressed
an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.
KPMG LLP
Salt Lake City, UT
November 14, 2008
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Franklin Covey Co.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Franklin Covey Co. and subsidiaries as of August 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related
consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended August 31, 2008. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Franklin Covey Co. and
subsidiaries as of August 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
August 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Franklin Covey Co.’s internal
control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated November 14, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
KPMG LLP
Salt Lake City, UT
November 14, 2008
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AUGUST 31,
In thousands, except per share data
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful
accounts of $1,066 and $821
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Receivable from equity method investee
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total current assets

2008

$

15,904 $
28,019
8,742
2,472
7,672
5,102
67,911

Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Other long-term assets
$
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt and financing
obligation
Line of credit
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Tender offer obligation
Accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities

$

Long-term debt and financing obligation, less current
portion
Other liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
Total liabilities

2007

6,126
27,239
24,033
3,635
9,070
70,103

26,928
72,320
11,768
178,927 $

36,063
75,923
14,542
196,631

670 $
8,713
1,057
28,222
23,419
62,081

629
15,999
12,190
2,244
30,101
61,163

32,291
1,229
4,572
100,173

32,965
1,019
565
95,712

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 1, 8, 9, and 12)
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.05 par value; 40,000 shares
authorized, 27,056 shares issued
Additional paid-in capital
Common stock warrants
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Treasury stock at cost, 10,203 shares and 7,296 shares
Total shareholders’ equity

1,353
184,313
7,597
25,337
1,058
(140,904)
78,754
178,927 $

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
In thousands, except per share amounts

2008

2007

138,112 $
121,980
260,092

137,708 $
146,417
284,125

122,418
156,205
278,623

44,738
53,565
98,303

43,132
65,915
109,047

40,722
69,940
110,662

Gross profit

161,789

175,078

167,961

Selling, general, and administrative
Gain on sale of consumer solutions business unit
Gain on sale of manufacturing facility
Restructuring costs
Impairment of assets
Depreciation
Amortization
Income from operations

141,318
(9,131)
2,064
1,483
5,692
3,603
16,760

149,220
(1,227)
5,394
3,607
18,084

144,747
5,355
3,813
14,046

Interest income
Interest expense
Recovery from legal settlement
Income before income taxes

157
(3,083)
13,834

717
(3,136)
15,665

1,334
(2,622)
873
13,631

Income tax benefit (provision)
Net income
Preferred stock dividends
Net income available to common shareholders

$

(7,986)
5,848
5,848 $

(8,036)
7,629
(2,215)
5,414 $

14,942
28,573
(4,385)
24,188

Net income available to common shareholders per share:
Basic

$

.30 $

.28 $

1.20

Diluted

$

.29 $

.27 $

1.18

Net sales:
Training and consulting services
Products

$

Cost of sales:
Training and consulting services
Products

Weighted average number of common shares:
Basic
Diluted
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive income

19,577
19,922
$

5,848 $
88
5,936 $

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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19,593
19,888
7,629 $
458
8,087 $

2006

20,134
20,516
28,573
97
28,670
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
In thousands
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of consumer solutions business unit assets
Deferred income taxes
Share-based compensation cost (benefit)
Loss (gain) on disposals of assets
Restructuring charges
Impairment of assets
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Increase in accounts receivable, net
Decrease (increase) in inventories
Increase in receivable from investment in equity method
investee
Decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

2008

$

5,848 $

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition of treasury stock from tender offer through
liabilities
Accrued preferred stock dividends
Promissory notes received from sales of consolidated
subsidiaries
Purchases of property and equipment financed by accounts
payable

2006

7,629 $

28,573

9,533
(9,131)
4,152
(259)
460
2,064
1,483

10,030
5,274
1,394
(1,247)
-

10,289
(15,435)
843
-

(7,204)
2,853

(3,574)
(2,427)

(1,919)
(845)

(7,672)
7,109
(1,512)
255
(151)
7,828

514
(4,388)
304
(151)
13,358

1,458
(3,697)
(2,081)
(177)
17,009

28,241
(4,164)
(4,042)
(2,755)
1,180
60
18,520

(9,138)
(5,088)
150
2,596
(11,480)

(4,350)
(4,010)
93
(8,267)

69,708
(85,707)
-

50,951
(34,952)
(37,345)
-

(20,000)
699

(622)
462
(16,159)

(605)
(2,625)
388
27
(2,215)
(26,376)

(1,111)
(5,167)
427
134
(4,885)
(29,903)

(411)
9,778
6,126
15,904 $

37
(24,461)
30,587
6,126 $

58
(21,103)
51,690
30,587

$

3,549 $
3,146

2,370 $
2,973

2,615
2,662

$

28,222 $
-

- $
-

934

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the sale of consumer solutions business unit
assets, net
Purchases of property and equipment
Capitalized curriculum development costs
Investment in equity method investee
Proceeds from disposal of consolidated subsidiaries
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment, net
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from line of credit borrowing
Payments on line of credit borrowings
Redemptions of Series A preferred stock
Change in restricted cash
Principal payments on long-term debt and financing
obligation
Purchases of common stock for treasury
Proceeds from sales of common stock from treasury
Proceeds from management stock loan payments
Payment of preferred stock dividends
Net cash used for financing activities
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash
equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

2007

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1,513
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314

895
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Series A Series A
Preferred Preferred Common Common Additional
Stock
Stock
Stock
Stock
Paid-In
Shares
Amount
Shares Amount
Capital
In thousands
Balance at August
31, 2005
2,294 $ 57,345
27,056 $ 1,353 $ 190,760
Preferred stock
dividends
(4,385)
Preferred stock
redemptions
(800)
(20,000)
Issuance of
common stock
from treasury
(334)
Purchase of
treasury shares
Unvested share
award
(458)
Share-based
compensation
862
Reclassification
of deferred
compensation
upon adoption
of SFAS 123R
(1,055)
Receipt of
common stock
as
consideration
for payment on
management
common stock
loans
301
Cumulative
translation
adjustments
Net income
Balance at August
31, 2006
1,494 $ 37,345
27,056 $ 1,353 $ 185,691
Preferred stock
dividends
Preferred stock
redemptions
(1,494)
(37,345)
Issuance of
common stock
from treasury
(708)
Purchase of
treasury shares
Unvested share
award
(501)
Share-based
compensation
1,394
Payments on
management
common stock
loans
27
Cumulative
translation
adjustments
Common stock
warrant activity
(13)
Sale of Brazil
subsidiary
Net income
Balance at August
31, 2007
- $
27,056 $ 1,353 $ 185,890
Issuance of
common stock
from treasury
(746)
Purchase of
treasury shares
Treasury shares

Retained
Accumulated
Common
Earnings
Deferred
Other
Treasury
Stock
(Accumulated Compensa- Comprehensive Stock
Warrants
Deficit)
tion
Income
Shares

$

7,611 $

(14,498) $

(1,055) $

556

Treasury
Stock
Amount

(6,465) $ (109,246)

69
(690)

743
(5,167)

27

458

(24)

(167)

1,055

97
28,573
$

7,611 $

14,075 $

- $

653

(7,083) $ (113,379)

(2,215)

100

1,096

(345)

(2,603)

32

501

458
(9)
(141)
7,629
$

7,602 $

19,489 $

- $

970

(7,296) $ (114,385)
96
(12)
(3,027)

1,234
(103)
(28,222)

acquired
through tender
offer
Unvested share
award
Share-based
compensation
Cumulative
translation
adjustments
Common stock
warrant activity
Net income
Balance at
August 31, 2008

(572)

36

572

(259)
88
(5)
5,848
- $

-

27,056 $ 1,353 $ 184,313 $

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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7,597 $

25,337 $

- $

1,058

(10,203) $ (140,904)
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Franklin Covey Co. (hereafter referred to as us, we, our, or the Company) believes that great organizations consist of great people who form great teams that
produce great results. To enable organizations and individuals to achieve great results, we provide integrated consulting, training, and performance solutions
focused on leadership, strategy execution, productivity, sales force effectiveness, effective communication, and other areas. Our services and products have
historically been available through professional consulting services, public workshops, retail stores, catalogs, and the Internet at www.franklincovey.com and
our best-known offerings in the marketplace have included the FranklinCovey Planner™, and a suite of individual-effectiveness and leadership-development
training products based on the best-selling book, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we completed the sale of substantially all of the assets of our Consumer Solutions Business Unit (CSBU) to a newly
formed entity, Franklin Covey Products, LLC (Note 2). The CSBU was primarily responsible for the sale of our products, including the FranklinCovey
Planner™, to consumers through retail stores, catalogs, and our Internet site. Following the sale of the CSBU, our business primarily consists of training,
consulting, and assessment services and products to help organizations achieve superior results by focusing on and executing on top priorities, building the
capability of knowledge workers, and aligning business processes. Our training, consulting, and assessment offerings include services based upon the popular
workshop The 7 Habits of Highly Effective PeopleÒ; Leadership: Great Leaders—Great Teams—Great Results™; The 4 Disciplines of Execution™;
FOCUS: Achieving Your Highest Priorities; The 8 Habits of a Successful Marriage; Building Business Acumen; Championing Diversity; Leading at the Speed
of Trust; Writing Advantage, and Presentation Advantage. During fiscal 2008, we introduced a new suite of services designed to help our clients improve
their sales through increased customer loyalty. We also consistently seek to create, develop, and introduce new services and products that will help our clients
achieve greatness.
Fiscal Year
The Company utilizes a modified 52/53-week fiscal year that ends on August 31 of each year. Corresponding quarterly periods generally consist of 13-week
periods that ended on December 1, 2007, March 1, 2008, and May 31, 2008 during fiscal 2008. Unless otherwise noted, references to fiscal years apply to the
12 months ended August 31 of the specified year.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and our subsidiaries, which consisted of Franklin Covey Printing,
Franklin Development Corp., and our wholly-owned operations in Canada, Japan, the United Kingdom, Australia, and Mexico (product sales) during fiscal
2008. Intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.
Pervasiveness of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the
financial
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statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform to the current period presentation. These reclassifications included a
change in the classification of building depreciation costs related to subleased office space from product cost of sales to depreciation expense. The
depreciation expense reclassified from product cost of sales totaled $0.7 million and $0.6 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider highly liquid investments with insignificant interest rate risk and original maturities to the Company of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. We did not hold a significant amount of investments that would be considered cash equivalent instruments at August 31, 2008 or 2007.
As of August 31, 2008, we had demand deposits at various banks in excess of the $250,000 limit for insurance by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(FDIC). Subsequent to August 31, 2008 we utilized substantially all of our available cash to pay the $28.2 million tender offer obligation.
Trade Accounts Receivable
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents our best estimate of
the amount of probable credit losses in the existing accounts receivable balance. We determine the allowance for doubtful accounts based upon historical
write-off experience and current economic conditions and review the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts on a regular basis. Receivable
balances past due over 90 days, which exceed a specified dollar amount, are reviewed individually for collectibility. Account balances are charged off against
the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. We do not have any off-balance sheet
credit exposure related to our customers.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined using the first-in, first-out method. Elements of cost in inventories generally
include raw materials, direct labor, and overhead. Cash flows from the sales of inventory are included in cash flows provided by operating activities in our
consolidated cash flows statements. Following the sale of our Consumer Solutions Business Unit in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, our inventories are
comprised primarily of training materials, books, and related accessories and were comprised of the following (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
Finished goods
Work in process
Raw materials

$

$

2008
8,329 $
413
8,742 $

2007
20,268
743
3,022
24,033

Provision is made to reduce excess and obsolete inventories to their estimated net realizable value. At August 31, 2008 and 2007, our reserves for excess and
obsolete inventories totaled $1.1 million and $4.3 million. In assessing the realization of inventories, we make judgments regarding future demand
requirements and compare these estimates with current and committed inventory levels. Inventory requirements may change based on projected customer
demand, training curriculum life-cycle changes, longer- or shorter-than-expected usage periods, and other factors that could affect the valuation of our
inventories.
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation expense, which includes depreciation on our corporate campus that is accounted for as a financing
obligation (Note 3) and the amortization of assets recorded under capital lease obligations, is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected
useful life of the asset. The Company generally uses the following depreciable lives for our major classifications of property and equipment:
Description
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Computer hardware and software
Furniture, fixtures, and leasehold
improvements

Useful Lives
15-39 years
3-7 years
3 years
5-8 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the useful economic life of the asset or the contracted lease period. We expense costs for repairs
and maintenance as incurred. Gains and losses resulting from the sale of property and equipment are recorded in current operations.
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
Intangible assets that are deemed to have an indefinite life are not amortized, but rather are tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more often if events
or circumstances indicate that a potential impairment exists. The Covey trade name intangible asset (Note 4) has been deemed to have an indefinite life. This
intangible asset is assigned to the Organizational Solutions Business Unit and is tested for impairment using the present value of estimated royalties on trade
name related revenues, which consist primarily of training seminars and work sessions, international licensee sales, and related products. No impairment
charge to the Covey trade name was recorded during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, or 2006.
Capitalized Curriculum Development Costs and Impairment of Assets
During the normal course of business, we develop training courses and related materials that we sell to our customers. Capitalized curriculum development
costs include certain expenditures to develop course materials such as video segments, course manuals, and other related materials. Generally, curriculum
costs are capitalized when a new offering is developed or when there is a major revision to an existing course that requires a significant re-write of the course
materials or curriculum. Costs incurred to maintain existing offerings are expensed when incurred. In addition, development costs incurred in the research
and development of new curriculum and software products to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility
has been established in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be
Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed, and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 96-6, Accounting for the Film and Software Costs Associated with
Developing Entertainment and Educational Software Products.
During fiscal 2008, we capitalized certain costs incurred for the development of a new customer loyalty offering, leadership offerings, including The Speed of
Trust and The Leader in Me, as well as other courses. Capitalized development costs are generally amortized over a five-year life, which is based on
numerous factors, including expected cycles of major changes to curriculum. Capitalized curriculum development costs are reported as a component of other
long-term assets in our consolidated balance sheets and totaled $6.8 million and $8.6 million at August 31, 2008 and 2007. Amortization of capitalized
curriculum development costs is reported as a component of cost of sales.
In fiscal 2008 we analyzed the expected future revenues and corresponding cash flows expected to be generated from our The 7 Habits of Highly Effective
People interactive program and concluded that the expected future revenues, less direct selling and maintenance costs, were insufficient to cover the
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carrying value of the corresponding capitalized development costs. Accordingly, we recorded a $1.5 million impairment charge in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008 to write the carrying value of this program down to its net realizable value.
Restricted Investments
The Company’s restricted investments consist of insurance contracts and investments in mutual funds that are held in a “rabbi trust” and are restricted for
payment to the participants of our deferred compensation plan (Note 16). We account for our restricted investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115,
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. As required by SFAS No. 115, the Company determines the proper classification of its
investments at the time of purchase and reassesses such designations at each balance sheet date. For the periods presented in this report, our restricted
investments were classified as trading securities and consisted of insurance contracts and mutual funds. The fair value of these restricted investments totaled
$0.5 million and $0.7 million at August 31, 2008 and 2007, and were recorded as components of other long-term assets in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.
In accordance with SFAS No. 115, our unrealized losses on restricted investments, which were immaterial during fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006, were
recognized in the accompanying consolidated income statements as a component of selling, general, and administrative expense.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived tangible assets and definite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. We use an estimate of undiscounted future net cash flows of the assets over the remaining
useful lives in determining whether the carrying value of the assets is recoverable. If the carrying values of the assets exceed the anticipated future cash flows
of the assets, we recognize an impairment loss equal to the difference between the carrying values of the assets and their estimated fair values. Impairment of
long-lived assets is assessed at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows that are independent from other groups of assets. The evaluation
of long-lived assets requires us to use estimates of future cash flows. If forecasts and assumptions used to support the realizability of our long-lived tangible
and definite-lived intangible assets change in the future, significant impairment charges could result that would adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition.
Accrued Liabilities
Significant components of our accrued liabilities were as follows (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
Unearned revenue
$
Outsourcing contract costs
payable
Accrued compensation
Customer credits
Restructuring costs
Other accrued liabilities
$

2008
4,564

$

2007
4,709

4,446
4,152
2,191
2,055
6,011
23,419 $

4,357
6,807
2,570
11,658
30,101

Restructuring Costs
Following the sale of our CSBU in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we initiated a restructuring plan that reduces the number of our domestic regional sales
offices, decentralizes certain sales support functions, and significantly changes the operations of our Canadian subsidiary. The restructuring plan is intended
to strengthen the remaining domestic sales offices and reduce our overall operating costs. During fiscal 2008 we expensed $2.1 million for anticipated
severance costs necessary to complete the restructuring
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plan, of which $2.1 million was recorded as a component of accrued liabilities at August 31, 2008. The composition and utilization of the accrued
restructuring charge was as follows at August 31, 2008 (in thousands):

Description
Balance at August 31, 2007 $
Restructuring charges
Amounts utilized – employee
severance
Balance at August 31, 2008 $

Accrued
Restructuring
Costs
2,064
(9)
2,055

We intend to complete the majority of the restructuring plan activities during the year ending August 31, 2009.
Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions
The functional currencies of the Company’s foreign operations are the reported local currencies. Translation adjustments result from translating our foreign
subsidiaries’ financial statements into United States dollars. The balance sheet accounts of our foreign subsidiaries are translated into United States dollars
using the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated using average exchange rates for each month during the
fiscal year. The resulting translation gains or losses were recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders’
equity. Foreign currency transaction losses totaled $0.1 million during each of the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, and were reported as
a component of our selling, general, and administrative expenses.
Derivative Instruments
Derivative instruments are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities as modified by
SFAS No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative and Certain Hedging Activities, and SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities. During the normal course of business, we are exposed to risks associated with foreign currency exchange rate and
interest rate fluctuations. Foreign currency exchange rate exposures result from the Company’s operating results, assets, and liabilities that are denominated
in currencies other than the United States dollar. In order to limit our exposure to these elements, we have made limited use of derivative instruments. Each
derivative instrument that is designated as a hedge instrument is recorded on the balance sheet at its fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivative
instruments that qualify for hedge accounting are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income, which is a component of shareholders’
equity. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that are not designated as hedge instruments are immediately recognized as a component of
selling, general, and administrative expense in our consolidated income statements. At August 31, 2008 we were not party to any financial instruments that
qualified for hedge accounting.
Sales Taxes
We collect sales tax on qualifying transactions with customers based upon applicable sales tax rates in various jurisdictions. The Company accounts for its
sales taxes collected using the net method as defined by EITF Issue No. 06-03, How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental
Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation) and accordingly, we do not include sales taxes in net sales
reported in our consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, as amended by SAB
No. 104, Revenue Recognition. Accordingly,
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we recognize revenue when: 1) persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, 2) delivery of product has occurred or services have been rendered, 3) the price to
the customer is fixed or determinable, and 4) collectibility is reasonably assured. For training and service sales, these conditions are generally met upon
presentation of the training seminar or delivery of the consulting services. For product sales, these conditions are generally met upon shipment of the product
to the customer or by completion of the sales transaction in a retail store.
Some of our training and consulting contracts contain multiple deliverable elements that include training along with other products and services. For
transactions that contain more than one element, we recognize revenue in accordance with EITF Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables. When fair value exists for all contracted elements, the overall contract consideration is allocated among the separate units of
accounting based upon their relative fair values. Revenue for these units is recognized in accordance with our general revenue policies once it has been
determined that the delivered items have standalone value to the customer. If fair value does not exist for all contracted elements, revenue for the delivered
items is recognized using the residual method, which generally means that revenue recognition is postponed until the point is reached when the delivered
items have standalone value and fair value exists for the undelivered items. Under the residual method, the amount of revenue considered for recognition
under our general revenue policies is the total contract amount, less the aggregate fair value of the undelivered items. Fair value of the undelivered items is
based upon the normal pricing practices for our existing training programs, consulting services, and other products, which are generally the prices of the items
when sold separately.
Our international strategy includes the use of licensees in countries where we do not have a wholly-owned operation. Licensee companies are unrelated
entities that have been granted a license to translate our content and curriculum, adapt the content and curriculum to the local culture, and sell our training
seminars and products in a specific country or region. Licensees are required to pay us royalties based upon a percentage of their sales to clients. We
recognize royalty income each period based upon the sales information reported to us from our licensees. Licensee royalty revenues are included as a
component of training sales and totaled $10.1 million, $7.6 million, and $6.1 million, for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.
Revenue is recognized on software sales in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition as amended by SOP 9809. Statement 97-2, as amended, generally requires revenue earned on software arrangements involving multiple elements such as software products and
support to be allocated to each element based on the relative fair value of the elements based on vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE). Nearly all of the
Company’s software sales consist of ready to use “off-the-shelf” software products that have multiple elements, including a license and post contract
customer support (PCS). Currently we do not have VSOE for either the license or support elements of our software sales. Accordingly, revenue is deferred
until the only undelivered element is PCS and the total arrangement fee is recognized over the support period. During fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, we had
software sales totaling $2.5 million, $3.2 million, and $3.3 million, which are included as a component of product sales in our consolidated income
statements.
Revenue is recognized as the net amount to be received after deducting estimated amounts for discounts and product returns.
Share-Based Compensation
We account for our share-based compensation costs according to the provisions of SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004) Share-Based Payment (SFAS No. 123R),
which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. In general, SFAS No. 123R requires all share based-payments to employees
and non-employees, including grants of stock options and the compensatory elements of employee stock purchase plans, to be recognized in the income
statement based upon their fair values.
For more information on our share-based compensation plans, refer to Note 13.
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Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs
All shipping and handling fees billed to customers are recorded as a component of net sales. All costs incurred related to the shipping and handling of
products are recorded in cost of sales.
Advertising Costs
Costs for newspaper, television, radio, and other advertising are expensed as incurred or recognized over the period of expected benefit for direct response
and catalog advertising. Direct response advertising costs, which consist primarily of printing and mailing costs for catalogs and seminar mailers, are charged
to expense over the period of projected benefit, which ranges from three to 12 months. Advertising costs included in selling, general, and administrative
expenses totaled $15.5 million, $15.9 million, and $16.0 million, for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006. Our direct response advertising
costs reported in other current assets totaled $0.5 million and $2.2 million at August 31, 2008 and 2007.
Research and Development Costs
We expense research and development costs as incurred. During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, we expensed $4.6 million, $3.3
million, and $2.3 million of research and development costs that were recorded as components of cost of sales and selling, general, and administrative
expenses in our consolidated income statements.
Income Taxes
Our income tax provision has been determined using the asset and liability approach of accounting for income taxes. Under this approach, deferred income
taxes represent the future tax consequences expected to occur when the reported amounts of assets and liabilities are recovered or paid. The income tax
provision represents income taxes paid or payable for the current year plus the change in deferred taxes during the year. Deferred income taxes result from
differences between the financial and tax bases of our assets and liabilities and are adjusted for tax rates and tax laws when changes are enacted. A valuation
allowance is provided against deferred income tax assets when it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred income tax assets will not be
realized. We adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes –
an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48), on September 1, 2007. Following the adoption of FIN 48, interest and penalties related to uncertain
tax positions are recognized as components of income tax expense.
The Company provides for income taxes, net of applicable foreign tax credits, on temporary differences in our investment in foreign subsidiaries, which
consist primarily of unrepatriated earnings.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income includes changes to equity accounts that were not the result of transactions with shareholders. Comprehensive income is comprised
of net income or loss and other comprehensive income and loss items. Our comprehensive income and losses generally consist of changes in the cumulative
foreign currency translation adjustment.
Accounting Pronouncements Issued Not Yet Adopted
Fair Value Measures – In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measures. This statement establishes a single authoritative definition
of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and requires additional disclosures about fair-value measurements. Statement No. 157 only
applies to fair-value measurements that are already required or permitted by other accounting standards except for measurements of share-based payments and
measurements that are similar to, but not intended
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to be, fair value. This statement is effective for the specified fair value measures for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2007, and will thus be effective for the Company in fiscal 2009. We have not yet completed our analysis of the impact of SFAS No. 157 on our financial
statements.
Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. Statement No.159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial
instruments and certain other items at fair value. The provisions of SFAS No. 159 will become effective for the Company in fiscal 2009 and we have not yet
completed our analysis of the impact of SFAS No. 159 on our financial statements.
Business Combinations – In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations (SFAS No. 141R) and SFAS No. 160,
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements. These standards aim to improve, simplify, and converge internationally the accounting for
business combinations and the reporting of noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. The provisions of SFAS No. 141R and SFAS No.
160 are effective for our fiscal year beginning September 1, 2009. We do not currently anticipate that these statements will have a material impact upon our
financial condition or results of operations.
Derivatives Disclosures – In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Statement No.
161 is intended to improve financial reporting about derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors to
better understand their effects on an entity's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. The provisions of SFAS No. 161 are effective for our
third quarter of fiscal 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the provisions of SFAS No. 161, but due to our limited use of derivative
instruments we do not currently anticipate that the provisions of SFAS No. 161 will have a material impact on our financial statements.

2.

SALE OF THE CONSUMER SOLUTIONS BUSINESS UNIT

During fiscal 2008, we joined with Peterson Partners to create a new company, Franklin Covey Products, LLC (Franklin Covey Products). This new
company purchased substantially all of the assets of our Consumer Solutions Business Unit (CSBU) with the objective of expanding the worldwide sales of
Franklin Covey products as governed by a comprehensive license agreement between us and Franklin Covey Products. The CSBU was primarily responsible
for sales of our products to both domestic and international consumers through a variety of channels, including retail stores, a call center, and the Internet
(Note 19). Franklin Covey Products, which is controlled by Peterson Partners, purchased the CSBU assets for $32.0 million in cash plus a $1.2 million
adjustment for working capital delivered on the closing date of the sale, which was effective July 6, 2008. We also incurred $3.7 million of direct costs
related to the sale of the CSBU assets, a portion of which is reimbursable from Franklin Covey Products. At August 31, 2008, we have a $3.5 million note
receivable for these reimbursable transaction costs and excess working capital that is due in January 2009. The note receivable bears interest at Franklin
Covey Products’ effective borrowing rate, which was approximately 6.0 percent at August 31, 2008.
On the date of the sale closing, the Company invested approximately $1.8 million to purchase a 19.5 percent voting interest in Franklin Covey Products, made
a $1.0 million priority capital contribution with a 10 percent return, and will have the opportunity to earn contingent license fees if Franklin Covey Products
achieves specified performance objectives. We recognized a gain of $9.1 million on the sale of the CSBU assets and according to guidance found in EITF
Issue No. 01-2, Interpretations of APB Opinion No. 29, we deferred a portion of the gain equal to our investment in Franklin Covey Products. We will
recognize the deferred gain over the life of the long-term assets acquired by Franklin Covey Products or when cash is received for payment of the priority
contribution.
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The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the CSBU that were sold to Franklin Covey Products were as follows (in thousands):
Description
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Other current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets sold

$

38
6,675
12,665
2,291
8,435
158
30,262

$

Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Total liabilities sold

$

3,589
6,748
10,337

$

Based upon the guidance found in SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, EITF Issue No. 03-13, Applying the
Conditions in Paragraph 42 of FASB Statement No. 144 in Determining Whether to Report Discontinued Operations, and SAB 103, Topic 5Z4, Disposal of
Operation with Significant Interest Retained, we determined that the operations of CSBU should not be reported as discontinued operations because we will
continue to have significant influence over the operations of Franklin Covey Products and may participate in future cash flows. As a result of this
determination, we have not presented the financial results of the CSBU as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and
we do not anticipate discontinued operations presentation in future interim and annual reporting periods.
As a result of Franklin Covey Products’ structure as a limited liability company with separate owner capital accounts and the guidance found in EITF Issue
No. 03-16, Accounting for Investments in Limited Liability Companies and SOP 78-9, Accounting for Investments in Real Estate Ventures, we determined that
the Company’s investment in Franklin Covey Products is more than minor and that we are required to account for our investment in Franklin Covey Products
using the equity method of accounting. We record our share of Franklin Covey Products’ profit and loss based upon specified allocations as defined in the
associated operating agreement. Our ownership interest may be diluted in future periods if ownership shares of Franklin Covey Products granted to certain
members of its management vest.
The following unaudited summary financial information for Franklin Covey Products is presented as of and for the two months ending August 31, 2008 (in
thousands):
Balance Sheet
Total assets
Total liabilities
Income Statement
Sales
Net loss

$

45,588
37,013

13,149
(1,437)

Following the sale of the CSBU assets, we do not have any obligation to fund the losses of Franklin Covey Products and therefore our portion of the net loss
in fiscal 2008 was not recorded in our consolidated income statement. Under the terms of the agreements associated with the sale of the CSBU assets, we are
entitled to receive reimbursement for certain operating costs, such as warehousing and distribution costs, which are billed to the Company by third party
providers. At August 31, 2008 we had a $7.7 million receivable from Franklin Covey Products, which consisted of $3.5 million of reimbursable costs
associated with the sale transaction as described above, and $4.2 million of reimbursable operating costs.
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3.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Our property and equipment were comprised of the following (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
Land and improvements
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Computer hardware and software
Furniture, fixtures, and leasehold
improvements

$

Less accumulated depreciation
$

2008
1,626 $
34,573
2,969
20,010

2007
1,639
34,536
29,026
45,623

9,640
68,818
(41,890)
26,928 $

32,579
143,403
(107,340)
36,063

In addition to the CSBU property and equipment that was sold to Franklin Covey Products during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we disposed of certain
computer hardware and software that was replaced or rendered obsolete during the year. Substantially all of this computer hardware and software was fully
depreciated at the time of disposal. In addition, we also transferred ownership of fully depreciated warehouse equipment to a third party warehouse services
provider (Note 9) as required by the outsourcing contract.
During fiscal 2007, we completed a project to reconfigure our printing operations to improve our printing services’ efficiency, reduce operating costs, and
improve our printing services’ flexibility in order to increase external printing service sales. Our reconfiguration plan included moving our printing
operations a short distance from its existing location to our corporate headquarters campus and the sale of the manufacturing facility and certain printing
presses. We completed the sale of the manufacturing facility during the second quarter of fiscal 2007. The sale price was $2.5 million and, after deducting
customary closing costs, the net proceeds to the Company from the sale totaled $2.3 million in cash. The carrying value of the manufacturing facility at the
date of sale was $1.1 million and accordingly, we recognized a $1.2 million gain on the sale of the manufacturing facility. The manufacturing facility assets
sold were primarily reported as a component of corporate assets for segment reporting purposes. Due to a lower-than-expected sale price on one of the
printing presses to be sold, we recorded an impairment charge totaling $0.3 million to reduce the carrying value of the printing press to its anticipated sale
price. The impairment charge was included as a component of depreciation expense in our consolidated income statement for the fiscal year ended August
31, 2007.
In connection with the fiscal 2005 sale of our corporate headquarters facility, we entered into a 20-year master lease agreement with the purchaser, an
unrelated private investment group. The master lease agreement contains six five-year renewal options, which will allow us to maintain our operations at our
current location for up to 50 years. Although the corporate headquarters facility was formally sold and the Company has no legal ownership of the property,
SFAS No. 98, Accounting for Leases, precluded us from recording the transaction as a sale since we have subleased more than a minor portion of the
property. Pursuant to this accounting guidance, we have accounted for the sale as a financing transaction, which required us to continue reporting the
corporate headquarters facility as an asset and to depreciate the property over the life of the master lease agreement. We also recorded a financing obligation
to the purchaser (Note 7) for the sale price. At August 31, 2008, the carrying value of the corporate headquarters facility was $19.1 million.
Certain land and buildings are collateral for mortgage debt obligations (Note 7).
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4.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Our intangible assets were comprised of the following (in thousands):

AUGUST 31, 2008
Definite-lived intangible assets:
License rights
Curriculum
Customer lists
Trade names

Gross
Carrying
Amount
$

Indefinite-lived intangible asset:
Covey trade name
$
AUGUST 31, 2007
Definite-lived intangible assets:
License rights
Curriculum
Customer lists
Trade names

$

Indefinite-lived intangible asset:
Covey trade name
$

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

27,000 $
58,237
14,684
377
100,298

(9,292) $
(29,896)
(11,413)
(377)
(50,978)

17,708
28,341
3,271
49,320

23,000
123,298 $

(50,978) $

23,000
72,320

27,000 $
58,230
18,124
1,277
104,631

(8,355) $
(28,361)
(13,715)
(1,277)
(51,708)

18,645
29,869
4,409
52,923

23,000
127,631 $

(51,708) $

23,000
75,923

Our intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The range of remaining estimated useful lives and
weighted-average amortization period over which we are amortizing the major categories of definite-lived intangible assets at August 31, 2008 were as
follows:

Category of
Intangible Asset

Range of Remaining
Estimated Useful
Lives

Weighted Average
Amortization Period

18 years
11 to 18 years
3 years

30 years
26 years
14 years

License rights
Curriculum
Customer lists

Our aggregate amortization expense from definite-lived intangible assets totaled $3.6 million, $3.6 million, and $3.8 million, for fiscal years 2008, 2007, and
2006. Amortization expense for our intangible assets over the next five years is expected to be as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING
AUGUST 31,
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013

5.

$

3,601
3,598
3,456
2,458
2,449

TENDER OFFER OBLIGATION

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we conducted a modified “Dutch Auction” tender offer to purchase up to $28.0 million of shares of our common
stock at a specified range of prices (Note 10).
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The tender offer closed on August 27, 2008 as intended and we announced the preliminary results of the tender offer on August 28, 2008. The final results of
the tender offer were announced on September 5, 2008 and we completed the payment process for the shares of common stock shortly thereafter. Based upon
guidance found in SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, we believe that an
obligation to purchase the tender offer shares had been created prior to August 31, 2008. As a result of this determination, at August 31, 2008 we recorded a
$28.2 million liability in current liabilities for the tender offer obligation, which includes $0.2 million of customary transaction costs for broker fees, legal
services, and printing services, etc. We recorded a corresponding increase to treasury stock for the shares acquired in the tender offer in our shareholders’
equity section of our consolidated balance sheet.

6.

CURRENT LINES OF CREDIT

During fiscal 2007, we entered into secured revolving line-of-credit agreements with JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. and Zions First National Bank that
provided a combined total of $25.0 million of borrowing capacity to the Company. In connection with the sale of the CSBU assets (Note 2), during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008, the credit agreements with these lenders were modified (the Modified Credit Agreement). The Modified Credit Agreement removed
Zions First National Bank as a lender, but continues to provide a total of $25.0 million of borrowing capacity until June 30, 2009, when the borrowing
capacity will be reduced to $15.0 million. In addition, the interest rate on the credit facility increased from LIBOR plus 1.10 percent to LIBOR plus 1.50
percent, effective on the date of the modification agreement (weighted average rate of 4.0 percent and 6.6 percent at August 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively). The Modified Credit Agreement expires on March 14, 2010 (no change) and we may draw on the credit facilities, repay, and draw again, on a
revolving basis, up to the maximum loan amount of $25.0 million so long as no event of default has occurred and is continuing. The Company may use the
Credit Agreements for general corporate purposes as well as for other transactions, unless prohibited by the terms of the Modified Credit Agreement. The
fiscal 2007 line of credit obligation was classified as a component of current liabilities primarily due to our intention to repay amounts outstanding before the
agreement expires.
We accounted for the Modified Credit Agreement using the guidance found in EITF 96-19, Debtor’s Accounting for a Modification or Exchange of Debt
Instruments and EITF 98-14, Debtor’s Accounting for Changes in Line-of-Credit or Revolving Debt Arrangements and expensed unamortized debt issuance
costs in accordance with these pronouncements. The additional expense was recorded as a component of interest expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008
and was immaterial to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In addition to customary non-financial terms and conditions, the Modified Credit Agreement requires us to be in compliance with specified financial
covenants, which did not change for the original credit agreements, including: (i) a funded debt to earnings ratio; (ii) a fixed charge coverage ratio; (iii) a
limitation on annual capital expenditures; and (iv) a defined amount of minimum net worth. In the event of noncompliance with these financial covenants and
other defined events of default, the lender is entitled to certain remedies, including acceleration of the repayment of amounts outstanding on the Modified
Credit Agreement. The Modified Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and guarantees as well as provisions for repayment and
liens. We believe that we were in compliance with the terms and covenants of the Modified Credit Agreement at August 31, 2008.
In connection with the original credit agreements, the Company entered into a promissory note, a security agreement, repayment guaranty agreements, and a
pledge and security agreement. These agreements remain in place with the remaining lender and pledge substantially all of the Company’s assets located in
the United States and a certain foreign location to the lender in the Modified Credit Agreement.
In addition to the line of credit described above, we obtained a CDN $500,000 (approximately $471,000) revolving line of credit with a Canadian Bank
through our wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary (the Canadian Line of Credit) during fiscal 2007. The Canadian Line of Credit bears interest at the Canadian
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prime rate and is a revolving line of credit that may be repeatedly borrowed against and repaid during the life of the agreement. The Canadian Line of Credit
may be used for general corporate purposes and requires our Canadian subsidiary to maintain a specified financial covenant for minimum debt service
coverage or the payment of the loan may be accelerated. As of August 31, 2008 we had not yet drawn upon the Canadian Line of Credit.

7.

LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING OBLIGATION

Our long-term debt and financing obligation were comprised of the following (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
Financing obligation on corporate campus, payable in monthly
installments of $254 for the first five years with two percent
annual increases thereafter (imputed interest at 7.7%), through
June 2025
Mortgage payable in monthly installments of $9 CDN ($9 USD at
August 31, 2008), plus interest at the CDN prime rate (4.8% at
August 31, 2008) through January 2015, secured by real estate
Less current portion
Total long-term debt and financing obligation, less current portion

2008

2007

$

32,283 $

32,807

$

678
32,961
(670)
32,291 $

787
33,594
(629)
32,965

The mortgage loan on our Canadian facility requires the Company to maintain certain financial ratios at our wholly-owned Canadian operation.
Future principal maturities of our long-term debt and financing obligation were as follows at August 31, 2008 (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING
AUGUST 31,
2009
$
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter
$

670
726
839
963
1,097
28,666
32,961

In connection with the sale and leaseback of our corporate headquarters facility, located in Salt Lake City, Utah, we entered into a 20-year master lease
agreement with the purchaser, an unrelated private investment group. The 20-year master lease agreement also contains six five-year renewal options that
will allow us to maintain our operations at the current location for up to 50 years. Although the corporate headquarters facility was sold and the Company has
no legal ownership of the property, SFAS No. 98, Accounting for Leases, precluded us from recording the transaction as a sale since we have subleased a
significant portion of the property that was sold. Accordingly, we accounted for the sale as a financing transaction, which required us to continue reporting
the corporate headquarters facility as an asset (Note 3) and to record a financing obligation for the sale price. The future minimum payments under the
financing obligation for the initial 20 year lease term are as follows (in thousands):
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YEAR ENDING
AUGUST 31,
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter
Total future minimum financing
obligation payments
Less interest
Present value of future minimum
financing obligation payments

$

3,045
3,055
3,116
3,178
3,242
43,537
59,173
(28,202)

$

30,971

The difference between the carrying value of the financing obligation and the present value of the future minimum financing obligation payments represents
the carrying value of the land sold in the financing transaction, which is not depreciated. At the conclusion of the master lease agreement, the remaining
financing obligation and carrying value of the land will be written off of our financial statements.

8.

OPERATING LEASES

Lease Expense
In the normal course of business, we lease office space and warehouse and distribution facilities under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. We rent
office space, primarily for international and domestic regional sales administration offices, in commercial office complexes that are conducive to sales and
administrative operations. We also rent warehousing and distribution facilities that are designed to provide secure storage and efficient distribution of our
products. These operating lease agreements generally contain renewal options that may be exercised at our discretion after the completion of the base rental
term. In addition, many of the rental agreements provide for regular increases to the base rental rate at specified intervals, which usually occur on an annual
basis. At August 31, 2008, we had operating leases that have remaining terms ranging from less than one year to approximately 8 years. Following the sale
of our CSBU assets (Note 2), we no longer lease retail store space and Franklin Covey Products is contractually obligated to pay a portion of our minimum
rental payments on certain warehouse and distribution facilities. The following table summarizes our future minimum lease payments under operating lease
agreements and the lease amounts receivable from Franklin Covey Products at August 31, 2008 (in thousands):

YEAR ENDING
AUGUST 31,
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter

Required
Receivable
Net Required
Minimum
from Franklin
Minimum
Lease
Covey
Lease
Payments
Products
Payments
$
1,671 $
(390) $
1,281
1,620
(404)
1,216
1,608
(422)
1,186
1,517
(475)
1,042
1,178
(529)
649
3,427
(1,751)
1,676
$
11,021 $
(3,971) $
7,050

We recognize lease expense on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease agreement. Contingent rent expense is recognized as it is incurred. Total rent
expense recorded in selling, general, and administrative expense from operating lease agreements was $8.7 million, $10.8 million, and $11.2 million for the
years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006. Additionally, certain retail store leases contained terms that require additional, or contingent, rental payments
based upon the realization of certain sales thresholds. Our contingent rental payments under these arrangements were insignificant during the fiscal years
ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.
Lease Income
We have subleased a significant portion of our corporate headquarters office space located in Salt Lake City, Utah to multiple, unrelated tenants as well as to
Franklin Covey Products. The cost basis of the office space available for lease was $33.2 million and had a carrying value of $17.7 million at August 31,
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2008. During fiscal 2008, we also had sublease agreements on two retail store locations that we have exited, but still have a remaining lease
obligation. However, this obligation, and future sublease income, was assumed by Franklin Covey Products. Future minimum lease payments due to us from
our sublease agreements at August 31, 2008, are as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING
AUGUST 31,
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter

$

$

3,585
2,897
2,020
2,085
1,837
15,361
27,785

Sublease payments made to the Company totaled $2.7 million, $2.4 million, and $2.0 million, during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006
of which $0.2 million, $0.3 million, and $0.3 million was recorded as a reduction of rent expense associated with underlying lease agreements in our selling,
general, and administrative expense in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006. Sublease income from the leases at our corporate headquarters was reported as a
component of product sales in our consolidated income statements and in other Consumer Solutions Business Unit sales in our segment reporting (Note 19).

9.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

EDS Outsourcing Contract
The Company has an outsourcing contract with Electronic Data Systems (EDS) to provide information technology system support and product warehousing
and distribution services. Subsequent to August 31, 2008, and primarily as a result of the sale of CSBU assets, we amended the terms of the outsourcing
contract with EDS. Under terms of the amended outsourcing contract with EDS: 1) the outsourcing contract and its addendums will continue to expire on
June 30, 2016; 2) Franklin Covey and Franklin Covey Products will have separate information systems services support contracts; 3) we will no longer be
required to purchase specified levels of computer hardware technology; and 4) our warehouse and distribution costs will consist of an annual fixed charge,
which is partially reimbursable by Franklin Covey Products, plus variable charges for actual activity levels. The warehouse and distribution fixed charge
contains an annual escalation clause based upon changes in the Employment Cost Index. The following schedule summarizes our estimated minimum
information systems support and fixed warehouse and distribution charges, without the effect of estimated escalation charges, to EDS for services over the
remaining life of the outsourcing contract (in thousands):

YEAR ENDING
AUGUST 31,
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter

Estimated
Receivable
Gross
from Franklin
Minimum and
Covey
Fixed Charges
Products
$
4,138 $
(2,159)
4,138
(2,159)
4,138
(2,159)
4,138
(2,159)
4,138
(2,159)
11,246
(6,114)
$
31,936 $
(16,909)

Estimated Net
Minimum and
Fixed Charges
$
1,979
1,979
1,979
1,979
1,979
5,132
$
15,027

Our actual payments to EDS include a variable charge for certain warehousing and distribution activities and may fluctuate in future periods based upon
actual sales and activity levels.
During fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006, we expensed $26.7 million, $30.1 million, and $30.6 million for services provided under terms of the EDS
outsourcing contract. The total amount expensed each year
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under the EDS contract includes freight charges, which are billed to the Company based upon activity, that totaled $8.8 million, $9.6 million, and $9.8 million
during the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.
The outsourcing contracts contain early termination provisions that the Company may exercise under certain conditions. However, in order to exercise the
early termination provisions, we would have to pay specified penalties to EDS depending upon the circumstances of the contract termination.
Purchase Commitments
During the normal course of business, we issue purchase orders to various external vendors for products and services. At August 31, 2008, we had purchase
commitments totaling $4.6 million for products and services to be delivered primarily in fiscal 2009. Other purchase commitments for materials, supplies,
and other items incident to the ordinary conduct of business were immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, to the Company’s operations at August 31,
2008.
Legal Matters
In August 2005, EpicRealm Licensing (EpicRealm) filed an action in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas against the Company
for patent infringement. The action alleged that the Company infringed upon two of EpicRealm’s patents directed to managing dynamic web page requests
from clients to a web server that in turn uses a page server to generate a dynamic web page from content retrieved from a data source. The Company denied
liability in the patent infringement and filed counter-claims related to the case subsequent to the filing of the action in District Court. However, during the
fiscal year ended August 31, 2008, the Company paid EpicRealm a one-time license fee of $1.0 million for a non-exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual, and
royalty-free license to use any product, system, or invention covered by the disputed patents. In connection with the purchase of the license, EpicRealm and
the Company agreed to dismiss their claims with prejudice and the Company was released from further action regarding these patents.
The Company is also the subject of certain legal actions, which we consider routine to our business activities. At August 31, 2008, we believe that, after
consultation with legal counsel, any potential liability to the Company under such actions will not materially affect our financial position, liquidity, or results
of operations.

10.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred Stock
Series A – In accordance with the terms and provisions of the preferred stock recapitalization approved in fiscal 2005, we redeemed all remaining outstanding
shares of Series A preferred stock during the third quarter of fiscal 2007 at the liquidation preference of $25 per share plus accrued dividends. In accordance
with the terms and provisions of the recapitalization, we redeemed the outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock as shown below (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
2007
2006
2005

Carrying Value
Shares of
of Redeemed
Preferred Stock
Preferred
Redeemed
Shares
1,494 $
37,345
800
20,000
1,200
30,000
3,494 $
87,345

Series B – The preferred stock recapitalization completed in fiscal 2005 significantly changed the rights and preferences of our Series B preferred stock. New
shares of Series A preferred stock would have automatically converted to shares of Series B preferred stock if the holder of the original Series A
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preferred stock sold, or transferred, the preferred stock to another party. Series B preferred stock does not have common-equivalent voting rights, but retains
substantially all other characteristics of the new Series A preferred stock. At August 31, 2008, there were 4.0 million shares of Series B preferred stock
authorized, but no shares outstanding.
Common Stock Warrants
Pursuant to the terms of the preferred stock recapitalization plan, in fiscal 2005 we completed a one-to-four forward split of the existing Series A preferred
stock and then bifurcated each share of Series A preferred stock into a new share of Series A preferred stock that is no longer convertible into common stock,
and a warrant to purchase shares of common stock. Accordingly, we issued 6.2 million common stock warrants with an exercise price of $8.00 per share
(subject to customary anti-dilution and exercise features), which will be exercisable over an eight-year term that expires in March 2013. These common stock
warrants were recorded at fair value on the date of the recapitalization, as determined by a Black-Scholes valuation methodology, which totaled $7.6
million. During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008 and 2007, our common stock warrant activity was insignificant.
Treasury Stock
Following the completion of the sale of CSBU assets (Note 2), we used substantially all of the net proceeds from the sale to conduct a modified “Dutch
Auction” tender offer (the Tender Offer) to purchase up to $28.0 million of our common stock at a price not less than $9.00 per share or greater than $10.50
per share. The Tender Offer closed fully subscribed on August 27, 2008 and we were able to purchase 3,027,027 shares of our common stock at $9.25 per
share plus normal transaction costs that were added to the cost basis of the shares. We recorded a $28.2 million current liability at August 31, 2008 for these
shares (Note 5) with a corresponding increase in treasury stock.
During fiscal 2006, our Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up to $10.0 million of our currently outstanding common stock and canceled all
previously approved common stock purchase plans. Common stock purchases under this approved plan are made at our discretion for prevailing market
prices and are subject to customary regulatory requirements and considerations. The Company does not have a timetable for the purchase of these common
shares and the authorization by the Board of Directors does not have an expiration date. During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006 we
purchased 328,000 and 681,300 shares of our common stock under the terms of the fiscal 2006 plan for $2.5 million and $5.1 million, respectively. We did
not purchase any shares of our common stock under this purchase plan during fiscal 2008 and at August 31, 2008, we had $2.4 million remaining for future
purchases under the terms of this approved plan. We also purchased 7,900 common shares for $0.1 million during fiscal 2006 for exclusive distribution to
participants in our employee stock purchase plan.
We have issued shares of treasury stock to participants in our employee stock purchase plan (ESPP) and for stock options and warrants as shown below (in
thousands, except for share amounts):

Fiscal Year
2008
2007
2006

Total
Shares
Treasury
Issued from Shares Issued
the Exercise
for Stock
Shares Issued
of Stock
Options,
to ESPP
Options and Warrants and
Participants
Warrants
ESPP
68,702
15,371
84,073
55,513
37,500
93,013
32,993
38,821
71,814

Cash Proceeds
Received from
the Issuance of
Treasury
Shares
$
462
321
424

In addition to the treasury shares shown above, we issued 36,000; 31,500; and 27,000 shares of our common stock held in treasury in connection with
unvested and fully-vested stock awards during fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006 (Note 13).
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11.

MANAGEMENT COMMON STOCK LOAN PROGRAM

During fiscal 2000, certain of our management personnel borrowed funds from an external lender, on a full-recourse basis, to acquire shares of our common
stock. The loan program closed during fiscal 2001 with 3.825 million shares of common stock purchased by the loan participants for a total cost of $33.6
million, which was the market value of the shares acquired and distributed to loan participants. The Company initially participated on these management
common stock loans as a guarantor to the lending institution. However, in connection with a new credit facility obtained during fiscal 2001, we acquired the
loans from the external lender at fair value and are now the creditor for these loans. The loans in the management stock loan program initially accrued
interest at 9.4 percent (compounded quarterly), are full-recourse to the participants, and were originally due in March 2005. Although interest continues to
accrue on the outstanding balance over the life of the loans to the participants, the Company ceased recording interest receivable (and related interest income)
related to these loans during the third quarter of fiscal 2002.
In May 2004, our Board of Directors approved modifications to the terms of the management stock loans. While these changes had significant implications
for most management stock loan program participants, the Company did not formally amend or modify the stock loan program notes. Rather, the Company
chose to forego certain of its rights under the terms of the loans and granted participants the modifications described below in order to potentially improve
their ability to pay, and the Company’s ability to collect, the outstanding balances of the loans. These modifications to the management stock loan terms
applied to all current and former employees whose loans do not fall under the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Loans to the Company’s
officers and directors (as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) were not affected by the approved modifications and loans held by those persons, which
totaled $0.8 million, were repaid on the original due date of March 30, 2005.
The May 2004 modifications to the management stock loan terms included the following:
Waiver of Right to Collect – The Company waived its right to collect the outstanding balance of the loans prior to the earlier of (a) March 30, 2008,
or (b) the date after March 30, 2005 on which the closing price of the Company’s stock multiplied by the number of shares purchased equals the
outstanding principal and accrued interest on the management stock loans (the Breakeven Date).
Lower Interest Rate – Effective May 7, 2004, the Company prospectively waived collection of all interest on the loans in excess of 3.16 percent per
annum, which was the “Mid-Term Applicable Federal Rate” for May 2004.
Use of the Company’s Common Stock to Pay Loan Balances – The Company may consider receiving shares of our common stock as payment on
the loans, which were previously only payable in cash.
Elimination of the Prepayment Penalty – The Company will waive its right to charge or collect any prepayment penalty on the management
common stock loans.
These modifications, including the reduction of the loan program interest rate, were not applied retroactively and participants remain obligated to pay interest
previously accrued using the original interest rate. Also during fiscal 2005, our Board of Directors approved loan modifications for a former executive officer
and a former director substantially similar to loan modifications previously granted to other loan participants in the management stock loan program as
described above.
Prior to the May 2004 modifications, the Company accounted for the loans and the corresponding shares using a loan-based accounting model that included
guidance found in SAB 102, Selected Loan Loss Allowance Methodology and Documentation Issues; SFAS No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment
of A Loan - an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 5 and 15; and SFAS No. 5, Accounting
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for Contingencies. However, due to the nature of the May 2004 modifications, the Company reevaluated its accounting for the management stock loan
program. Based upon guidance found in EITF Issue 00-23, Issues Related to the Accounting for Stock Compensation under APB Opinion No. 25 and FASB
Interpretation No. 44, and EITF Issue 95-16, Accounting for Stock Compensation Agreements with Employer Loan Features under APB Opinion No. 25, we
determined that the management common stock loans should be accounted for as non-recourse stock compensation instruments. While this accounting
treatment does not alter the legal rights associated with the loans to the employees as described above, the modifications to the terms of the loans were
deemed significant enough to adopt the non-recourse accounting model as described in EITF 00-23. As a result of this accounting treatment, the remaining
carrying value of the notes and interest receivable related to financing common stock purchases by related parties, which totaled $7.6 million prior to the loan
term modifications, was reduced to zero with a corresponding reduction in additional paid-in capital. Since the Company was unable to control the
underlying management common stock loan shares, the loan program shares continued to be included in Basic earnings per share (EPS) following the May
2004 modifications.
We currently account for the management common stock loans as equity-classified stock option arrangements. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R,
which we adopted on September 1, 2005, additional compensation expense will be recognized only if the Company takes action that constitutes a
modification which increases the fair value of the arrangements. This accounting treatment also precludes us from reversing the amounts expensed as
additions to the loan loss reserve, totaling $29.7 million, which were recorded in prior periods.
During fiscal 2006, the Company offered participants in the management common stock loan program the opportunity to formally modify the terms of their
loans in exchange for placing their shares of common stock purchased through the loan program in an escrow account that allows the Company to have a
security interest in the loan program shares. The key modifications to the management common stock loans for the participants accepting the fiscal 2006
offer were as follows:
Modification of Promissory Note – The management stock loan due date was changed to be the earlier of (a) March 30, 2013, or (b) the Breakeven
Date as defined by the May 2004 modifications. The interest rate on the loans increased from 3.16 percent compounded annually to 4.72 percent
compounded annually.
Redemption of Management Loan Program Shares – The Company has the right to redeem the shares on the due date in satisfaction of the
promissory notes as follows:
· On the Breakeven Date, the Company has the right to purchase and redeem from the loan participants the number of loan program shares
necessary to satisfy the participant’s obligation under the promissory note. The redemption price for each such loan program share will be
equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the Breakeven Date.
· If the Company’s stock has not closed at or above the breakeven price on or before March 30, 2013, the Company has the right to purchase
and redeem from the participants all of their loan program shares at the closing price on that date as partial payment on the participant’s
obligation.
The fiscal 2006 modifications were intended to give the Company a measure of control of the outstanding loan program shares and to facilitate payment of
the loans should the market value of the Company’s stock equal the principal and accrued interest on the management stock loans. If a loan participant
declines the offer to modify their management stock loan, their loan will continue to have the same terms and conditions that were previously approved in
May 2004 by the Company’s Board of Directors and their loans will be due at the earlier of March 30, 2008 or the Breakeven Date. Consistent with the May
2004 modifications, stock loan participants will be unable to realize a gain on the loan program shares unless they pay cash to satisfy the promissory note
obligation prior to the due date. As of the closing date of the extension offer, which was substantially completed in June 2006, management stock loan
participants holding approximately 3.5 million shares, or 94 percent of the remaining loan
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shares, elected to accept the extension offer and placed their management stock loan shares into the escrow account. The Company is currently in the process
of collecting amounts due from participants that declined to place their shares in the escrow account during fiscal 2006.
As a result of this modification, the Company reevaluated its accounting treatment regarding the loan shares and their inclusion in Basic EPS. Since the
management stock loan shares held in the escrow account continue to have the same income participation rights as other common shareholders, the Company
has determined that the escrowed loan shares are participating securities as defined by EITF 03-06, Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under
FASB Statement No. 128. As a result, the management loan shares are included in the calculation of Basic EPS in periods of net income and excluded from
Basic EPS in periods of net loss beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, which was the completion of the escrow agreement modification.
During fiscal 2008, the effective interest rate on the management stock loans was reduced to 2.87 percent, compounded annually, which was the “Mid-Term
Applicable Federal Rate” on the date of the interest rate change.
The inability of the Company to collect all, or a portion, of these receivables could have an adverse impact upon our financial position and future cash flows
compared to full collection of the loans.

12.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The book value of our financial instruments at August 31, 2008 and 2007 approximates their fair values. The assessment of the fair values of our financial
instruments is based on a variety of factors and assumptions. Accordingly, the fair values may not represent the actual values of the financial instruments that
could have been realized at August 31, 2008 or 2007, or that will be realized in the future, and do not include expenses that could be incurred in an actual sale
or settlement. The following methods and assumptions were used to determine the fair values of our financial instruments, none of which were held for
trading or speculative purposes:
Cash and Cash Equivalents – The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair values due to the liquidity and short-term maturity of
these instruments.
Accounts Receivable – The carrying value of accounts receivable approximate their fair value due to the short-term maturity and expected collection of these
instruments.
Other Assets – Our other assets, including notes receivable, were recorded at the net realizable value of estimated future cash flows from these instruments.
Debt Obligations – At August 31, 2008, our debt obligations consisted of a variable-rate line of credit, a tender offer obligation, and a variable-rate mortgage
on our Canadian facility. Further information regarding the fair value of these liability instruments is provided below.
Variable-Rate Line of Credit – The interest rate on our line of credit obtained in fiscal 2007 is variable and is adjusted to reflect current market interest
rates that would be available to us for a similar instrument. As a result, the carrying value of the outstanding balance on the line of credit approximates
its fair value.
Tender Offer Obligation – Due to the very short-term nature of the tender offer obligation, which was paid in September 2008, the carrying value of the
obligation approximates its fair value at August 31, 2008.
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Variable-Rate Debt – The carrying value of our variable-rate mortgage in Canada approximated its fair value since the prevailing interest rate is adjusted
to reflect market rates that would be available to us for a similar debt instrument with a corresponding remaining maturity.
Derivative Instruments
During the normal course of business, we are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates due to our international operations and interest
rates. To manage risks associated with foreign currency exchange and interest rates, we make limited use of derivative financial instruments. Derivatives are
financial instruments that derive their value from one or more underlying financial instruments. As a matter of policy, our derivative instruments are entered
into for periods that do not exceed the related underlying exposures and do not constitute positions that are independent of those exposures. In addition, we
do not enter into derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes, nor are we party to any leveraged derivative instrument. The notional amounts of
derivatives do not represent actual amounts exchanged by the parties to the instrument and thus, are not a measure of exposure to the Company through its use
of derivatives. Additionally, we enter into derivative agreements only with highly rated counterparties.
Foreign Currency Exposure – Due to the global nature of our operations, we are subject to risks associated with transactions that are denominated in
currencies other than the United States dollar, as well as the effects of translating amounts denominated in foreign currencies to United States dollars as a
normal part of the reporting process. The objective of our foreign currency risk management activities is to reduce foreign currency risk in the consolidated
financial statements. In order to manage foreign currency risks, we make limited use of foreign currency forward contracts and other foreign currency related
derivative instruments. Although we cannot eliminate all aspects of our foreign currency risk, we believe that our strategy, which includes the use of
derivative instruments, can reduce the impacts of foreign currency related issues on our consolidated financial statements.
During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, we utilized foreign currency forward contracts to manage the volatility of certain
intercompany financing transactions and other transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies. Because these contracts do not meet specific hedge
accounting requirements, gains and losses on these contracts, which expire on a quarterly basis, are recognized currently and are used to offset a portion of the
gains or losses of the related accounts. The gains and losses on these contracts were recorded as a component of selling, general, and administrative expense
in our consolidated income statements and had the following impact on the periods indicated (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Losses on foreign exchange
contracts
Gains on foreign exchange
contracts
Net gain (loss) on foreign
exchange contracts

$

2008

2007

2006

(487) $

(249) $

(346)

36
$

(451) $

119

415

(130) $

69

At August 31, 2008, the fair value of these contracts, which was determined using the estimated amount at which contracts could be settled based upon
forward market exchange rates, approximated the notional amounts of the contracts due to the proximity of the end of the contract to our fiscal year end on
August 31, 2008. The notional amounts of our foreign currency sell contracts that did not qualify for hedge accounting were as follows at August 31, 2008
(in thousands):
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Contract Description

Notional
Amount in
Foreign
Currency

British Pounds
Japanese Yen
Australian Dollars

Notional
Amount in U.S.
Dollars

450 $
27,000
125

809
254
117

Interest Rate Risk Management – Due to the limited nature of our interest rate risk, we do not make regular use of interest rate derivatives and we were not a
party to any interest rate derivative instruments during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.

13.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Overview
We utilize various share-based compensation plans as integral components of our overall compensation and associate retention strategy. Our shareholders
have approved various stock incentive plans that permit us to grant performance awards, unvested stock awards, employee stock purchase plan (ESPP) shares,
and stock options. In addition, our Board of Directors and shareholders may, from time to time, approve fully vested stock awards. At August 31, 2008, our
stock option incentive plan, which permits the granting of performance awards, unvested stock awards to employees, and incentive stock options had
approximately 1,944,000 shares available for granting (including the impact of the cancellation of all long-term performance awards as of August 31, 2008)
and our 2004 ESPP plan had approximately 832,000 shares authorized for purchase by plan participants. The total cost of our share-based compensation
plans for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 were as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Performance awards
$
Unvested share awards
Compensation cost of
the ESPP
Stock options
$

2008

2007

2006

(1,338) $
969

835 $
481

503
296

79
31
(259) $

75
3
1,394 $

37
7
843

The compensation cost of our share-based compensation plans was included in selling, general, and administrative expenses in the accompanying
consolidated income statements and no share-based compensation was capitalized during fiscal years 2008, 2007 or 2006. The Company generally issues
shares of common stock for its share-based compensation plans from shares held in treasury. The following is a description of our share-based compensation
plans.
Performance-Based Awards
During fiscal 2006, our shareholders approved a share-based long-term incentive plan (the LTIP) that permits an annual grant of performance-based share
awards to certain executive and managerial personnel as directed by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The LTIP performance awards
cliff vest, and are exchanged for shares of our common stock, on August 31 following the completion of a three-year measurement period. For example,
performance awards granted in fiscal 2007 may have vested on August 31, 2009. Each fiscal year LTIP award provides for a target number of shares to be
awarded if specified financial goals based on a combination of sales growth and cumulative operating income are achieved. However, the number of shares
that are finally awarded to LTIP participants is variable and may range from zero shares, if a minimum level of performance is not
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achieved, to 200 percent of the target award, if the specifically defined performance criteria is exceeded during the three-year performance period.
The LTIP performance awards are valued at the closing price of our common stock on the grant date. The corresponding compensation cost of each LTIP
award is expensed ratably over the measurement period of the award, which is approximately three years. Since the number of shares that may be issued
under the LTIP is variable, we reevaluate the LTIP awards on a quarterly basis and adjust the number of shares expected to be awarded based upon financial
results of the Company as compared to the performance goals set for the award. Adjustments to the number of shares awarded, and to the corresponding
compensation expense, are made on a cumulative basis at the date of adjustment based upon the estimated probable number of shares to be awarded.
As we completed our evaluations of the LTIP awards during fiscal 2008, we reduced the number of shares expected to be awarded under the fiscal 2007 and
fiscal 2006 LTIP grants based on current financial performance and expected future financial performance. As a result of these evaluations, we determined
that no shares of common stock were expected to be awarded under any LTIP grant and all previously recognized share-based compensation expense, which
totaled $1.3 million, was reversed during fiscal 2008. On August 31, 2008, the fiscal 2006 LTIP award expired with no shares granted to participants and we
do not expect any shares to vest under the fiscal 2007 LTIP award. Adjustments to decrease share-based compensation resulting from the regular evaluation
of LTIP awards totaled $0.4 million in fiscal 2007 and $0.1 million in fiscal 2006 and all previously recognized tax benefits, which totaled $0.3 million and
$0.2 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006, were reversed in fiscal 2008. There were no awards granted under the terms of the LTIP
during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008.
Unvested Stock Awards
The fair value of our unvested stock awards is calculated by multiplying the number of shares awarded by the closing market price of our common stock on
the date of the grant. The corresponding compensation cost of unvested stock awards is amortized to selling, general, and administrative expense on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period of the award, which generally ranges from three to five years. The following is a description of our unvested stock
awards granted to certain members of our Board of Directors and to our employees.
Board of Director Awards – The non-employee directors’ stock incentive plan (the Directors’ Plan) is designed to provide non-employee directors of the
Company, who are ineligible to participate in our employee stock incentive plan, an opportunity to acquire an interest in the Company through the acquisition
of shares of common stock. The Directors’ plan, as approved by our shareholders, allows for an annual unvested stock grant of 4,500 shares of common
stock to each eligible member of our Board of Directors.
Under the provisions of the Directors’ Plan, we issued 36,000 shares, 31,500 shares, and 27,000 shares of our common stock to eligible members of the Board
of Directors during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006. The fair value of the shares awarded under the Directors’ Plan was $0.3 million,
$0.2 million, and $0.2 million during fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, and was calculated on the grant date with the corresponding compensation cost being
recognized over the vesting period of the awards, which is three years. The cost of the common stock issued from treasury stock for these awards was $0.6
million, $0.5 million, and $0.4 million in fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006.
Employee Awards – During fiscal 2005 and in prior periods, we granted unvested stock awards to certain employees as long-term incentives. These unvested
stock awards originally cliff vested five years from the grant date or on an accelerated basis if we achieved specified earnings levels. The compensation cost
of these unvested stock awards was based on the fair value of our common shares on the grant date and was expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
(service) period of the awards. The recognition of compensation cost was accelerated when we believed that it was probable that we would achieve the
specified earnings thresholds and the shares would vest.
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In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, our Board of Directors accelerated the vesting of all remaining outstanding unvested share awards previously granted to
employees. Based upon guidance in SFAS No. 123R, we determined that the accelerated vesting of these awards constituted modifications to the awards that
required separate analysis for awards granted to CSBU employees and for awards granted to Organizational Solutions Business Unit (OSBU) and corporate
employees. Since the unvested share awards granted to CSBU employees would not have vested under the original terms of the award (due to the sale of
CSBU assets), the CSBU awards were revalued on the date of the modification. The fair value of our common stock was higher on the modification date than
on the grant date, which resulted in $0.4 million of additional share-based compensation expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. We determined that
OSBU and corporate awards would have vested under the original award terms and based upon SFAS No. 123R, we accelerated the remaining unrecognized
compensation cost, which increased share-based compensation by $0.2 million during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. Following the accelerated vesting of
these awards, we do not have any remaining unrecognized compensation cost for unvested share awards granted to employees.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, the financial performance goals were reached for certain employees and one-half of their awards were
accelerated. Other awards were vested during fiscal 2007 in connection with the termination of certain management employees. The accelerated vesting of
these awards were accounted for as modifications under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R during fiscal 2007. The additional share-based compensation
expense resulting from these modifications totaled $0.1 million.
The following information applies to our unvested stock awards for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008:

Number of
Shares
Unvested stock awards at August
31, 2007
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Unvested stock awards at August
31, 2008

WeightedAverage GrantDate Fair Value
Per Share

410,670 $
36,000
(352,170)

3.80
7.50
3.13

94,500 $

7.73

At August 31, 2008, there was $0.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock awards granted to our Board of Directors,
which is expected to be recognized over the weighted-average vesting period of approximately two years. Compensation expense related to our unvested
stock awards totaled $1.0 million, $0.5 million, and $0.3 million, in fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006, and the total recognized tax benefit from unvested
stock awards totaled $0.4 million, $0.2 million, and $0.1 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The intrinsic value
of our unvested stock awards at August 31, 2008 was $0.8 million.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
We have an employee stock purchase plan (Note 16) that offers qualified employees the opportunity to purchase shares of our common stock at a price equal
to 85 percent of the average fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the last trading day of the calendar month in each fiscal quarter. Based
upon guidance in SFAS No. 123R, we determined that the discount offered to employees under the ESPP is compensatory and the amount is therefore
expensed at each grant date. During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008, a total of 68,702 shares were issued to participants in the ESPP.
Stock Options
The Company has an incentive stock option plan whereby options to purchase shares of our common stock are issued to key employees at an exercise price
not less than the fair market value of the
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Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The term, not to exceed ten years, and exercise period of each incentive stock option awarded under the plan
are determined by a committee appointed by our Board of Directors.
Information related to stock option activity during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008 is presented below:

Number of
Stock Options

Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price
Per Share

Weighted
Avg.
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(thousands)

Outstanding at August 31, 2007
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

2,058,300 $
(12,500)
(18,000)

12.72

Outstanding at August 31, 2008

2,027,800 $

12.82

1.8 $

439

Options vested and exercisable at
August 31, 2008

2,027,800 $

12.82

1.8 $

439

1.70
9.69

Company policy generally allows terminated employees 90 days from the date of termination to exercise vested stock options. However, in connection with
the sale of our CSBU (Note 2) during fiscal 2008, we granted extensions to former CSBU employees, who had vested stock options, which allow the stock
options to be exercised up to the original expiration date. We determined that these extensions were modifications to the stock options under the guidance
found in SFAS No. 123R. The incremental compensation expense resulting from the modification of these stock options was calculated through the use of a
Black-Scholes valuation model and totaled approximately $31,000, which was expensed during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 since the modified stock
options were fully vested prior to the modification date.
The Company did not grant any stock options during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007 or 2006, and has no remaining unamortized service cost
related to granted stock options.
The following additional information applies to our stock options outstanding at August 31, 2008:

Range of
Exercise
Prices
$ 2.78 – $8.19
$ 9.69 – $9.69
14.00 –
$
$14.00
17.69 –
$
$17.69

Number
Outstanding at
August 31,
2008
226,300
194,500

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)
1.6
0.7

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
$
7.01
9.69

Options
Exercisable at
August 31,
2008
226,300
194,500

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
$
7.01
9.69

1,602,000

2.0

14.00

1,602,000

14.00

5,000
2,027,800

0.3

17.69

5,000
2,027,800

17.69

The Company received proceeds totaling approximately $21,000, $0.1 million, and $0.2 million in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006 from the exercise
of common stock options. The intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $0.1 million, $0.3 million, and $0.1 million for the fiscal years ended August 31,
2008, 2007, and 2006 and the fair value of options that vested during those periods totaled $9,375 each year.

14.

SALE OF OPERATIONS IN BRAZIL AND MEXICO

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 we completed the sales of our wholly-owned subsidiary located in Brazil and the training operations of our whollyowned subsidiary in Mexico. These operations were sold to third-party entities that will continue to conduct business in Brazil and Mexico as licensees and
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will be required to pay the Company royalties consistent with other foreign licensees. Since we will continue to participate in the cash flows of these
subsidiaries through royalty payments, which are based primarily upon the sales recorded by the licensees, and we expect to have significant continuing
involvement in the operations of the licensees, we determined that the financial results of these subsidiaries should not be reported as discontinued operations
in our consolidated income statements in accordance with guidance found in SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets. The financial results of these subsidiaries were previously reported in the international segment of the Organizational Solutions Business Unit.
The sales of the Brazil and Mexico subsidiaries were structured such that the net assets of the subsidiaries were sold at their carrying values plus
reimbursement of severance costs paid in Mexico. The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of our Brazil subsidiary and training operations of
Mexico, which were sold during the quarter ended August 31, 2007 were as follows (in thousands):
Description
Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Other current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets sold
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Total liabilities sold

Brazil
$

$
$
$

Mexico

Total

95 $
374
155
220
365
51
1,260 $

- $
210
134
28
43
375
790 $

95
584
289
248
408
426
2,050

127 $
260
387 $

- $
- $

127
260
387

Certain assets and liabilities that were previously held for sale in Mexico were retained by the Company and were reclassified as assets to be held and used at
August 31, 2007. We received promissory notes for the sales prices totaling $1.5 million, of which $1.2 million was due during fiscal 2008 and was reported
as a component of other current assets at August 31, 2007. Due to the disposition of these subsidiaries, we recorded a $0.1 million benefit from the
cumulative translation adjustment related to assets and liabilities sold, which was offset by expenses necessary to complete the transaction. The net costs to
complete the sales transactions resulted in an immaterial loss that was included in consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended
August 31, 2007.

15.

LEGAL SETTLEMENT

In fiscal 2002, we filed legal action against World Marketing Alliance, Inc., a Georgia corporation (WMA), and World Financial Group, Inc., a Delaware
corporation and purchaser of substantially all assets of WMA, for breach of contract. The case proceeded to trial and the jury rendered a verdict in our favor
and against WMA on November 1, 2004 for the entire unpaid contract amount of approximately $1.1 million. In addition to the verdict, we recovered legal
fees totaling $0.3 million and pre- and post-judgment interest of $0.3 million from WMA. During our fiscal quarter ended May 28, 2005, we received
payment in cash from WMA for the total verdict amount, including legal fees and interest. However, shortly after paying the verdict amount, WMA appealed
the jury decision to the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals and we recorded receipt of the verdict amount plus legal fees and interest with a corresponding increase
to accrued liabilities and deferred the gain until the case was finally resolved. On December 30, 2005, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with
WMA. Under the terms of the settlement agreement, WMA agreed to dismiss its appeal. As a result of this settlement agreement and dismissal of WMA’s
appeal, we recorded a $0.9 million gain from the legal settlement during fiscal 2006. We also recorded a $0.3 million reduction in selling, general and,
administrative expenses during fiscal 2006 for recovered legal expenses.
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16.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Profit Sharing Plans
We have defined contribution profit sharing plans for our employees that qualify under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. These plans provide
retirement benefits for employees meeting minimum age and service requirements. Qualified participants may contribute up to 75 percent of their gross
wages, subject to certain limitations. These plans also provide for matching contributions to the participants that are paid by the Company. The matching
contributions, which were expensed as incurred, totaled $1.5 million, $1.5 million, and $1.3 million during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and
2006. The Company does not have any defined benefit pension plans.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company has an employee stock purchase plan (ESPP) that offers qualified employees the opportunity to purchase shares of our common stock at a price
equal to 85 percent of the average fair market value of our common stock on the last trading day of each quarter. A total of 68,702; 55,513; and 32,993 shares
were issued under the ESPP during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, which had a corresponding cost basis of $0.9 million, $0.5
million, and $0.2 million, respectively. The Company received cash proceeds from the ESPP participants totaling $0.4 million, $0.3 million, and $0.2
million, for fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006.
Deferred Compensation Plan
We have a non-qualified deferred compensation plan that provided certain key officers and employees the ability to defer a portion of their compensation until
a later date. Deferred compensation amounts used to pay benefits are held in a “rabbi trust,” which invests in insurance contracts, various mutual funds, and
shares of the Company’s common stock as directed by the plan participants. The trust assets, which consist of the investments in insurance contracts and
mutual funds, are recorded in our consolidated balance sheets because they are subject to the claims of our creditors. The corresponding deferred
compensation liability represents the amounts deferred by plan participants plus or minus any earnings or losses on the trust assets. The deferred
compensation plan’s assets totaled $0.5 million and $0.7 million at August 31, 2008 and 2007, while the plan’s liabilities totaled $0.7 million and $0.9 million
at August 31, 2008 and 2007. At August 31, 2008, the rabbi trust also held shares of our common stock with a cost basis of $0.5 million. The assets and
liabilities of the deferred compensation plan were recorded in other long-term assets, treasury stock, additional paid-in capital, and long-term liabilities, as
appropriate, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
We expensed charges totaling $0.1 million during each of the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 related to insurance premiums and external
administration costs for our deferred compensation plan.
Due to legal changes resulting from the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, the Company determined to cease compensation deferrals to this deferred
compensation plan after December 31, 2004. Other than the cessation of compensation deferrals and the requirement to distribute investments in Company
stock with shares of stock, the plan will continue to operate and make payments to participants under the same rules as in prior periods.
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17.

INCOME TAXES

The benefit (provision) for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Current:
Federal
State
Foreign

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
Change in
valuationallowance

2008

2007

2006

$

(39) $
(248)
(3,346)
(3,633)

(350) $
(135)
(2,318)
(2,803)

1,433
(23)
(1,903)
(493)

$

(4,276) $
(205)
12

(4,880) $
(433)
49

(4,380)
(376)
(132)

116
(4,353)
(7,986) $

31
(5,223)
(8,036) $

20,323
15,435
14,942

$

Income from operations before income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
United States
Foreign

$
$

2008
8,857 $
4,977
13,834 $

2007
11,914
3,751
15,665

2006
10,881
2,750
13,631

$
$

The differences between income taxes at the statutory federal income tax rate and income taxes reported in our consolidated income statements were as
follows:
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Federal statutory income tax
rate
State income taxes, net of
federal effect
Deferred tax valuation
allowance
Foreign jurisdictions tax
differential
Tax differential on income
subject to both U.S. and
foreign taxes
Uncertain tax positions
Tax on management stock loan
interest
Non-deductible executive
compensation
Other

2008

2007

2006

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

3.3

3.6

2.9

-

-

3.8

1.6

2.2

8.0
(1.5)

4.2
(0.9)

1.5
(9.4)

5.0

5.0

4.5

2.1
2.0
57.7%

2.8
51.3%

0.6
2.2
(109.6)%

(149.1)

Due to improved operating performance and the availability of expected future taxable income, we have concluded that it is more likely than not that the
benefits of deferred income tax assets will be realized. Accordingly, we reversed the valuation allowances on the majority of our net deferred income tax
assets during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 (see further discussion below).
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We paid significant amounts of withholding tax on foreign royalties during fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006. However, no domestic foreign tax credits were
available to offset the foreign withholding taxes during those years.
Various uncertain tax positions were resolved during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, which resulted in net tax benefits to the
Company. The tax benefit recognized in fiscal 2006 was partially offset by an assessment paid in a foreign tax jurisdiction.
The Company accrues taxable interest income on outstanding management common stock loans (Note 11). Consistent with the accounting treatment for these
loans, the Company is not recognizing interest income for book purposes, thus resulting in a permanent book versus tax difference.
The significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities were comprised of the following (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,

2008

Deferred income tax assets:
Sale and financing of corporate
headquarters
$
Net operating loss carryforward
Investment in Franklin Covey Products
Foreign income tax credit carryforward
Impairment of investment in Franklin
Covey Coaching, LLC
Bonus and other accruals
Alternative minimum tax carryforward
Inventory and bad debt reserves
Deferred compensation
Sales returns and contingencies
Other
Total deferred income tax assets
Less: valuation allowance
Net deferred income tax assets
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Intangibles step-ups – definite lived
Intangibles step-ups – indefinite lived
Property and equipment depreciation
Intangible asset impairment and
amortization
Unremitted earnings of foreign
subsidiaries
Other
Total deferred income tax liabilities
Net deferred income taxes

$

2007

11,912 $
7,815
2,986
2,159

12,078
9,818
2,246

1,701
1,135
881
832
503
414
559
30,897
(2,475)
28,422

2,249
1,432
863
1,515
912
468
810
32,391
(2,591)
29,800

(11,863)
(8,647)
(7,294)

(12,821)
(8,633)
(3,574)

(2,018)

(893)

(586)
(85)
(30,493)
(2,071) $

(630)
(78)
(26,629)
3,171

Deferred income tax amounts are recorded as follows in our consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Current assets
Long-term assets
Long-term liabilities
Net deferred income tax asset
(liability)

2008

2007

$

2,472 $
29
(4,572)

3,635
101
(565)

$

(2,071) $

3,171
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A federal net operating loss of $33.3 million was generated in fiscal 2003. During fiscal years 2005 through 2008, a total of $30.2 million of the fiscal 2003
loss carryforward was utilized, leaving a remaining loss carryforward from fiscal 2003 of $3.1 million, which expires on August 31, 2023. The federal net
operating loss carryforward generated in fiscal 2004 totaled $20.8 million and expires on August 31, 2024. The total loss carryforward includes $1.3 million
of deductions applicable to additional paid-in capital that will be credited once all loss carryforward amounts are utilized.
The state net operating loss carryforward of $33.3 million generated in fiscal 2003 was reduced by the utilization of $30.2 million during fiscal years 2005
through 2008 for a net carryforward amount of $3.1 million, which primarily expires between August 31, 2008 and August 31, 2018. The state net operating
loss carryforward of $20.8 million generated in fiscal 2004 primarily expires between August 31, 2008 and August 31, 2019.
The amount of federal and state net operating loss carryforwards remaining at August 31, 2008 and deductible against future years’ taxable income are
subject to limitations imposed by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar state statutes. Under Section 382, we estimate that deductible losses
will be limited to $22.3 million for fiscal 2009 and $9.5 million per year in subsequent years, not to exceed the remaining loss carryforward amounts as of the
beginning of each year.
Our foreign income tax credit carryforward of $2.2 million that was generated during fiscal 2002 expires on August 31, 2012.
Valuation Allowance on Deferred Tax Assets
Our deferred income tax asset valuation allowance decreased by $35.6 million during fiscal 2006. In connection with the reduction in our valuation
allowance, we removed $15.2 million in deferred income tax assets and the corresponding valuation allowance on the management common stock loans,
given the change in the accounting treatment of the management stock loan program (Note 11). The remaining reduction in our deferred income tax asset
valuation allowance resulted in a tax benefit of $20.4 million in fiscal 2006. Because of the accounting treatment of the management stock loans, if any tax
benefit is eventually realized on these loans it will be recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital, rather than reducing our income tax expense.
We concluded that the realization of our U.S. domestic deferred tax assets, except for foreign tax credit carryforwards, was more likely than not at August 31,
2006. Before August 31, 2006, we were precluded from reversing valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets, because we had a cumulative U.S.
domestic pre-tax loss for the preceding three years. However, as of August 31, 2006, we had positive cumulative U.S. pre-tax income for the preceding three
years, thus allowing us to consider reversing valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets.
We determined that projected future taxable income at the budget, more likely than not, and probable levels would be more than adequate to allow for
realization of all U.S. domestic deferred tax assets, except for those related to foreign tax credits. We considered sources of taxable income described in
SFAS No. 109, paragraph 21, including future reversals of taxable temporary differences, future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences
and carryforwards, and reasonable, practical tax-planning strategies to generate additional taxable income. We also noted that the Company had nearly met or
had exceeded budgeted financial targets for the past two years and that Company leaders had worked extensively and successfully on developing a formal
business model, allowing for more reliable budgeting, better fiscal discipline, and more timely ability to identify and resolve problems.
Based on the factors described above, we concluded that realization of our domestic deferred tax assets, except for foreign tax credit carryforwards, was more
likely than not at August 31, 2006. Accordingly, we reversed valuation allowances on the applicable deferred tax assets. Since fiscal 2006, we have
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continued to be profitable, and we have utilized a significant portion of the deferred income tax assets existing at August 31, 2006, particularly net operating
loss carryforwards.
To realize the benefit of our deferred income tax assets, we must generate total taxable income of approximately $77 million over the next 19 years. Taxable
income of approximately $60 million results from the reversal of temporary taxable differences. The remaining taxable income of approximately $17 million
must be generated by the operations of the Company. The table below presents the pre-tax book income, significant book versus tax differences, and taxable
income for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 (in thousands).
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,

2008

Domestic pre-tax book income
$
Deferred taxable loss on sale of assets to Franklin
Covey Products
Deferred gain for book purposes on sale of assets to
Franklin Covey Products
Interest on management common stock loans
Property and equipment depreciation and dispositions
Amortization/write-off of intangible assets
Changes in accrued liabilities
Share-based compensation
Other book versus tax differences
$

8,857

2007
$

5,203
2,755
1,968
(10,459)
(2,028)
(2,373)
(1,144)
(541)
2,238 $

11,914

2006
$

2,243
1,170
(2,814)
(1,217)
933
(468)
11,761 $

10,881
1,771
(3,114)
(1,944)
(4,096)
599
(1,297)
2,800

Adoption of FIN 48
In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. This
interpretation addresses the determination of whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial
statements. Under the provisions of FIN 48, we may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial
statements from such a position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. Interpretation No. 48 also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties on income taxes, accounting for income taxes
in interim periods, and requires increased disclosure of various income tax items.
We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on September 1, 2007 and the implementation of FIN 48 did not result in a material change to our previous liability for
unrecognized tax benefits. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
Description
Balance at September 1, 2007
Additions based on tax positions related to
fiscal 2008
Additions for tax positions in prior years
Reductions for tax positions of prior years
resulting from the lapse of applicable
statute of limitations
Other reductions for tax positions of prior
years
Balance at August 31, 2008

$

4,349
267
31
(292)

$

(123)
4,232
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The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate is $3.0 million. Included in the ending balance of gross
unrecognized tax benefits is $3.1 million related to individual states’ net operating loss carryforwards. Interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions
are recognized as components of income tax expense. The net accruals and reversals of interest and penalties reduced income tax expense by a total of $0.1
million during fiscal 2008. The balance of interest and penalties included on the balance sheet at August 31, 2008 is $0.1 million. The Company does not
expect significant increases or decreases in unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 months.
We file United States federal income tax returns as well as income tax returns in various states and foreign jurisdictions. The tax years that remain subject to
examinations for the Company’s major tax jurisdictions are shown below. Additionally, any net operating losses that were generated in prior years and
utilized in these years may be subject to examination.
2001-2008
2003-2008
2004-2008
2005-2008

18.

Canada
Japan, United Kingdom
United States – state and local income tax
United States – federal income tax

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings or loss per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing net income or loss available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income or loss available to common shareholders by the weightedaverage number of common shares outstanding plus the assumed exercise of all dilutive securities using the treasury stock method or the “as converted”
method, as appropriate. Due to modifications to our management stock loan program (Note 11), we determined that the shares of management stock loan
participants that were placed in the escrow account are participating securities as defined by EITF Issue No. 03-6, Participating Securities and the Two-Class
Method under FASB Statement No. 128, because they continue to have equivalent common stock dividend rights. Accordingly, these management stock loan
shares are included in our basic EPS calculation during periods of net income and excluded from the basic EPS calculation in periods of net loss.
The following table presents the computation of our EPS for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share amounts):
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Net income
Preferred stock dividends
Net income available to common shareholders

$
$

Weighted average common shares outstanding –
Basic
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options
Unvested stock awards
Common stock warrants(1)
Weighted average common shares outstanding –
Diluted

2008
5,848 $
5,848 $

2007
7,629 $
(2,215)
5,414 $

2006
28,573
(4,385)
24,188

19,577

19,593

20,134

10
213
122

29
266
-

52
281
49

19,922

19,888

20,516

Basic EPS

$

.30 $

.28 $

1.20

Diluted EPS

$

.29 $

.27 $

1.18

(1)

For the fiscal year ended August 31, 2007, the conversion of 6.2 million common stock warrants is not assumed because such conversion
would be anti-dilutive.
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At August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, we had 1.8 million, 1.9 million, and 2.0 million stock options outstanding (Note 13) that were not included in the
calculation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding for those periods because the options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of
our common stock. We also have 6.2 million common stock warrants outstanding that have an exercise price of $8.00 per share (Note 10). These warrants,
which expire in March 2013, and the out-of-the-money stock options described above will have a more pronounced dilutive impact on our EPS calculation in
future periods if the market price of our common stock increases.
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19.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Reportable Segments
During the majority of fiscal 2008 we had two segments: the Organizational Solutions Business Unit (OSBU) and the Consumer Solutions Business Unit
(CSBU). However, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we completed the sale of substantially all of the assets of the CSBU (Note 2), which reduced
amounts reported by that segment in fiscal 2008. The following is a description of these segments, their primary operating components, and their significant
business activities during the periods reported:
Organizational Solutions Business Unit – The OSBU is primarily responsible for the development, marketing, sale, and delivery of strategic
execution, productivity, leadership, sales force performance, and communication training and consulting solutions directly to organizational clients,
including other companies, the government, and educational institutions. The OSBU includes the financial results of our domestic sales force, public
programs, and certain international operations. The domestic sales force is responsible for the sale and delivery of our training and consulting
services in the United States. Our international sales group includes the financial results of our directly owned foreign offices and royalty revenues
from licensees.
Consumer Solutions Business Unit – This business unit was primarily focused on sales to individual customers and small business organizations
and included the results of our domestic retail stores, consumer direct operations (primarily Internet sales and call center), wholesale operations,
international product channels in certain countries, and other related distribution channels, including government product sales and domestic printing
and publishing sales. The CSBU results of operations also included the financial results of our paper planner manufacturing operations. Although
CSBU sales primarily consisted of products such as planners, binders, software, totes, and related accessories, virtually any component of our
leadership, productivity, and strategy execution solutions may have been purchased through the CSBU channels.
The Company’s chief operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer and the primary measurement tool used in our business unit performance
analysis is earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA), which may not be calculated as similarly titled amounts calculated by
other companies. For segment reporting purposes, our consolidated EBITDA can be calculated as income from operations excluding depreciation expense,
amortization expense, the gain from the sale of CSBU assets, and the gain from the sale of our manufacturing facility in fiscal 2007. The fiscal 2008
restructuring charge, which totaled $2.1 million, was allocated $1.1 million to OSBU domestic and $1.0 million to OSBU international. The $1.5 million
asset impairment was attributed to OSBU domestic financial results in the following segment information.
In the normal course of business, the Company may make structural and cost allocation revisions to our segment information to reflect new reporting
responsibilities within the organization. During fiscal 2008, we transferred our public programs operations from CSBU to OSBU and made other less
significant organizational changes. All prior period segment information has been revised to conform to the most recent classifications and organizational
changes. We account for our segment information on the same basis as the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
(in thousands)
Fiscal Year Ended
August 31, 2008
Organizational
Solutions Business
Unit:
Domestic
International
Total OSBU

Sales to
External
Customers

$

Consumer Solutions
Business Unit:
Retail
Consumer direct
Wholesale
CSBU International
Other CSBU
Total CSBU
Total operating segments
Corporate and
eliminations
Consolidated
$
Fiscal Year Ended
August 31, 2007
Organizational
Solutions Business
Unit:
Domestic
International
Total OSBU

$

Consumer Solutions
Business Unit:
Retail
Consumer direct
Wholesale
CSBU International
Other CSBU
Total CSBU
Total operating segments
Corporate and
eliminations
Consolidated
$
Fiscal Year Ended
August 31, 2006
Organizational
Solutions Business
Unit:
Domestic
International
Total OSBU

$

Consumer Solutions
Business Unit:
Retail
Consumer direct
Wholesale
CSBU International
Other CSBU
Total CSBU
Total operating segments
Corporate and
eliminations
Consolidated
$

91,287
59,100
150,387

Gross Profit

$

42,167
38,662
16,970
7,295
4,611
109,705
260,092
260,092

93,308
57,674
150,982

84,904
48,984
133,888

$

$

161,789

60,337
39,566
99,903

$

$

175,078

54,479
32,074
86,553

$

$

167,961

$

$

$

(8,867)
16,924 $

1,416
5,692

10,161
13,280
23,441

668
839
1,507

$

$

(8,844)
25,858 $

967
5,394

7,828
9,337
17,165

376
1,197
1,573

$

(6,712)
23,214 $

$

$

$

3,603

3,599
8
3,607

$

$

3,607

3,747
9
3,756

$

$

3,813

$

76,471
178,927

81,526
22,588
104,114

$

$

74,238
196,631

83,292
21,860
105,152

$

$

98,146
216,559

401
7,003

6,166
655
6,821

1,761
358
5,503
7,622
14,443

$

$

6,616
538
6,107
13,261
118,413

$

4,782
535
5,317

263
110
912
1,285
6,602

8,607
620
9,052
18,279
122,393

57
57
3,813

$

80,916
21,540
102,456

Capital
Expenditures

102,456

3,607

1,270
48
1,850
3,168
4,741
614
5,355

3,596
7
3,603

3,603

735
222
1,963
2,920
4,427

4,953
21,308
8,240
1,131
(22,871)
12,761
29,926

$

1,364
754
2,118

Segment
Assets

Amortization

697
233
40
1,188
2,158
4,276

4,666
18,509
9,475
894
(22,283)
11,261
34,702

36,059
30,462
8,820
4,682
1,385
81,408
167,961

$

259
16,892
17,151

Depreciation

2,849
14,667
8,788
1,279
(18,943)
8,640
25,791

31,932
27,829
10,087
4,373
954
75,175
175,078

62,156
52,171
17,782
7,716
4,910
144,735
278,623
278,623

$

25,474
22,657
9,266
3,837
1,354
62,588
161,789

54,316
48,018
17,991
7,342
5,476
133,143
284,125
284,125

56,684
42,517
99,201

EBITDA

678
15,121

4,614
701
5,315

855
517
1,520
2,892
8,207

$

153
8,360

Capital expenditures in our OSBU domestic segment include $4.0 million, $5.1 million, and $4.0 million of spending on capitalized curriculum during the
fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

A reconciliation of reportable segment EBITDA to consolidated income (loss) before taxes is provided below (in thousands):
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YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Reportable segment EBITDA
Corporate expenses
Consolidated EBITDA
Gain on sale of CSBU assets
Gain on sale of manufacturing facility
Depreciation
Amortization
Consolidated income from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Legal settlement
Income before income taxes

$

$

2008
25,791 $
(8,867)
16,924
9,131
(5,692)
(3,603)
16,760
157
(3,083)
13,834 $

2007
34,702 $
(8,844)
25,858
1,227
(5,394)
(3,607)
18,084
717
(3,136)
15,665 $

2006
29,926
(6,712)
23,214
(5,355)
(3,813)
14,046
1,334
(2,622)
873
13,631

Interest expense and interest income are primarily generated at the corporate level and are not allocated to the segments. Income taxes are likewise calculated
and paid on a corporate level (except for entities that operate in foreign jurisdictions) and are not allocated to segments for analysis.
Corporate assets, such as cash, accounts receivable, and other assets are not generally allocated to business segments for business analysis
purposes. However, inventories, intangible assets, goodwill, identifiable fixed assets, and certain other assets are classified by segment. A reconciliation of
segment assets to consolidated assets is as follows (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
Reportable segment assets
Corporate assets
Intercompany accounts
receivable

$

$

2008
102,456 $
78,010

2007
122,393 $
76,047

2006
118,413
99,763

(1,539)
178,927 $

(1,809)
196,631 $

(1,617)
216,559

Enterprise-Wide Information
Our revenues are derived primarily from the United States. However, we also operate wholly-owned offices or contract with licensees to provide products
and services in various countries throughout the world. Our consolidated revenues were derived from the following countries (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31,
Net sales:
United States
Japan
Canada
United Kingdom
Australia
Mexico
Singapore
Brazil/South America
Korea
Indonesia/Malaysia
Others

$

$

2008

2007

197,181 $
26,510
10,389
10,174
4,313
1,905
1,443
1,283
1,234
794
4,866
260,092 $

219,152 $
24,166
8,400
9,843
4,016
4,362
1,306
4,314
1,377
710
6,479
284,125 $

2006
221,880
21,569
8,197
8,587
3,439
3,799
1,072
3,078
1,403
624
4,975
278,623

The Company had wholly-owned offices in Japan, Canada, the United Kingdom, Australia and product sales operations in Mexico during fiscal 2008. Our
long-lived assets held in these locations were as follows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
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AUGUST 31,
Long-lived assets:
United States
Americas
Japan
United Kingdom
Australia

$

$

2008

2007

106,878 $
2,230
1,509
258
141
111,016 $

121,279 $
2,433
1,453
976
387
126,528 $

2006
124,208
2,661
1,489
735
346
129,439

Inter-segment sales were immaterial and are eliminated in consolidation.

20.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company pays the Vice-Chairman and a former Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors a percentage of the proceeds received for seminars that they
present. During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, we expensed charges totaling $2.9 million, $2.0 million, and $1.6 million, to the
Vice-Chairman and former Vice Chairman for their seminar presentations. We also pay the Vice-Chairman and former Vice-Chairman a percentage of the
royalty proceeds received from the sale of certain books that were authored by them. During fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, we expensed $0.3 million, $0.2
million, and $0.2 million for royalty payments made to the Vice-Chairman and former Vice-Chairman under these agreements. At August 31, 2008 and 2007,
we had accrued $0.6 million and $0.3 million payable to the Vice-Chairman and former Vice-Chairman under the forgoing agreements. These amounts were
included as a component of accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets.
We pay a son of the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors, who is also an employee of the Company, a percentage of the royalty proceeds received from
the sales of certain books authored by the son of the Vice-Chairman. During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, we expensed $0.7
million, $0.4 million, and $0.3 million to the son of the Vice-Chairman for these royalty payments and had $0.1 million accrued at August 31, 2008 and 2007
as payable under the terms of this arrangement. These amounts are included in accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets.
During fiscal 2006, we signed a non-exclusive license agreement for certain intellectual property with a son of the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors,
who was previously an officer of the Company and a member of our Board of Directors. We are required to pay the son of the Vice-Chairman royalties for
the use of certain intellectual property developed by the son of Vice-Chairman. Our payments to the son of the Vice-Chairman totaled $0.3 million, $0.2
million, and $0.1 million during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The license agreement provides for minimum royalty
payments during the term of the agreement, which expires in fiscal 2011. The license agreement also contains a provision that allows us to extend the term of
the agreement for an additional five years. The minimum royalties are payable as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING
AUGUST 31,
2009
2010
2011

Each fiscal year of
extended term

$

$

100
100
150
350

$

150

The license agreement with the son of the Vice-Chairman also contains an option to purchase the organizational channel business at specified periods. In
fiscal 2003, we issued a separate non-exclusive license agreement for certain intellectual property to the same son of the Vice-Chairman. The Company
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received a nominal amount to establish the license agreement and license payments required to be paid under terms of this license agreement were
insignificant during fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006.
As part of a preferred stock offering to a private investor, an affiliate of the investor, who was then a director of the Company, was named as the Chairman of
the Board of Directors and was later elected as CEO. This individual continues to serve as our Chairman of the Board and CEO at August 31, 2008. In
addition, one of the affiliates of the private investor was named to our Board of Directors and continues to serve in that position. In connection with the
preferred stock offering, we paid an affiliate of the investor $0.1 million and $0.2 million during the years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006 for monitoring
fees, which were reduced by redemptions of outstanding Series A preferred stock. Following the redemption of all remaining preferred stock in fiscal 2007,
we do not have any further obligation to pay monitoring fees to the affiliate of the investor.
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ITEM 9.

Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
An evaluation was conducted under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report.
Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The management of Franklin Covey Co. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company
(including its consolidated subsidiaries) and all related information appearing in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K. The Company’s internal control
over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that:
1. pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
2. provide reasonable assurance that the transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorization of
management and/or of our Board of Directors; and
3. provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of any unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could
have a material effect on our financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness in future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using the criteria set forth in
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Internal Control—Integrated Framework as issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based upon this
evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report
on Form 10-K.
Our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has audited the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10K and, as part of their audit, has issued an audit report, included herein, on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Their report is
included in Item 8 of this Report on Form 10-K.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f)) during the fourth quarter ended August 31,
2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

Item 9B.

Other Information

There was no information to be disclosed in a current Report on Form 8-K during fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 that was not previously reported.
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PART III
ITEM 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Certain information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Nominees for Election to the Board of Directors,” “Directors
Whose Terms of Office Continue,” “Executive Officers,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Compliance,” “Corporate Governance,” and “Board of
Director Meetings and Committees” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the annual meeting of shareholders, which is scheduled to be held on January 16,
2009. The definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended.
The Board of Directors has determined that one of the Audit Committee members, Robert Daines, is a “financial expert” as defined in Regulation S-K 407(d)
(5) adopted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Daines is an “independent director” as
defined by the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE).
We have adopted a code of ethics for our senior financial officers that include the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, and other members of
the Company’s financial leadership team. This code of ethics is available on our website at www.franklincovey.com. We intend to satisfy the disclosure
requirement regarding any amendment to, or a waiver of, any provision of the Company’s code of ethics through filing a current report on Form 8-K for such
events if they occur.
ITEM 11.

Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” and “Compensation Committee Report” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the annual meeting
of shareholders, which is scheduled to be held on January 19, 2009.

ITEM 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Plan Category
Equity
compensation
plans approved by
security holders(1)

[a]

[b]

Number of
securities to be
issued upon
exercise of
outstanding
options,
warrants, and
rights
(in thousands)

Weightedaverage
exercise price
of outstanding
options,
warrants, and
rights

2,028

$12.82

[c]
Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future issuance
under equity
compensation
plans (excluding
securities
reflected in
column [a])
(in thousands)
1,944

(2)
(1)

Excludes 94,500 shares of unvested (restricted) stock awards that are subject to forfeiture.

(2)

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we canceled all outstanding long-term incentive plan (LTIP) awards granted in fiscal 2007 and fiscal
2006 and these previously granted awards have no impact upon the amounts disclosed.
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The remaining information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Principal Holders of Voting Securities” in the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement for the annual meeting of shareholders, which is scheduled to be held on January 19, 2009.

ITEM 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Corporate
Governance” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the annual meeting of shareholders, which is scheduled to be held on January 19, 2009.

ITEM 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Principal Accountant Fees” in the Company’s definitive Proxy
Statement for the annual meeting of shareholders, which is scheduled to be held on January 19, 2009.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.
(a)

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

List of documents filed as part of this report:
1. Financial Statements. The consolidated financial statements of the Company and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
thereon included in the Annual Report to Shareholders on Form 10-K for the year ended August 31, 2008, are as follows:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at August 31, 2008 and 2007
Consolidated Income Statements and Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules.
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to this Report on Form 10-K).
Other financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not required or applicable, or the required information is shown in the
financial statements or notes thereto, or contained in this report.

3. Exhibit List.
Exhibit
No.
2.1
2.2
3.1
3.2

Exhibit

Incorporated
By Reference

Master Asset Purchase Agreement between Franklin Covey
Products, LLC and Franklin Covey Co. dated May 22, 2008
Amendment to Master Asset Purchase Agreement between
Franklin Covey Products, LLC and Franklin Covey Co. dated
May 22, 2008
Articles of Restatement dated March 4, 2005 amending and
restating the Company’s Articles of Incorporation
Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of
Incorporation of Franklin Covey (Appendix C)

(19)
(20)
(8)
(12)
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3.3
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
10.1*
10.2*
10.3*
10.4*
10.5*
10.6*
10.7*
10.8*
10.9*
10.10*
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14*
10.15*
10.16*
10.17*

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant
Specimen Certificate of the Registrant’s Common Stock, par value
$.05 per share
Stockholder Agreements, dated May 11, 1999 and June 2, 1999
Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 2, 1999
Restated Shareholders Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2005, between
the Company and Knowledge Capital Investment Group
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2005,
between the Company and Knowledge Capital Investment Group
Amended and Restated 1992 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Amended and Restated 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Amended and Restated 1992 Stock Incentive Plan
First Amendment to Amended and Restated 1992 Stock Incentive Plan
Third Amendment to Amended and Restated 1992 Stock Incentive
Plan
Fifth Amendment to the Franklin Covey Co. Amended and Restated
1992 Stock Incentive Plan (Appendix A)
Forms of Nonstatutory Stock Options
Amended and Restated Option Agreement, dated December 8, 2004,
by and between the Company and Robert A. Whitman
Agreement for the Issuance of Restricted Shares, dated as of December
8, 2004, by and between Robert A. Whitman and the Company
Restated Monitoring Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2005, between
the Company and Hampstead Interests, LP
Warrant, dated March 8, 2005, to purchase 5,913,402 shares of
Common Stock issued by the Company to Knowledge Capital
Investment Group
Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock to be issued by
the Company to holders of Series A Preferred Stock other than
Knowledge Capital Investment Group
Franklin Covey Co. 2004 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive
Plan
The first amendment to the Franklin Covey Co. 2004 Non-Employee
Director Stock Incentive Plan, (Appendix B)
Form of Option Agreement for the 2004 Non-Employee Directors
Stock Incentive Plan
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for the 2004 Non-Employees
Directors Stock Incentive Plan
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(5)
(5)
(8)
(8)
(3)
(6)
(15)
(4)
(16)
(17)
(12)
(1)
(7)
(7)
(8)
(8)
(8)
(9)
(12)
(9)
(9)
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10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22

10.23
10.24

10.25
10.26
10.27

10.28

10.29
10.30
10.31

Master Lease Agreement between Franklin SaltLake LLC (Landlord)
Franklin Development Corporation (Tenant)
Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow Instructions between Levy
Affiliated Holdings, LLC (Buyer) and Franklin Development
Corporation (Seller) and Amendments
Redemption Extension Voting Agreement between Franklin Covey Co.
and Knowledge Capital Investment Group, dated October 20, 2005
Agreement for Information Technology Services between each of
Franklin Covey Co. Electronic Data Systems Corporation, and EDS
Information Services LLC, dated April 1, 2001
Additional Services Addendum No. 1 to Agreement for Information
Technology Services between each of Franklin Covey Co. Electronic
Data Systems Corporation, and EDS Information Services LLC, dated
June 30, 2001
Amendment No. 2 to Agreement for Information Technology Services
between each of Franklin Covey Co. Electronic Data Systems
Corporation, and EDS Information Services LLC, dated June 30, 2001
Amendment No. 6 to the Agreement for Information Technology
Services between each of Franklin Covey Co., Electronic Data
Systems Corporation, and EDS Information Services L.L.C. dated
April 1, 2006
Revolving Line of Credit Agreement ($18,000,000) by and between
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Franklin Covey Co. dated March 14,
2007
Secured Promissory Note between JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and
Franklin Covey Co. dated March 14, 2007
Security Agreement between Franklin Covey Co., Franklin Covey
Printing, Inc., Franklin Development Corporation, Franklin Covey
Travel, Inc., Franklin Covey Catalog Sales, Inc., Franklin Covey Client
Sales, Inc., Franklin Covey Product Sales, Inc., Franklin Covey
Services LLC, Franklin Covey Marketing, LTD., and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A. and Zions First National Bank, dated March 14, 2007
Repayment Guaranty between Franklin Covey Co., Franklin Covey
Printing, Inc., Franklin Development Corporation, Franklin Covey
Travel, Inc., Franklin Covey Catalog Sales, Inc., Franklin Covey Client
Sales, Inc., Franklin Covey Product Sales, Inc., Franklin Covey
Services LLC, Franklin Covey Marketing, LTD., and JPMorgan Chase
Bank N.A., dated March 14, 2007
Pledge and Security Agreement between Franklin Covey Co. and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Zions First National Bank, dated
March 14, 2007
Revolving Line of Credit Agreement ($7,000,000) by and between
Zions First National Bank and Franklin Covey Co. dated March 14,
2007
Secured Promissory Note between Zions First National Bank and
Franklin Covey Co. dated March 14, 2007
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(10)
(10)
(11)
(13)
(13)

(13)
(14)

(18)
(18)
(18)

(18)

(18)
(18)
(18)
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10.32

10.33
10.34
10.35
10.36
10.37
10.38
10.39
10.40
10.41
21
23
31.1
31.2
32
99.1
99.2

Repayment Guaranty between Franklin Covey Co., Franklin Covey
Printing, Inc., Franklin Development Corporation, Franklin Covey
Travel, Inc., Franklin Covey Catalog Sales, Inc., Franklin Covey Client
Sales, Inc., Franklin Covey Product Sales, Inc., Franklin Covey
Services LLC, Franklin Covey Marketing, LTD., and Zions First
National Bank, dated March 14, 2007
Credit Agreement between Franklin Covey Canada, Ltd. and TorontoDominion Bank dated February 19, 2007
Master License Agreement between Franklin Covey Co. and Franklin
Covey Products, LLC
Supply Agreement between Franklin Covey Products, LLC and
Franklin Covey Product Sales, Inc.
Master Shared Services Agreement between The Franklin Covey
Products Companies and the Shared Services Companies
Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of Franklin Covey
Products, LLC
Sublease Agreement between Franklin Development Corporation and
Franklin Covey Products, LLC
Sub-Sublease Agreement between Franklin Covey Co. and Franklin
Covey Products, LLC
Loan Modification Agreement between Franklin Covey Co. and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. dated July 8, 2008
General Services Agreement between Franklin Covey Co. and
Electronic Data Systems (EDS) dated October 27, 2008
Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
Section 1350 Certifications
Report of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm, on Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule for the years
ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006
Financial Statement Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
and Reserves.

(18)

(18)
(21)
(21)
(21)
(21)
(21)
(21)
(21)
éé
éé
éé
éé
éé
éé
éé
éé

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on April 17, 1992, Registration No. 33-47283.
(2) Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on May 26, 1992, Registration No.
33-47283.
(3) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 10-K filed November 27, 1992, for the year ended August 31, 1992.
(4) Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on January 3, 1994, Registration No. 33-73728.
100

Table of Contents

(5) Incorporated by reference to Schedule 13D (CUSIP No. 534691090 as filed with the Commission on June 14, 1999). Registration No. 005-43123.
(6) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form S-8 filed with the Commission on May 31, 2000, Registration No. 333-38172.
(7) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 14, 2005.**
(8) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 10, 2005.**
(9) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 25, 2005.**
(10) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 27, 2005.**
(11) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 24, 2005.**
(12) Incorporated by reference to Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A filed with the Commission on December 12, 2005.**
(13) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 10-Q filed July 10, 2001, for the quarter ended May 26, 2001.**
(14) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 5, 2006.**
(15) Incorporated by reference to Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A filed with the Commission on February 1, 2005.**
(16) Incorporated by reference to Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A dated November 5, 1993.**
(17) Incorporated by reference to Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A filed with the Commission on December 3, 1999.**
(18) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 19, 2007.**
(19) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the Commission on May 29, 2008.**
(20) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 10-Q filed July 10, 2008, for the Quarter ended May 31, 2008.**
(21) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 11, 2008.**
éé Filed herewith and attached to this report.
*
Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or agreement.
** Registration No. 001-11107.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on November 14, 2008.
FRANKLIN COVEY CO.

By:

/s/ Robert A.
Whitman
Robert A.
Whitman
Chairman and
Chief Executive
Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/ Robert A.
Whitman
Robert A. Whitman

Title
Chairman of the
Board and Chief
Executive Officer

Date

November 14, 2008

/s/ Stephen R. Covey Vice-Chairman of the November 14, 2008
Board
Stephen R. Covey

/s/Clayton M.
Director
Christensen
Clayton M. Christensen

November 14, 2008

/s/ Robert H. Daines Director
Robert H. Daines

November 14, 2008

/s/ E.J. “Jake” Garn
E.J. “Jake” Garn

Director

November 14, 2008

/s/ Dennis G. Heiner Director
Dennis G. Heiner

November 14, 2008

/s/ Donald J.
McNamara
Donald J. McNamara

Director

November 14, 2008

/s/ Joel C. Peterson
Joel C. Peterson

Director

November 14, 2008

/s/ E. Kay Stepp
E. Kay Stepp

Director

November 14, 2008

Exhibit 10.41

General Services Agreement

This General Services Agreement (the “Agreement”), dated as of October 27, 2008, documents the business relationship between Franklin Covey Co., a
Utah corporation (“FC”), and Electronic Data Systems, LLP, a Delaware corporation (“EDS”), and describes the terms and conditions under which EDS will
provide to FC certain services, resources and deliverables on an as requested basis.
Whereas, The Parties entered into an agreement for Information Technology Services, dated April 1, 2001 which included the various Services to be provided
there under (the “Prior Agreement”). The Prior Agreement has been amended numerous times prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement including but not
limited to the Addendum #8 dated as of July 2008, which acknowledged, among other things, the divestiture of a business unit of FC and elimination of call
center services to FC; and
Whereas during the term of the Prior Agreement there have been a variety of amendments and other related agreements as set forth in Schedule 1, Documents
Deleted In Their Entirety And Superseded, attached hereto, that are no longer applicable and are hereby deleted in their entirety and superseded by this
Agreement and the Work Orders, as defined in Section 2(a) below, and
Whereas during the term of the Prior Agreement, the following documents were executed between the parties, which shall remain in full force and effect:
Implementation of Oracle 11i Project Implementation Waiver/Release dated1/12/2004; 7 Habits Development & License Agreement dated 6/30/2001;
Sublease by and between Electronic Data Systems, LLC (Sublandlord) and Franklin Covey Co. (Subtenant) dated June 30, 2001, and First Amendment to
Standard Sublease Agreement dated 2/1/2007; and
Whereas, The Parties now desire to simplify, consolidate and update the contractual documents which describe and set forth the current rights and obligations
of the Parties;
Now, therefore, as of the Agreement Effective Date, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1.

Term. Subject to Section 11, the term of this Agreement will begin on October 27, 2008 (the “Effective Date”), and, unless earlier terminated as
provided in this Agreement, will continue through June 30, 2016. Such original term may be extended by mutual written agreement of the
Parties. In addition, if one or more Work Orders (as defined below) are outstanding when this Agreement expires (whether after the original term or
otherwise), this Agreement will remain in full force and effect solely for purposes of allowing the activities covered by such Work Orders to be
completed. The obligations of EDS set forth in this Agreement will be performed by EDS, itself and through its affiliates. All references to EDS in
this Agreement will be deemed to include all such affiliates, and EDS and FC may be referred to in this Agreement individually as a “Party” and
together as the “Parties”.

2.

EDS Services.
(a) Work Orders for Services. During the term of this Agreement, FC may request EDS to provide FC with such services, resources and
deliverables as are mutually agreed upon from time to time by EDS and FC and confirmed in a mutually acceptable written authorization
letter substantially in

the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Work Order”). This Agreement establishes the standard provisions that will apply to each
Work Order. Each Work Order will include, at a minimum, (a) an Attachment 1 which will describe the services, resources and deliverables
that EDS will provide thereunder, (b) also in Attachment 1 will describe FC’s role and responsibilities, if any, in connection with such
services, resources and deliverables and (c) an Attachment 2 which will describe the charges to be paid by FC to EDS in consideration for
such services, resources and deliverables. Each Work Order will be numbered sequentially beginning with the number one and, when
executed by the Parties, will be attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes. In the event of any express conflict or
inconsistency between the provisions of an Work Order and the provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of the Work Order will govern
and control with respect to the interpretation of that Work Order; provided, however, that the provisions of the Work Order will be so
construed to give effect to the applicable provisions of this Agreement to the fullest extent possible. Any changes or modifications made to
this Agreement in accordance with Section 19 will apply to all Work Orders, and any changes or modifications made to any Work Order in
accordance with Section 19 will apply only to that Work Order, unless the Parties otherwise expressly agree in writing. The work to be
performed by EDS under this Agreement, as set forth in the Work Orders, is collectively referred to herein as the “EDS Services”.

3.

(b)

Change Control Procedures. Subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, the Parties may revise, amend, alter or otherwise change
the nature and scope of the EDS Services being provided under an Work Order from time to time by mutual written agreement and
otherwise in accordance with the procedures set forth in Exhibit A-1. Such procedures do not apply to changes that result in new services,
which will be initiated, reviewed, approved, documented and implemented in accordance with Section 2(a). The Parties agree to consider
any proposed changes in good faith and to make a good faith effort to accept equitable adjustments to the affected Work Order where
appropriate to accomplish the mutual objectives of the Parties.

(c)

Service Locations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any Work Order, EDS may perform the EDS Services or
any portion thereof from any location determined by EDS or relocate any software or equipment used by EDS to perform the EDS Services;
provided, however, that EDS will provide FC prior written notice of any change in service location and provided, further that any change in
service location made by EDS will not (i) materially and adversely impact EDS’ ability to perform its obligations in accordance with the
terms hereof, including the achievement of any applicable service levels, (ii) increase FC’s fees or costs (unless EDS agrees in writing to
reimburse FC for such increase) or (iii) materially and adversely impact the way in which FC conducts its business or operations.

Representatives. During the term of this Agreement, EDS and FC will each maintain a representative who will be its primary point of contact in
dealing with the other under this Agreement and will have the authority and power to make decisions with respect to actions to be taken by it under
this Agreement. Either Party may change its representative by giving notice to the other of the new representative and the date upon which such
change will become effective. In performing its obligations under this Agreement, EDS will be entitled to rely upon any routine instructions,
authorizations, approvals or other information provided to EDS by FC’s representative or, as to areas of competency specifically identified by such
representative, by any other FC personnel identified by FC’s representative, from time to time, as having authority to provide the same on behalf of
FC in such person’s area of competency. Unless EDS knew of any error, incorrectness or inaccuracy in such instructions, authorizations, approvals
or other information, EDS will incur no liability or responsibility of any kind in relying on or complying with any such instructions, authorizations,
approvals or other information.

4. Certain Financial Matters. In consideration for the performance of the EDS Services, FC will pay to EDS the charges set forth in Attachment 2 of
each Work Order, and such charges will be subject to periodic adjustment in the manner and to the extent indicated therein. In addition, FC will pay
or reimburse EDS for (a) all pass-through and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by EDS, with the prior written approval of FC in writing,
in the performance of the EDS Services and (b) any federal, state, local, foreign or provincial taxes, assessments, claims and other tax charges,
including without limitation sales, use, property, fees, surcharges, ad valorem, telecommunications, gross receipts, excise, stamp, transaction, goods
and services, customs, duties and/or value-added taxes, and interest imposed in connection therewith, but excluding income taxes that are based on
or measured by EDS’ net income. EDS will submit a written invoice to FC on a monthly basis in arrears reflecting the amount owed to EDS by FC
for the EDS Services, with such supporting documentation as FC reasonably requests, and FC will pay the invoiced amount within 30 days of the
date of the invoice. Payment by FC will be by check payable to the order of EDS, except that if any outstanding amount exceeding $1,000,000 will
be payable to EDS electronically (either by wire transfer or ACH) in accordance with payment instructions provided by EDS from time to time, so as
in each case to constitute immediately available funds by 12:00 p.m., local time in the place of payment, on the payment date. If a due date does not
fall on a business day, payments must be received by EDS on or before one business day after such date. Any past due amounts will bear interest
until paid at a rate of interest equal to the lesser of (i) the prime rate established from time to time by Citibank of New York plus four percent or (ii)
the maximum rate of interest allowed by applicable law. In addition, at EDS’ request, FC will provide EDS with an explanation of why an
undisputed amount is not paid when due and a proposed payment plan for FC to bring such past due amount current. If FC disputes an amount on an
invoice in good faith, FC will notify EDS in writing of the specific items in dispute and will describe in detail FC’s reason for disputing each such
item within 20 days of the date of the invoice on which a disputed amount appears. Within 20 days of EDS’ receipt of such notice, the Parties will
negotiate in good faith pursuant to the provisions of Section 10 to reach settlement on any items that are the subject of such dispute. If FC does not
notify EDS of any items in dispute within such 20-day period of time, FC will be deemed to have approved and accepted such invoice. If any portion
of an amount due to EDS under this Agreement is subject to a bona fide dispute between the Parties as provided above, FC will pay to EDS on the
date such amount is due all amounts not disputed in good faith by FC, and the disputed amount will be paid pending resolution of the dispute into an
escrow account that is structured by agreement of the Parties. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in no event may FC
withhold in any one month, as a disputed amount, more than 50% of EDS’ charges (exclusive of reimbursable expenses) for that month.
5.

Employees. The EDS personnel performing the EDS Services will be and remain the employees of EDS, and EDS will provide for and pay the
compensation and other benefits of such employees, including salary, health, accident and workers’ compensation benefits and all taxes and
contributions which an employer is required to pay relating to the employment of employees. During the term of this Agreement and for a period of
12 months thereafter, neither Party will solicit, directly or indirectly, for employment or employ any employee of the other Party who is or was
involved in the performance of the EDS Services without the prior written consent of such other Party. For purposes of this Section 5, “solicit” does
not include advertisements or other publications of general circulation or employment that results directly from responses to such advertisements or
publications, and such advertisements and publications will not constitute a breach of this Section 5.

6.

Privacy Laws. The Parties acknowledge and agree that FC will be and remain the controller of the information relating to FC and its customers that
identifies or is identifiable to an individual person (the

“FC Personal Data”) for purposes of all applicable laws relating to data privacy, personal data, transborder data flow and data protection
(collectively, the “Privacy Laws”), with rights under such laws to determine the purposes for which the FC Personal Data is processed, and nothing
in this Agreement will restrict or limit in any way FC’s rights or obligations as owner and/or controller of the FC Personal Data for such
purposes. As such controller of the FC Personal Data, FC is directing EDS to process the FC Data in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement. The Parties also acknowledge and agree that EDS may have certain responsibilities prescribed as of the date hereof by applicable
Privacy Laws as a processor of the FC Personal Data, and EDS hereby acknowledges such responsibilities to the extent required thereby for
processors of personal data and agrees that such responsibilities will be considered as a part of the EDS Services to be provided by EDS under this
Agreement. In the event that Privacy Laws to which the activities contemplated by this Agreement are subject are modified or new Privacy Laws
that are applicable to such activities come into effect, EDS will work with FC in an effort to continue to comply with such Privacy Laws, as so
modified or added, but to the extent that such modifications or additions expand the scope or increase the cost of the activities previously undertaken
by EDS pursuant to this Section 6, EDS will, at FC’s reasonable request, provide such additional activities as additional services, but only to the
extent that the Parties have reached agreement regarding the nature and scope of such services, the period of time during which such services will be
provided and the basis upon which EDS will be compensated therefor.
7.

Confidentiality. EDS and FC will have the confidentiality obligations set forth in Exhibit B.

8.

Representations, Warranties and Additional Covenants. EDS and FC will have the obligations relating to the representations, warranties and
additional covenants set forth in Exhibit C.

9.

Ownership.
(a) Developed Software and Other Deliverables. Each party will retain all rights, including trademarks, patents, trade secrets and copyrights
(“IP Rights”), in any software, ideas, concepts, know-how, development tools, techniques or any other proprietary material or information
that it owned or developed prior to the date of this Agreement, or acquired or developed after the date of this Agreement without reference
to or use of the intellectual property of the other party. Subject to any third party rights or restrictions and the other provisions of this
Section 9, FC will own the IP Rights (either as a work for hire or by assignment from EDS) in and to all deliverables that (a) are developed
and delivered by EDS under this Agreement and (b) are paid for by FC. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, EDS
(i) will retain all IP Rights in and to all software development tools, know-how, methodologies, processes, technologies or algorithms used
in performing the Services which are based on previously developed trade secrets or proprietary information of EDS or are otherwise
owned or licensed by EDS (collectively, “tools”), (ii) will be free to use the ideas, concepts and know-how which are developed or created
in the course of performing the Services and may be retained by EDS’ employees in intangible form, all of which constitute substantial
rights on the part of EDS in the technology developed as a result of the Services performed under this Agreement, and (iii) will retain
ownership of any prior-developed EDS-owned software or tools (“EDS Tools”) that are used in producing the deliverables and become
embedded in the deliverables. EDS hereby grants to FC a perpetual (subject to compliance with this sentence), royalty-free,
nontransferable, nonexclusive license to use such embedded EDS Tools (if any) solely in connection with FC’s internal use and exploitation
of the deliverables and only so long as such software and tools (if any) remain embedded in the deliverables and are not separated there
from. EDS will own patent rights with respect to processes and methodologies developed by EDS in connection with deliverables other

than the copyright ownership rights granted to FC pursuant to this Section 9. To the extent that EDS commercializes any patent or
deliverable designed, created or paid-for by FC, EDS shall negotiate in good faith with FC a royalty. Such royalty shall be in a reasonable
amount under all of the circumstances surrounding such commercialization and the total of such royalty payments shall in any event be
limited to the amount required to reimburse FC for any and all development fees incurred in creating said patent or deliverable, which
limitation shall be agreed upon in writing at the time the royalty is negotiated. No licenses will be deemed to have been granted by either
party to any of its patents, trade secrets, trademarks or copyrights, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement. Nothing in
this Agreement (A) will require EDS or FC to violate the proprietary rights of any third party in any software or otherwise or (B) will
impair EDS’ right to acquire, license, market, distribute, develop for itself or others or have others develop for EDS similar technology
performing the same or similar functions as the technology and Services contemplated by this Agreement. The provisions of this Section 9
will survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason.
(b) Third Party Software. To the extent that EDS uses any third party software or documentation and such software or documentation becomes
embedded in a Deliverable, EDS will obtain for FC a perpetual, royalty-free, nontransferable, nonexclusive, worldwide license to use such
software or documentation as part of the Deliverable, or such other license as EDS and FC agree in writing. Nothing in this Agreement will
require EDS or FC to violate the proprietary rights of any third party in any software or otherwise.
(c) EDS Development Tools; Residual Technology. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, EDS will retain all right, title
and interest in and to, and will be free to use, (a) the EDS Development Tools and (b) subject to the confidentiality obligations set forth in
Section 7, the Residual Technology. The Parties acknowledge and agree that EDS’ right, title and interest in and to the Residual
Technology constitute substantial rights in the technology developed as a result of the Services performed under this Agreement. No
licenses will be deemed to have been granted by either Party to any of its patents, trade secrets, trademarks or copyrights, except as
otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement will require EDS or FC to violate the proprietary rights of any
third party in any software or otherwise. The term “Residual Technology” means the ideas, concepts, methodologies, processes and knowhow which are developed or created by EDS in the course of performing the Services and may be retained by EDS’ employees in intangible
form.
(d) Licenses. EDS hereby grants to FC a perpetual, royalty-free, nontransferable, nonexclusive, worldwide license to use any embedded Tools
and Residual Technology as part of the Deliverables. No licenses will be deemed to have been granted by either Party to any of its patents,
trade secrets, trademarks or copyrights, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Section 9.
(e) Rights in Software Outside this Agreement. Each Party will retain all rights in any software, documentation, tools, techniques, methodologies,
trade secrets or any other proprietary material or information that it owned as of the date of this Agreement or acquired or developed after the
date hereof without reference to or use of the intellectual property of the other Party.
(f) Other. EDS and FC agree to execute and deliver such other instruments and documents as either Party reasonably requests to evidence or effect
the transactions contemplated by this Section 9.

The provisions of this Section 9 will survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason.
10.

Dispute Escalation and Resolution.
(a)
In the event of any dispute, controversy or claim arising under, out of, in connection with or in relation to this Agreement or any Work
Order, or the breach, termination, validity or enforceability of any provision hereof or thereof (a “Dispute”), then upon the written request of either
Party, each of the Parties will appoint a designated senior business executive whose task it will be to meet of the purpose of endeavoring to resolve
the Dispute. The designated executives will meet as often as the Parties reasonably deem necessary in order to gather an furnish to the other all
information with respect to the matter in issue which the Parties believe to be appropriate and germane in connection with its resolution. Such
executives will discuss the Dispute and will negotiate in good faith in an effort to resolve the Dispute without the necessity of any formal proceeding
relating thereto. The specific format for such discussions will be left to the discretion of the designated executives buy may include the preparation
of agreed upon statements of fact or written statements of position furnished to the other Party. Nor formal proceedings for the resolution of the
Dispute under Section 10(b) or Section 10(c) may be commenced until the earlier to occur of (i) a good faith mutual conclusion by the designated
executives that amicable resolution through continued negotiation of the matter in issue does not appear likely or (ii) the 30th day after the initial
request to negotiate the Dispute.
(b)
Any Dispute not resolved informally through negotiation between the Parties pursuant to Section 10(a) will be submitted to non-binding
mediation. The Parties will mutually determine who the mediator will be from a list of mediators obtained from the Judicial, Arbitration and
Mediation Service office located in the city determined as set forth below in this Section 10(b) (“JAMS”). If the Parties are unable to agree on the
mediator, the mediator will be selected by JAMS.
(c)
If any Dispute is not resolved through mediation pursuant to Section 10(b), it will be resolved by final and binding arbitration conducted by
a panel of three arbitrators in accordance with and subject to the JAMS Comprehensive Arbitration Rules and Procedures then applicable. One
arbitrator will be selected by FC, one arbitrator will be selected by EDS and the third arbitrator will be selected by the arbitrators designated by FC
and EDS. If the two arbitrators cannot agree on a third arbitrator, the third arbitrator will be selected by JAMS. The arbitrators will allow such
discovery as is appropriate, consistent with the purposes of arbitration in accomplishing fair, speedy and cost effective resolution of disputes. The
arbitrators will reference the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure then in effect in setting the scope of discovery, except that no requests for admissions
will be permitted and interrogatories will be limited to identifying (a) persons with knowledge of relevant facts and (b) expert witnesses and their
opinions and the bases therefor. Judgment upon the award rendered in any such arbitration may be entered in any court having jurisdiction
thereof. Any negotiation, mediation or arbitration conducted pursuant to this Section 10 will take place in Plano, Texas, if initiated by FC, and in
Salt Lake City, Utah, if initiated by EDS, and each Party will bear its own costs and expenses with respect to any such negotiation, mediation or
arbitration, including one-half of the fees and expenses of the mediator or arbitrators, if applicable. Other than those matters involving injunctive
relief or any action necessary to enforce the final award of the arbitrators, the Parties agree that the provisions of this Section 10(c) are a complete
defense to any suit, action or other proceeding instituted in any court or before any administrative tribunal with respect to any Dispute or the
performance of the EDS Services by EDS. Nothing in this Section 10(c) prevents the Parties from exercising their right to terminate this Agreement
and all outstanding Work Orders in accordance with Section 11.

11.

Termination. If either Party materially defaults in the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement or any Work Order, which default
(a) if of a non-monetary nature, is not substantially cured within 30 days after notice is given to the defaulting Party specifying the default or, with
respect to those defaults that cannot reasonably be cured within 30 days, should the defaulting Party fail to proceed within 30 days to commence
curing the default and thereafter to proceed with all reasonable diligence to substantially cure the default, or (b) if of a monetary nature, is not cured
within 10 days after notice is given to the defaulting Party specifying the default, the Party not in default may, by giving written notice thereof to the
defaulting Party, terminate this Agreement and all outstanding Work Orders as of a date specified in such notice of termination. In addition to the
requirements of Section 17, to be effective and to commence the running of any applicable cure period, any notice given pursuant to this Section 11
must explicitly identify the type of notice being given, whether of default or of termination, and reference this Section 11. In addition and except as
otherwise set forth in a specific Work Order, FC may terminate this Agreement at any time upon at least six (6) months prior written notice to
EDS. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement and all Work Orders for any reason, except as set forth in the last sentence of Section 1,
EDS will cease to perform the EDS Services for FC, and FC will pay to EDS all sums due to EDS as a result of the EDS Services performed and
expenses incurred (including those expenses that, instead of being concurrently billed, have been included in future payments to be made by FC)
through the effective date of such expiration or termination (prorated as appropriate). The expiration or termination of this Agreement and all Work
Orders for any reason will not release either Party from any liabilities or obligations set forth herein or therein which (a) the Parties have expressly
agreed will survive any such expiration or termination or (b) remain to be performed or by their nature would be intended to be applicable following
any such expiration or termination. Any materials or equipment furnished by FC and any materials or equipment, the cost are reimbursed to EDS by
the FC hereunder, are to be and remain the sole property of FC and are to be returned to FC within thirty (30) days of the expiration or earlier
termination of this Agreement, or within ten (10) days after written demand by FC, whichever first occurs.

12.

Indemnities. EDS and FC will have the indemnity obligations set forth in Exhibit D.

13.

Liability.
(a)

General Limitation. Subject to the last sentence of this Section 13(a), the liability of each Party to the other for all damages arising out of
or related to an Work Order, regardless of the form of action that imposes liability, whether in contract, equity, negligence, intended
conduct, tort or otherwise, will be limited to and will not exceed, in the aggregate for all claims, actions and causes of action of every kind
and nature, the Work Order Damages Limit for such Work Order. The “Work Order Damages Limit” for each Work Order will be stated in
such Work Order. However, if the Work Order Damages Limit is omitted from an Work Order, the Work Order Damages Limit for such
Work Order will be equal to the charges paid by FC to EDS under such Work Order for the 12 months preceding the last act or omission
giving rise to such liability or, if 12 months have not elapsed since the effective date of such Work Order, an amount equal to the charges
paid by FC for the number of months that have elapsed. The liability of each Party to the other for all damages arising out of or related to
this Agreement and all Work Orders, regardless of the form of action that imposes liability, whether in contract, equity, negligence, intended
conduct, tort or otherwise, will be limited to and will not exceed, in the aggregate for all claims, actions and causes of action of every kind
and nature, the lesser of sum of $5,000,000.00 or the charges paid by FC to EDS under this Agreement and all Work Orders for the 12
months preceding the last act or omission giving rise to such liability or, if 12 months have not elapsed since the Effective Date, an amount
equal to the charges paid by FC for the number of months that have elapsed (the “Aggregate Damages Limit”).

(b)

Limitation on Other Damages. In no event will the measure of damages payable by either Party include, nor will either Party be liable for,
any amounts for loss of income, profit or savings or indirect, incidental, consequential, exemplary, punitive or special damages of any Party,
including third parties, even if such Party has been advised of the possibility of such damages in advance, and all such damages are
expressly disclaimed.

(c)

Exceptions to Limitations. The limitations set forth in Sections 13(a) and 13(b) will not apply to (i) the liability of either Party to the extent
such liability results from (A) that Party’s acts of intentional tortious conduct or gross negligence in the performance or nonperformance of
its obligations under this Agreement or (B) that Party’s nonperformance of its payment obligations to the other expressly set forth in this
Agreement (including, with respect to FC, FC’s obligation to make payments to EDS during the term of this Agreement as required hereby,
whether in the form of charges or for payment or reimbursement of taxes, out-of-pocket expenses or pass-through expenses, and EDS’ lost
profits on such payments) or (ii) the tax-related liabilities of FC under Section 4 and Exhibit D.

(d)

[Reserved]

(e)

Acknowledgement. The Parties expressly acknowledge that the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Section 13 have been the subject
of active and complete negotiation between the Parties and represent the Parties’ agreement taking into account each Party’s level of risk
associated with the performance or nonperformance of its obligations under this Agreement and the payments and other benefits to be
derived by each Party pursuant to this Agreement. The provisions of this Section 13 will survive the expiration or termination of this
Agreement and each Work Order for any reason.

14.

Excused Performance. Neither Party will be deemed to be in default hereunder, or will be liable to the other, for failure to perform any of its nonmonetary obligations under this Agreement or any Work Order for any period and to the extent that such failure results from any event or
circumstance beyond that Party’s reasonable control, including acts or omissions of the other Party or third parties, natural disasters, health crises
such as epidemics and pandemics, riots, war, terroristic activity, civil disorder, court orders, acts or regulations of governmental bodies, labor
disputes or failures or fluctuations in electrical power, heat, light, air conditioning or telecommunications equipment or lines, or other equipment
failure, and which it could not have prevented by reasonable precautions or could not have remedied by the exercise of reasonable efforts, provided
that the exercise of such reasonable precautions or reasonable efforts will not require the incurrence of any additional cost or expense.

15.

Export Regulations. This Agreement is expressly made subject to any United States and other applicable laws, regulations, orders or other
restrictions regarding export from the United States or another country, and import into any country, of computer hardware, software, technical data
or other items, or derivatives of such hardware, software, technical data or other items. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement,
neither Party will directly or indirectly export (or re-export) any computer hardware, software, technical data or any other item provided to or by it
for purposes of this Agreement, or any derivative of the same, or permit the shipment of the same: (a) into (or to a national or resident of) Cuba,
North Korea, Iran, Iraq, Sudan, Syria or any other country to which the United States has embargoed goods; (b) to anyone on the U.S. Treasury
Department’s List of Specially Designated Nationals, List of Specially Designated Terrorists or List of Specially Designated Narcotics Traffickers, or
the U.S. Commerce Department’s Denied Parties List; or (c) to any person, country or destination for which the United States

or another country with jurisdiction, or any agency of the same, requires an export license or other authorization for export without first having
obtained any such license or other authorization required. FC will provide to EDS not less than 10 days’ prior written notice in the event that any
technical data, hardware, software or other items provided by FC that will be used or accessed by EDS in providing the EDS Services is controlled
for export under the International Traffic in Arms Regulations or other applicable laws (unless such items are controlled for export under United
States law only as ECCN EAR99) and, if requested by EDS, will provide the ECCN classification of any such item, or the similar classification as
appropriate under other applicable law. Unless otherwise expressly agreed, FC will be the importer of record of any items for which import is
required for delivery of any portion of the EDS Services outside the United States. Each Party will reasonably cooperate with the other and will
provide to the other promptly upon request any end-user certificates, affidavits regarding re-export or other certificates or documents as are
reasonably requested to obtain authorizations, consents, licenses and/or permits required for any payment or any export or import of products or
services under this Agreement. The provisions of this Section 15 will survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason.
16.

Right to Engage in Other Activities. FC acknowledges and agrees that EDS may provide technology services for third parties at any EDS facility
that EDS may utilize from time to time for performing the EDS Services. Subject to the restrictions on the disclosure of confidential information set
forth in Exhibit B, nothing in this Agreement or any Work Order will impair EDS’ right to acquire, license, market, distribute, develop for itself or
others or have others develop for EDS similar technology performing the same or similar functions as the technology and EDS Services
contemplated by this Agreement.

17.

Notices. All notices under this Agreement and each Work Order will be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given if delivered
personally or by a nationally recognized courier service, faxed or mailed by registered or certified national mail service, return receipt requested,
postage prepaid, to the Parties at the addresses set forth below. All notices under this Agreement and each Work Order that are addressed as
provided in this Section 17, (a) if delivered personally or by a nationally recognized courier service, will be deemed given upon delivery, (b) if
delivered by facsimile, will be deemed given when confirmed and (c) if delivered by mail in the manner described above, will be deemed given on
the date received by the recipient as reflected on the return receipt. Either Party may change its address or designee for notification purposes by
giving notice to the other of the new address or designee and the date upon which such change will become effective.
In the case of FC:
2200 West Parkway Blvd.
Salt Lake City, Utah 84119
Fax: (801) 817-8069
Attention: Steve Young
With a copy to:
Franklin Covey
2200 West Parkway Blvd.
Salt Lake City, Utah 84119

Fax: (801) 817-8197
Attention: Legal Service
and
In the case of EDS:
c/o Franklin Covey
2250 West Parkway Blvd.
Salt Lake City, Utah 84119
Fax: (801) 817-8069
Attention: Joe Haynie or Franklin Covey Products EDS Account Executive
With a copy to:
Office of the General Counsel
5400 Legacy Drive
Plano, TX 75024
Fax:
Attention: General Counsel
18.

Public Relations and Marketing References. Each Party will coordinate with the other regarding any media release, public announcement or
similar disclosure relating to this Agreement or any Work Order or its subject matter and will give the other Party a reasonable opportunity to review
and comment on the content of such release, announcement or disclosure prior to its release. This provision does not alter the restrictions on the
disclosure of confidential information set forth in Exhibit B and, subject to Exhibit B, will not be construed so as to delay or restrict either Party from
disclosing any information required to be disclosed in order to comply with any applicable laws, rules or regulations. Notwithstanding the foregoing
but subject to any applicable laws, rules or regulations, each Party will have the right to list the name of the other Party, to make general references
to the basic nature of the relationship between the Parties under this Agreement and to describe generally the type of services being provided by EDS
to FC under this Agreement and each Work Order in such Party’s promotional and marketing materials, in such Party’s oral or visual presentations to
third parties, in interviews conducted by the news media or securities analysts and in or through any other available media channels, including print,
internet, radio, cable and broadcast mediums.

19.

Other. Where agreement, approval, acceptance or consent of either Party is required by this Agreement or any Work Order, such action will not be
unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. The Parties are independent contractors, and neither this Agreement nor any Work Order will be
construed as constituting either Party as partner, joint venturer or fiduciary of the other. If any provision (other than a provision relating to any
payment obligation) of this Agreement or any Work Order or the application hereof or thereof to any persons or circumstances is, to any extent, held
invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement and each Work Order or the application of such provision to persons or circumstances
other than those as to which it is invalid or unenforceable will not be affected thereby, and each provision of this Agreement and each Work Order
will be valid and enforceable to the extent permitted by law. The provisions of this Agreement will be given equal weight regardless of the order in
which they appear herein. Nothing in this Agreement or any Work Order may be relied upon or will benefit any party other than EDS and FC. This
Agreement and each Work Order (a) will be governed by the substantive laws of the State of

Utah (without giving effect to any choice-of-law rules that may require the application of the laws of another jurisdiction and subject to the last two
sentences of this Section 19), (b) will be binding on the Parties and their successors and permitted assigns, (c) may not be assigned by either Party
without the prior written consent of the other (except that EDS will have the right to perform the EDS Services itself and through its affiliates and to
subcontract to third parties portions of the EDS Services, so long as EDS remains responsible for the obligations performed by any of its affiliates or
subcontractors to the same extent as if such obligations were performed by EDS) and (d) may not be changed or modified orally, but only by a
written amendment or revision signed by the Parties. This Agreement and each Work Order (including any exhibits or attachments referred to herein
or therein and attached hereto or thereto, each of which is incorporated herein or therein, as applicable, by this reference for all purposes) constitute,
as of the effective date of this Agreement or that Work Order, as applicable, the full and complete statement of the agreement of the Parties with
respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersede any previous or contemporaneous agreements, understandings or communications,
whether written or oral, relating to such subject matter.
20

Audit Rights.
(a)

General. Employees of FC and its auditors who are from time to time designated by FC and who agree in writing to the security and
confidentiality obligations and procedures reasonably required by EDS will be provided with reasonable access to any facility at which the
Services are being performed to enable them to conduct audits of EDS’ performance of the Services and other matters relevant to this
Agreement, including (i) verifying the accuracy of EDS’ charges to FC and (ii) verifying that the Services are being provided in accordance
with this Agreement, including any Service Levels.

(b)

Procedures. Such audits may be conducted once a year during reasonable business hours; provided, however, that the Parties may agree to
more frequent audits as deemed reasonably necessary. FC will provide EDS with prior written notice of an audit. EDS will cooperate in the
audit, will make the information reasonably required to conduct the audit available on a timely basis and will assist the designated
employees of FC or its auditors as reasonably necessary. If FC requests resources beyond those resources then assigned to the account team
under this Agreement who are able to provide reasonable assistance of a routine nature in connection with such audit, such resources will be
provided as Additional Services. EDS will retain records that support EDS’ performance of the Services and other matters relevant to this
Agreement in accordance with EDS’ retention guidelines. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, EDS will not be
required to provide access to the proprietary data of EDS or other EDS customers. All information learned or exchanged in connection with
the conduct of an audit, as well as the results of any audit, is confidential and will be subject to Section 7.

(c)

Results. Following an audit, FC will conduct an exit conference with EDS to discuss issues identified in the audit that pertain to EDS, and
FC will give EDS a copy of any portion of the audit report pertaining to EDS. The Parties will review each EDS audit issue and will
determine (i) what, if any, actions will be taken in response to such audit issues, when and by whom and (ii) which Party will be responsible
for the cost of taking the actions necessary to resolve such issues. Any such determination will be based on the following criteria: (A) who
the owner of the original deficiency is; (B) who has contractual responsibility for the improvement of internal controls; and (C) who owns
the standards against which the audit is done. EDS will not be responsible for the cost of an audit, except to the extent the audit expenses
are incurred in connection with a specific audit limited to EDS and the an original material deficiency discovered in the audit is attributable

to EDS, or otherwise agreed to in writing by the Parties. For the purposes of this Agreement a “material deficiency” is any discrepancy
between charges billed and actual billable charges of greater than five percent (5%).

In Witness Whereof, the Parties have duly executed and delivered this Agreement by their duly authorized representatives as of the date first set forth above.

FRANKLIN COVEY CO

ELECTRONIC DATA SYSTEMS, LLP

By:
Title:

By:
Title:

/s/ Robert A. Whitman
Chairman and CEO

Printed Name: Robert A. Whitman
Address:
2200 West Parkway Blvd.
Salt Lake City, UT 84119
Date:

/s/ Bjoern Peterson
Regional Manager
Industries
Printed Name: Bjoern Peterson
Address:
5400 Legacy Drive
Plano, TX 75024
Date:

of

Retail

SCHEDULE 1
DOCUMENTS FROM PRIOR AGREEMENT
DELETED IN THEIR ENTIRETY AND SUPERSEDED
BY GENERAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

Date:

4/1/2001

Purpose:
2.1
2.2
2.7(b)
3.2
3.2(a)
3.2(b)
3.2(c)
5
7
9.1(a)
9.1(b)
9.5(a)
11.4
13.8
Date:

Original Agreement for Information
Technology Services
Original IT Outsource
Employee Offerees
Key Positions
Franklin Covey Competitors
Statement of Work
Service Levels
Responsibility Matrix
Supported Locations
Maintenance Contracts
Supported Products
Charges - Variable Monthly
Charges - Baseline Monthly
Tax Mapping
Termination for Convenience
Address for Notices

5/14/2001

Amendment and Re-Incorporation
Agreement
Add ecommerce hosting to
agreement

Date:
Purpose:

6/30/2001

Amendment #2 to IT Agreement
Extend term of IT services to CC &
WH length

Date:
Purpose:

6/30/2001

Additional Services Addendum #1
Add Call Center & Warehouse
Services

Date:

9/27/2002

Amendment and Re-Incorporation
Agreement #2
Modifies pricing and SLAs on
WH/CC

Date:
Purpose:

10/1/2002

Additional Services Addendum #3
Tech Support Call Center

Date:

1/12/2004

Addendum #4: Project
Implementation Resolution
Resolve dispute re implementation

2/24/2004

Amend/Reincorp
Changes WH/CC Pricing

Purpose:

Purpose:

Purpose:
Date:
Purpose:

Date:
Purpose:

10/1/2004

Amend/Reincorp #3
Include retail IT support

Date:
Purpose:

4/1/2006

Amendment No. 6
IT scope changes

Date:
Purpose:

2/21/2007

Amendment No. 7
Adjust fixed charges

Date:

7/23/2002

MOU-Retek/McHugh and Oracle
11i
Implementation of Oracle 11i

10/16/2002

MOU-Retek/McHugh and Oracle
11i
GS160 and Project extension

07/06/2008

Addendum #8
Acknowledgement Of the
divestiture of a business unit of FC
and elimination of call center
services to FC

Purpose:
Date:
Purpose:
Date:
Purpose:

Exhibit A
Form of Work Order
AUTHORIZATION LETTER NO. _______
This Work Order No. _______ will confirm the mutual understanding and agreement of _______________ (“FC) and Electronic Data Systems, LLP ("EDS")
as to the terms and conditions pursuant to which EDS, itself and through its affiliates, will perform the services and produce the deliverables described in this
Work Order No. _______. All references to EDS in this Work Order No. _______ will be deemed to include all such affiliates, and EDS and FC may be
referred to herein individually as a “Party” and together as the “Parties”. The terms and conditions of this Work Order No. _______ are as follows:

1.

This Work Order No. _______ is entered into by the Parties under the provisions of that certain General Services Agreement, dated as of
_______________, _______, between FC and EDS (the “Agreement”), and, except as otherwise provided in this Work Order No. _______, all
provisions of the Agreement are applicable to this Work Order No. _______.

2.

The term of this Work Order No. _______ will begin on _______________, _______, and, unless earlier terminated as provided in the Agreement,
will continue through _______________, _______. The term of this Work Order No. _______ may be extended by mutual written agreement of the
Parties.

3.

During the term of this Work Order No. _______, EDS will perform the services and produce the deliverables described in Attachment 1.

4.

During the term of this Work Order No. _______, FC will, at its own cost and expense, have the obligations to EDS also as described in Attachment
1.

5.

For the services performed and the deliverables produced by EDS under this Work Order No. _______, FC will pay to EDS the charges described in
Attachment 2, [as such charges are adjusted from time to time as provided in Attachment 2].

6.

This Work Order No. _______ will also be subject to the additional provisions set forth below.
[Include any additional provisions.]

7.

The amount of the Work Order Damages Limit for this Work Order No. _______ is $_______________.

In Witness Whereof, the Parties have duly executed and delivered this Work Order No. _______ by their duly authorized representatives as of
_______________, _______.

FRANKLIN COVEY CO.

ELECTRONIC DATA SYSTEMS,
LLP

By:
Title:
Printed
Name:
Address:

By:
Title:
Printed
Name:
Address:

Date:

Date:

Attachment 1
to
Work Order No. _______
EDS Services

[To be added.]
Add FC obligations/tasks as applicable

[See Import/Export Note in Section 2.]

Attachment 2
to
Work Order No. _______
Charges

[To be added.]

Exhibit A-1
Change Control Procedures

Either Party may request changes to the EDS Services in accordance with the following requirements:
A-1-1.

Change Request. A Party will notify the other Party’s primary representative designated pursuant to Section 3 of this Agreement in writing
of a requested change and will include in such notice sufficient details of the change to enable such other Party to evaluate it (the “Change
Request”).

A-1-2.

Preliminary Estimate. If EDS submits a Change Request to FC, it will include with such Change Request an estimate (the “Preliminary
Estimate”) of the time and cost to make the requested change. If FC submits a Change Request to EDS, EDS will, within a reasonable
period of time following the date of receipt of the Change Request, provide FC with a Preliminary Estimate of the time and cost to make the
requested change.

A-1-3.

Response Period. Within the time frame specified by EDS in the Preliminary Estimate (the “Response Period”), FC will notify EDS in
writing whether or not to proceed with the assessment of the Change Request. If, within the Response Period, FC notifies EDS in writing
not to proceed, the Change Request will be deemed withdrawn, and EDS will take no further action on it. If EDS does not receive any
notice from FC within the Response Period, FC will be deemed to have advised EDS not to proceed.

A-1-4.

Change Control Document. If, within the Response Period, FC notifies EDS in writing to proceed with the assessment of the Change
Request, EDS will prepare a document (the “Change Control Document”) in accordance with the Preliminary Estimate which includes (i)
a description of the change, (ii) the benefit of or reason for the change, (iii) the issues or concerns with the change, (iv) the priority of the
change, (v) the modifications, additions and/or deletions that need to be made to the affected Work Order in order to implement the change,
including the proposed increase or decrease in the charges to be paid by FC thereunder, and (vi) the potential impact on the current nature
and scope of the EDS Services, including service levels and any project delivery schedules.

A-1-5.

Acceptance by EDS. EDS will provide FC with the completed Change Control Document, signed by EDS, which will constitute an offer
by EDS to implement the Change Request with all associated changes to the affected Work Order specified in the Change Control
Document. Such offer will be irrevocable for five business days following the date of receipt of the offer by FC.

A-1-6.

Acceptance by FC. If FC accepts EDS’ offer by acknowledging such acceptance in writing on the Change Control Document, the Change
Control Document will become an amendment to the affected Work Order and will be binding on both Parties. Each Change Control
Document will be numbered sequentially per Work Order and will be logged and tracked by EDS as part of the EDS Services.

Exhibit B
Confidentiality

B-1.

Scope of Obligation. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, EDS and FC each agrees that (a) all information communicated to
it by the other and identified as confidential, whether before or after the date hereof, (b) all information identified as confidential to which it has
access in connection with the EDS Services, whether before or after the date hereof, and (c) this Agreement and the Parties' rights and obligations
hereunder, will be and will be deemed to have been received in confidence and will be used only for purposes of this Agreement, and each of EDS
and FC agrees to use the same means as it uses to protect its own confidential information, but in no event less than reasonable means, to prevent the
disclosure and to protect the confidentiality thereof. No such information will be disclosed by the recipient Party without the prior written consent
of the other Party; provided, however, that each Party may disclose this Agreement and the other Party's confidential information to those of the
recipient Party's attorneys, auditors, insurers (if applicable), subcontractors and employees who have a need to have access to such information in
connection with their employment (or engagement, if applicable) by the recipient Party, so long as the recipient Party advises each such attorney,
auditor, insurer, subcontractor and employee of the confidentiality obligations set forth in this Exhibit B. In any event, compliance by each of the
persons referenced in the preceding sentence with the confidentiality obligations set forth in this Exhibit B will remain the responsibility of the Party
employing or engaging such persons. Notwithstanding the foregoing, EDS may disclose this Agreement and other confidential information to which
it has access hereunder to professional advisers, financial institutions and other third parties in connection with any proposed transaction to provide
financing related to this Agreement or the obligations of EDS hereunder, so long as each of them execute a confidentiality agreement containing
terms and conditions no less restrictive than those set forth in this Exhibit B.

B-2.

Exceptions. The foregoing will not prevent either Party from disclosing or using information (other than FC Personal Data) that belongs to such
Party or (i) is already known by the recipient Party without an obligation of confidentiality other than under this Agreement, (ii) is publicly known or
becomes publicly known through no unauthorized act of the recipient Party, (iii) is rightfully received from a third party, (iv) is independently
developed without use of the other Party's confidential information (v) is disclosed without similar restrictions to a third party by the Party owning
the confidential information, or (vi) is disclosed to others in accordance with the terms of prior written authorization of the disclosing Party. If
confidential information is required to be disclosed pursuant to a requirement of a governmental authority, such confidential information may be
disclosed pursuant to such requirement so long as the Party required to disclose the confidential information, to the extent possible, provides the
other Party with timely prior notice of such requirement and coordinates with such other Party in an effort to limit the nature and scope of such
required disclosure. In addition, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, each Party may disclose to taxing authorities and to
such Party’s representatives, outside counsel and advisors, any confidential information that is required to be disclosed in connection with such
Party’s tax filings, reports, claims, audits or litigation without prior notice to, or approval or consent of, the other Party. If confidential information is
required to be disclosed in connection with the conduct of any mediation or arbitration proceeding carried out pursuant to Section 10 of this
Agreement, such confidential information may be disclosed pursuant to and in accordance with the approval and at the direction of the mediator or
arbitrators, as the case may be, conducting such proceeding. In addition, the results of any such mediation or arbitration are confidential and will be
subject to this Exhibit B. Unless otherwise required by applicable law, upon written request of the disclosing Party at the expiration or termination
of this Agreement and all Work Orders for any reason, all documented confidential information (and all copies thereof) of the disclosing Party will
be returned to the disclosing Party or will be destroyed, with written certification thereof being given to the disclosing Party. The provisions of this
Exhibit B will survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement and each Work Order for any reason.

Exhibit C
Representations, Warranties and Additional Covenants

C-1.

Performance. EDS represents and warrants that all EDS Services will be performed in a professional manner by personnel with training and
experience appropriate to the responsibilities they are to perform. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) in all cases where EDS has committed to a
specific service level in an Work Order and where there is a conflict between that service level and a service level obligation under this Section C-1,
the specific service level will apply, and (b) in all cases where EDS has not committed to a specific performance standard for certain of the EDS
Services, EDS will use reasonable care in providing such EDS Services.

C-2.

[RESERVED]

C-3.

Authorization. Each Party represents and warrants to the other that:
(a)

It is duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of formation;

(b)

It has the requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement;

(c)

It has obtained all licenses, authorizations, approvals, consents or permits required to perform its obligations under this Agreement and each
Work Order and to grant access to the other Party to systems and information as provided in this Agreement and each Work Order under all
applicable federal, state, provincial or local laws and under all applicable rules and regulations of all authorities having jurisdiction over the
EDS Services, except where the failure of a Party to so obtain any such item is not material to such Party’s ability to perform its obligations
hereunder.

(d)

The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each Work Order and the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by the requisite corporate action on the part of such Party.

(e)

The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each Work Order will not constitute a violation of any judgment, order or
decree, a material default under any material contract by which it or any of its material assets are bound or an event that would, with notice
or lapse of time, or both, constitute such a default.

C-4.

No Inducements. EDS has not violated any FC policy made available to EDS regarding the offering of inducements in connection with this
Agreement or any Work Order.

C-5.

Viruses. Each Party will use commercially reasonable measures to screen any software provided or made available by it to the other Party hereunder
for the purpose of avoiding the introduction of any “virus” or other computer software routine or hardware components which are designed (i) to
permit access or use by third parties to the software of the other Party not authorized by this Agreement, (ii) to disable or damage hardware or
damage, erase or delay access to software or data of the other Party or (iii) to perform any other similar actions. If a virus is found to have been
introduced into FC’s systems or the systems used to provide the EDS Services as a result of a breach of the foregoing covenant, EDS will use
commercially reasonable efforts, at no additional charge, to reasonably assist FC (within the scope of the EDS Services) (a) in eradicating the virus
and reversing its effects and (b) to the extent the virus causes a loss of data or operational efficiency as a result of a breach of the foregoing covenant,
in mitigating and reversing such losses.

C-6.

Disabling Codes. EDS will not, without informing FC’s representative, knowingly insert into the software used by it hereunder any code or other
device which would have the effect of disabling, damaging, erasing, delaying or otherwise shutting down all or any portion of the EDS Services or
the hardware, software or data used in providing the EDS Services. EDS will not invoke such code or other device at any time, including upon
expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason, without FC’s prior written consent.

C-7.

Use of Software. EDS has sufficient right, title and interest in and to all EDS software provided by EDS and used in connection with the EDS
Services. FC’s sole remedy for breach of this Section C-7 is through the indemnity set forth in Section D-3.

C-8.

Disclaimer. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS EXHIBIT C OR THE AGREEMENT TO WHICH THIS
EXHIBIT C IS ATTACHED, EDS MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, REGARDING ANY
MATTER, INCLUDING THE MERCHANTABILITY, SUITABILITY, ORIGINALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR
PURPOSE, OR RESULTS TO BE DERIVED FROM THE USE, OF ANY SERVICE, SOFTWARE, HARDWARE OR OTHER
MATERIALS PROVIDED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, OR THAT THE OPERATION OF ANY SUCH SERVICE, SOFTWARE,
HARDWARE OR OTHER MATERIALS WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR-FREE.

Exhibit D
Indemnities

D-1.

Claims Relating to Space and Taxes. Subject to Section 13 of this Agreement and the procedures set forth below in Section D-6, EDS and FC each
agrees to indemnify and defend the other Party from any and all claims, actions, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses (collectively, “Losses”), arising out of, under or in connection with (a) any third party claim for rent or utilities at any
location where the indemnitor is financially responsible under this Agreement for such rent or utilities or (b) any third party claim for wages,
benefits, third party fees, taxes, assessments, duties, permits or other charges of any nature for which the indemnitor is responsible under this
Agreement, as well as penalties, interest, fees or other expenses incurred by the indemnitor as a result of such items, including taxes, not being paid
at the time or in the manner required by applicable law.

D-2.

Claims Relating to Personal Injury and Property Damage.
(a) Damage to Property of Parties. EDS and FC each will be responsible for any and all Losses, to their respective tangible personal or real
property (whether owned or leased), and each Party agrees to look only to its own insuring arrangements (if any) with respect to such
Losses.
(b) Personal Injury; Damage to Property of Third Parties. EDS and FC each will be responsible for Losses for the death of or personal injury
to any person (including any employee of either Party) and Losses for damages to any third party’s tangible personal or real property
(whether owned or leased), in accordance with the law of the jurisdiction in which such Loss is alleged to have occurred. Subject to Section
13 of this Agreement and the procedures set forth below in Section D-6, each Party will indemnify and defend the other Party from any and
all Losses arising out of, under or in connection with third party claims for which the indemnitor is responsible under this Section D-2(b).
(c) Waiver of Subrogation. To the extent permitted at no additional cost, EDS and FC waive all rights to recover against each other for any Loss to
their respective tangible personal property (whether owned or leased) from any cause covered by insurance maintained by each of them,
including their respective deductibles or self-insured retentions. EDS and FC will cause their respective insurers to issue appropriate waivers of
subrogation rights endorsements to all property insurance policies maintained by each Party. Each Party will give the other written notice if a
waiver of subrogation is unobtainable or obtainable only at additional expense. If the Party receiving such notice agrees to reimburse the other
Party for such additional expense, the other Party will obtain such waiver of subrogation. If a waiver is unobtainable or if a Party elects not to
pay the additional expense of a waiver, then neither Party nor their insurers will waive such subrogation rights.

D-3. Infringement Claims.

(a) General. Subject to Section 13 of this Agreement, the exclusions and limitations set forth below in this Section D-3 and the procedures set forth
below in Section D-6, EDS and FC each agrees to defend the other Party against any third party action to the extent that such action is based
upon a claim that the software (other than third party software) or confidential information provided by the indemnitor, or any part thereof, (i)
infringes a copyright perfected under United States statute, (ii) infringes a patent granted under United States law or (iii) constitutes an unlawful
disclosure, use or misappropriation of another party's trade secret. The indemnitor will bear the expense of such defense and pay any Losses that
are attributable to such claim finally awarded by a court of competent jurisdiction.

(b) Exclusions. The indemnitor will have no liability to the indemnitee hereunder if (i) the claim of infringement is based upon the use of
software provided by the indemnitor hereunder in connection or in combination with equipment, devices or software not supplied by the
indemnitor or used in a manner for which the software was not designed, (ii) the indemnitee modifies any software provided by the
indemnitor hereunder and such infringement would not have occurred but for such modification, or uses the software in the practice of a
patented process and there would be no infringement in the absence of such practice, or (iii) the claim of infringement arises out of the
indemnitor's compliance with specifications provided by the indemnitee and such infringement would not have occurred but for such
compliance. In addition, EDS will only be liable to FC for claims of infringement arising out of, under or in connection with, gross
negligence by EDS in the provision of help desk services, call center services or automated attendant services involving computer telephony
integration.
(c) Additional Remedy. If software or confidential information becomes the subject of an infringement claim under this Section D-3, or in the
indemnitor’s opinion is likely to become the subject of such a claim, then, in addition to defending the claim and paying any damages and
attorneys’ fees as required above in this Section D-3, the indemnitor may, at its option and in its sole discretion, (A) replace or modify the
software or confidential information to make it noninfringing or cure any claimed misuse of another’s trade secret or (B) procure for the
indemnitee the right to continue using the software or confidential information pursuant to this Agreement. Any costs associated with
implementing either of the above alternatives will be borne by the indemnitor but will be subject to Section 13 of this Agreement. If neither
alternative is pursued by, or (if pursued) available to, the indemnitor, (x) the indemnitee will return such software or confidential information to
the indemnitor and (y) if requested by the indemnitee in good faith, the Parties will negotiate, pursuant to Section 10 of this Agreement but
subject to Section 13 of this Agreement, to reach a written agreement on what, if any, monetary damages (in addition to the indemnitor’s
obligation to defend the claim and pay any damages and attorneys’ fees as required above in this Section D-3) are reasonably owed by the
indemnitor to the indemnitee as a result of the indemnitee no longer having use of such software or confidential information. The payment of
any such monetary damages will be the indemnitee’s sole and exclusive remedy for the inability of the indemnitor to implement either of the
above alternatives.
D-4. Claims Relating to Internet Usage. FC warrants that the publication of any material delivered by or through it under this Agreement or any Work
Order will not violate the copyright laws of the United States or any other jurisdiction, unlawfully infringe or interfere in any way with the literary
property or rights of another or contain libelous or indecent matter. FC will indemnify and defend EDS from any and all Losses, including those
associated with claims for indirect or contributory infringement, arising out of, under or in connection with any third party claims relating to (i)
content, whether of an editorial, advertising or other nature, (ii) the provision, use, alteration or distribution thereof, the accessibility thereto or the
exchange of information over the Internet in connection therewith, including copyright infringement, libel, indecency, false light, misrepresentation,
invasion of privacy or image or personality rights, (iii) statements or other materials made or made available by readers of the content or by persons to
whom the content is linked at the request of FC or (iv) the conduct of FC’s business.
D-5.

Procedures. The indemnification obligations set forth in this Exhibit D will not apply unless the Party claiming indemnification: (a) notifies the
other promptly in writing of any matters in respect of which the indemnity may apply and of which the notifying Party has knowledge, in order to
allow the indemnitor the opportunity to investigate and defend the matter; provided, however, that the failure to so notify will only relieve the
indemnitor of its obligations under this Exhibit D if and to the extent that the indemnitor is prejudiced thereby; and (b) gives the other Party full
opportunity to control the response thereto and the defense thereof, including any agreement relating to the settlement thereof; provided, however,
that the indemnitee will have the right to participate in any legal proceeding to contest and defend a claim for

indemnification involving a third party and to be represented by legal counsel of its choosing, all at the indemnitee’s cost and expense. However, if
the indemnitor fails to promptly assume the defense of the claim, the Party entitled to indemnification may assume the defense at the indemnitor’s
cost and expense. The indemnitor will not be responsible for any settlement or compromise made without its consent, unless the indemnitee has
tendered notice and the indemnitor has then refused to assume and defend the claim and it is later determined that the indemnitor was liable to
assume and defend the claim. The indemnitee agrees to cooperate in good faith with the indemnitor at the request and expense of the indemnitor.
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Exhibit 21

FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
Subsidiaries
Domestic:
Franklin Development Corporation (a Utah corporation)
Franklin Covey Travel, Inc. (a Utah corporation)
Franklin Covey Client Sales, Inc. (a Utah corporation)
Franklin Covey Product Sales, Inc. (a Utah corporation)
International:
Franklin Covey Canada, Ltd. (a Canada corporation)
Franklin Covey Europe, Ltd. (England, Wales)
Franklin Covey Proprietary Limited (Queensland Australia)
Franklin Covey Japan Co. Ltd. (Japan)
Franklin Covey de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. (Mexico)
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Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Franklin Covey Co.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-139048, 333-131485, 333-123602, 333-128131, 333-38172, 333-34498,
333-89541, 033-73624, and 033-51314) on Forms S-3 and S-8 of Franklin Covey Co. of our reports dated November 14, 2008, with respect to the
consolidated balance sheets of Franklin Covey Co. as of August 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive
income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended August 31, 2008, and the related financial statement
schedule, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008, which reports appear in the August 31, 2008 annual report
on Form 10-K of Franklin Covey Co.

KPMG LLP
Salt Lake City, UT
November 14, 2008
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Exhibit 31.1

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

I, Robert A. Whitman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Franklin Covey Co.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 14, 2008
/s/Robert A. Whitman
Robert A. Whitman
President and Chief Executive
Officer

Back to Main Document

Exhibit 31.2

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

I, Stephen D. Young, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Franklin Covey Co.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 14, 2008
/s/Stephen D. Young
Stephen D. Young
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION

In connection with the annual report of Franklin Covey Co. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended August 31, 2008, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), we, Robert A. Whitman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Stephen D. Young, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for purposes of Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code,
that to the best of our knowledge:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company
at the dates and for the periods indicated.
This Certification has not been, and shall not be deemed, “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

/s/Robert A. Whitman
Robert A. Whitman
President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: November 14, 2008
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/s/Stephen D. Young
Stephen D. Young
Chief Financial Officer
Date: November 14, 2008

Exhibit 99.1

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Franklin Covey Co.:
Under date of November 14, 2008, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Franklin Covey Co. and subsidiaries as of August 31, 2008 and 2007,
and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended August 31, 2008, which are included in Franklin Covey Co.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K. In connection with our audits of the
aforementioned consolidated financial statements, we also audited the related consolidated financial statement schedule in the Annual Report on Form 10K. This financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial
statement schedule based on our audits.
In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly,
in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
KPMG LLP
Salt Lake City, UT
November 14, 2008
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Exhibit 99.2

SCHEDULE II

FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
For the Three Years Ended August 31, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Column A

Column B

Column C

Column D

Column E

Description

Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Additions
Charged to
Charged to
Costs and
Other
Expenses
Accounts

Deductions

Balance at
End of Period

Year ended August 31, 2006:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for inventories

$
$

Year ended August 31, 2007:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for inventories

$
$

Year ended August 31, 2008:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for inventories

$
$

(1)

1,425
5,324
6,749

$

979
3,323
4,302

$

821
4,252
5,073

$

$

$

$

365
989
1,354

$

207
2,631
2,838

$

501
1,029
1,530

$

$

$

$

564(3) $
564 $

-

$

-

$

$

$

(1,375)(1)
(2,990)(2)
(4,365)

$

(365)(1)
(1,702)(2)
(2,067)

$

$

979
3,323
4,302

$

821
4,252
5,073

(256)(1)(4) $
(4,202)(2)(5)
(4,458)
$

1,066
1,079
2,145

Represents a write-off of accounts deemed uncollectible
Reduction in the allowance is due to a write-off of obsolete inventories
(3)
Amount was charged against balances recorded in accrued liabilities
(4)
Includes $23 of the allowance for doubtful accounts that was sold with the Consumer Solutions Business Unit assets
(5)
Includes $3,058 of inventory reserves that were sold with the Consumer Solutions Business Unit assets
(2)
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